
SOUTH WALES POLICE AND CRIME PANEL 
MEETING 

 
SUMMONS 
 

10.30 am  
Tuesday, 14th September, 2021 
Council Chamber, Civic Centre 
 

 
Further information regarding this agenda is available from the  

Democratic Services Department at Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council  
Tel: (01685) 725284,   Email: democratic@merthyr.gov.uk 

 
Briefing Session: 

A briefing session will be held for Panel Members before the start of the 
meeting at 10.30am – and prior to the arrival of any invited attendees to the 

meeting 
 

 
 

A G E N D A 
1. Apologies for Absence   

2. Declarations of Interest   

 Members are reminded of their personal 
responsibility to declare any personal and 
prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained 
in this agenda in accordance with the provisions of 
the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 
relating to Council Tax, the Local Government Act 
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members 
Code of Conduct 
 
Note: 
 

(a) Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest and 

 
(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting 

as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave 

 

 



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council is the host local authority for the  
South Wales Police and Crime Panel 

 

3. Minutes of previous meeting of South Wales 
Police and Crime Panel - Tuesday 1 June 2021  

(Pages 3 - 8) 

4. Commissioner Forward Look and Update   

 To consider the attached report 
 

(Pages 9 - 22) 

5. Finance Update   

 To consider the attached report 
 

(Pages 23 - 82) 

6. Annual Report   

 To consider the attached report 
 

(Pages 83 - 138) 

7. Scrutiny Annual Report   

 To consider the attached report 
 

(Pages 139 - 152) 

8. Co-option of Independent Members   

 To consider the attached report 
 

(Pages 153 - 178) 

9. Any other business deemed urgent by the Chair   

  
COMPOSITION: Councillor R Young (Chair) 

 
Councillors: 

 Councillor M Jehu (Vice-Chair) 
 Councillors: B Bowen-Thomson, J Cowan, R Lewis, 

G Thomas, P Rees, C Richards, W Evans, B Gray and 
S Jago 
 
Co-optees: 
Co-optee(s): I Fox 

  
together with appropriate officers 
 



MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

 

MINUTES OF MEETING 
 

SOUTH WALES POLICE AND 
CRIME PANEL MEETING 

 
TUESDAY, 1ST JUNE, 2021 

 

PRESENT:  
 

Councillor R Young (Bridgend CBC) (Chair) 

 Councillors: 
B Bowen-Thomson (Cardiff Council), G Thomas (Rhondda 
Cynon Taf CBC), P Rees (Neath Port Talbot CBC), C Richards 
(City and County of Swansea), W Evans (City and County of 
Swansea) and B Gray (Vale of Glamorgan) 

  
Co-optees: 
I Fox (Independent Co-optee) 
M Jehu (Vice-Chair) 
 
Outside Bodies: 
A Michael, Police and Crime Commissioner 
E Wools, Deputy Police and Crime Commissioner 
L Jones, Chief Executive, South Wales Police 
 
Officers:  
S Jones (Senior Solicitor) 
M Edmunds (Democratic Services Officer) 

  
 

ITEM 
NO. 

AGENDA MATTER DECISION 

66   Briefing Session The Panel discussed the items that were to be considered 
at the meeting.   
 
The Chair agreed that additional matters that were raised 
and discussed would be dealt with under ‘Any Other 
Business’. 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



 
 
 
 
   

67   AGM - Chair & Vice 
Chair 2021 

Resolved that: 
 
Councillor Richard Young be re-appointed as Chair and Mr 
Melvin Jehu be re-appointed as Vice Chair of the South 
Wales Police and Crime Panel. 

68   Apologies for Absence Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Jayne 
Cowan and Councillor Rhys Lewis. 

69   Declarations of Interest Councillor Bernie Bowen-Thompson declared a personal 
interest as Chief Executive for Safer Wales as they receive 
funding from the Commissioner’s Office. 
 
Mel Jehu declared a personal interest as a non-executive 
trustee with Safer Merthyr Tydfil as funding is received from 
the Commissioner’s Office. 

70   Minutes of Previous 
Meeting(s) 

 

70a   Minutes of meeting 
Wednesday, 3 
February 2021 of 
South Wales Police 
and Crime Panel 

A member of the Panel raised concern at the lack of detail 
in minute no. 58 (Precept Budget Report and Medium Term 
Financial Strategy).  In this respect an additional document 
which provides detailed information on this matter and 
which is published on the South Wales Police and Crime 
Panel website page has been added to the Minutes of the 
3rd February 2021.   
 
Item 55 – A member of the Panel enquired regarding 
progress on the request for the Panel to have a list of 
performance measures.  
 
Resolved that: 
 
The Minutes of the Meeting held on 3rd February 2021 be 
accepted as a true record.   
 
The Report on the Proposed Precept 21 – 22 be added as a 
supplement to the 3rd February 2021 Minutes. 

70b   Minutes of meeting 
Tuesday, 27 April 2021 
of South Wales Police 
and Crime Panel 

Resolved that: 
 
The Minutes of the Meeting held on 27th April 2021 be 
accepted as a true record. 

71   Appointment of the 
Deputy Police and 
Crime Commissioner - 
Emma Wools 

The Commissioner invited Emma Wools to speak and 
thanked her for her contribution as Deputy Police and Crime 
Commissioner. 
 
Emma Wools provided a brief background summary of her 
career and experience leading up to her position as Deputy 
Police and Crime Commissioner. 
 
Resolved that: 
 
Emma Wools be re-appointed as the Deputy Police and 
Crime Commissioner. 
 

Page 4



 
 
 
 
   

72   Commissioner's 
current Police and 
Crime Plan 

The Commissioner provided a detailed verbal presentation 
in support of the Police and Crime Plan.  Particular 
emphasis was made on the following matters: 
 

 Equality for all people 

 Volunteering 

 Values, Visions and Ambitions for the next three 
years 

 Six election pledges 

 Election Statement May 2021 

 Neighbourhood Policing and Community Safety 

 Step into Sport 

 Joint work with Local Authorities 

 Police Complaints and Standards 

 Finance 
 
The Chair thanked the Commissioner for the report and 
invited questions from the Panel. 
 
The following questions were raised by Panel and 
answered in detail by the Commissioner:- 
 

 The report mentions the importance of partnerships 
including voluntary, community and third sector, the 
document doesn’t appear to reflect this, and 
focuses more around statutory partnerships. 

 
The Chair suspended the meeting at 12.25 to allow 
members to add additional car parking tickets to their cars. 
 
The Chair resumed the meeting at 12.45 p.m. 
 

 With regard to finance and the effective use of 
finance, what will you do to ensure the financial 
burden doesn’t remain with the taxpayer for future 
precept increases? 
 

 When there is a serious incident, such as at 
Mayhill, what do you think the reasonable 
expectation of this Panel should be to ensure as far 
as possible that this does not happen again and 
what responses should local communities expect?  
 

Resolved that: 
 
The content of the report be noted. 
 
 
 
 

73   Covid 19 response Resolved that: 
 
The content of the report be noted and questions be 
gathered and provided to the Commissioner’s Office.  The 
Commissioner’s Office to prepare a Paper answering these 
questions together with a detailed description of the 
experiences during the pandemic for the next Panel 

Page 5



 
 
 
 
   

Meeting.  

74   Work Programme 
2021-22 

Following discussion with the Panel it was: 
 
Resolved that: 
 
The following scheduled meeting dates (as listed below) be 
agreed with an amended start to the meeting time being 
10.00 a.m. 
 
1st June 2021 
14th September 2021 
7th December 2021 
27th January 2022 
26th April 2022 
8th June 2022 (AGM) 

75   Any other business 
deemed urgent by the 
Chair 

M Jehu left the meeting at 1.08 p.m. 
 
The Chair raised the following matters under Any Other 
Business: 
 
Mayhill Incident 
 
The following comments/questions were raised and 
answered in detail by the Commissioner: 
 

 Community spirit/good deeds done by the people of 
Swansea  

 Clarity sought on the ‘whys and whereofs’ of what 
went on, what changes to priorities you may have, 
and ideas of prevention.  

 Flavour of the report - How you work with 
operational police for future incidents. 

 Regaining public confidence. 

 Publish Terms of Reference for the Inquiry and to 
advise the public that a response is coming. 

 Where are we with the Inquiry to be held, do we 
have a date? 

 Deprived and high crime area - were there any 
advance warnings? 

 
Mr Jenkins, Cardiff 
 
Simon Jones detailed a letter received from Mr Jenkins 
raising questions and complaints and in particular one 
question that he feels was unanswered at a previous 
meeting on 8th December 2021 (Do you feel that the 
expense of this case was money well spent?). 
 
The Commissioner and L Jones provided an updated 
response to this question advising that matters have to be 
dealt with without fear or favour when dealing with what are 
often very vigorous legal challenges. 
 
S Jones to provide a written response to Mr Jenkins. 
 
Quality of Risk Assessments/MAPPA (Multi Agency Public 

Page 6



 
 
 
 
   

Protection Arrangements) 
 
Following the Khan  Review/Inquiry on London Bridge and 
the implications for the MAPPA processes, in terms of 
learning, what, if anything should we be asking our local 
MAPPA meetings?  Could you instigate with your 
colleagues in other agencies an earlier than we usually 
expect from the MOJ, learning, changing procedures or 
updating current auditing arrangements? 
 
The Chair thanked everyone for attending and closed the 
meeting. 

 
 

 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 8



Page | 1 
 

Report to the Police & Crime Panel by the Police & Crime 
Commissioner for South Wales, Rt Hon Alun Michael 

South Wales Police: Looking to the future 
The importance of Neighbourhood Policing, Community Safety and 

the role of the PCSO in post-Pandemic South Wales 

The last two years have been difficult and unsettling for all public services and I know from 
many people - Councillors in particular - that they have worries about local crime and 
antisocial behaviour.  In recent weeks I have heard these concerns from a variety of 
communities in our towns and cities across South Wales, often with pleas for the issues to be 
sorted out by the police.  These are reasonable concerns and the world as we emerge from 
the COVID-19 pandemic is certainly full of challenges, but it’s vitally important to fully 
understand the nature of the problems we face to take the right actions.   

First the impact of the epidemic should not be underestimated.  Many lives have been lost, 
families have been torn apart, people’s hopes and aspirations have been disrupted and the 
progress through their years in education have been disrupted for children and young people. 
For many, the impact will continue to be felt for many years. 

Second the impact has been massively disruptive for businesses and for our public services. 
While the biggest direct impact has been on the NHS and on Care Sectors, every Council and 
every Agency has had to do things differently. In many cases demand has increased or 
responding to public demand has become ever more difficult. And little has completely 
“returned to normal” or will do so completely any time soon. 

At the start of the first Lockdown behavioural scientists warned us that imposing strict 
regulations for an extended period of time – basically that you can do so for a couple of 
months at most if the public are behind you and accept the need for the restrictions.  After 
that it would become more and more difficult, and compliance could not be achieved by 
enforcement alone. 

That’s why there has been unanimity within Policing in Wales about the need to take people 
with us.  Compliance with the COVID-19 regulations has not been won by enforcement alone 
but through the restrained and largely consistent application of the “Four Es” – the four-step 
escalation principles ………………… 

 Engage with people, with patience and good humour 

 Explain why the regulations are so necessary 

 Encourage people to stick within them and 

 Enforce when it’s necessary, without fear or favour 

An impatient person might rush through to the fourth stage quite rapidly – and of course 
there are circumstances in which that must be what happens – but I am amazed and full of 
admiration for the successful way our Police Officers and PCSOs have helped our communities 
to stick together. 

To me it seems completely unsurprising that there are problems of behaviour, that people 
are looking for an outlet for pent-up energy, that some are seduced by the unscientific 
nonsense from anti-vaxxers and that it seems attractive to “break free” for a bit of fun on a 

Page 9

Agenda Item 4



Page | 2 
 

beach or in an illegal rave or that drink or drugs can fuel anger and conflict which sometimes 
boil over into localised behaviour that is completely unacceptable.  Indeed, when you are on 
the receiving end of such behaviour it is literally unacceptable, and a speedy and effective 
police response is crucial – but it’s also important to get the balance right and to remember 
Robert Peel’s two main principles………………. 

 The first responsibility of the Police is to prevent crime (success is demonstrated by 
the absence of crime and harm, not the presence of activity) 

 The Police are the Public and the Public are the Police (the police cannot succeed as 
an outside “occupying force” and must be a part of the community they police. 

There were occasions during the last 18 months when some people wanted a crackdown by 
the Police.  But while that was sometimes needed, there was always a careful judgement to 
be made about when to enforce and when to cut people some slack, how to balance the 
different principles that the police must always bear in mind even in these difficult and 
challenging times. 

I will give two examples:   

 We knew that the Easter Weekend would be challenging as fine weather came with a 
step towards relaxation of the rules. On Good Friday the steps of the Senedd were 
ram-packed with people who had clearly made it their destination for the day.  It was 
odd, because as I saw for myself the behaviour around 90% of Cardiff Bay was of 
people showing respect for each other, obeying the distancing rules and being 
pleasant and good humoured.  I was asked why the police had not dived in to enforce 
the regulations physically and it was a matter of judgement. That judgement was 
supported by a senior Council Officer who commented that there had been 
challenging behaviour in many other cities at the same time but while some ended up 
in running fights through the parks, with police and members of the public ending up 
in hospital, in Cardiff nobody got seriously hurt and people went home peacefully.  It 
made me proud of our police”, he said. 

 Black Lives Matters brought inevitable tension between two key principles: First the 
need to have the COVID-19 rules obeyed to save lives and protect the NHS and second 
the need to protect the democratic right to peaceful protest.  A strict application of 
the rules would have led to enforcement to prevent the protest but careful 
observation by the organisers of the principles of distancing, mature discussion and 
restraint by the Police allowed the demonstrations to take place while keeping risk to 
a minimum.  Some people were outraged that “the police allowed the rules to be 
broken” whereas that careful nuanced approach allowed an important message of 
both local significance and of international solidarity to be heard and understood.  

In general, there have been positive aspects to the way we have responded to the Pandemic 
in Wales – our sense of community and the way that Welsh Government Ministers have 
worked with local government and the police to cope with extraordinary times as well as the 
exemplary commitment of our heroes in the NHS and care services.  Those are the 
foundations on which we now need to build for our post-Pandemic future.  

Following the elections in May, when I was given a new mandate as your Police and Crime 
Commissioner, I have again put Neighbourhood Policing, Community Safety and local 
partnership working at the heart of my mission. These three elements are based on values 

Page 10



Page | 3 
 

and principles and I’m pleased to say that we are pursuing values that I and the Chief 
Constable share.  They are also at the heart of the Chief Constable’s mission and the approach 
of officers and staff across South Wales.  So, at a meeting of my Strategic Board last Thursday, 
we explored in detail what that means in changed times and will be reporting at the next 
Panel meeting on the developments that flowed from that in-depth review.    

It isn’t simple. 

We all feared that this summer would be challenging, and it has been.  

 Communities are at last emerging from the restrictions - but while some things are 
starting to revert to normal, the virus is still causing illness, some deaths and continued 
disruption,  

 Many people are nervous of public places.  

 People have been prevented from travelling abroad on holiday and are frustrated 
about their lives not being completely restored to how things were before Lockdown.  

The result is demand on South Wales Police that has been even greater than normal.  

 July saw the highest-ever monthly total of 999 calls, at 24,265 for South Wales  

 that’s 25% higher than in the same month in 2018  

 as well as more than 42,000 non-emergency calls,  

 that’s an average of a further 57 calls an hour.   

Our resources are not unlimited, but an enormous amount of work is going into ways of 
coping with that demand and into giving people the response they need especially in an 
emergency whether it’s the result of crime and violence on our streets or domestic violence 
and abuse or the myriad other causes of calls to 999.   

Prompt response to 999 has been maintained but the pressure on the non-emergency 101 
service has been enormous and I know from many local councillors that when there are 
unpredictable peaks in demand the delay in response can cause frustration for them and for 
their constituents. That’s why I want to stress that great efforts are being made to strengthen 
the team to cope with the unprecedented demand and to ask that those who can use 
alternative ways of contacting the police to do so, protecting the 101 service for those for 
whom it is the only option.  We will report on progress at the Panel’s next meeting. 

I am working through the task of writing to every Councillor in South Wales asking them to 
help us tell people about the alternatives that are open to them………… 

 Follow this link:   Contact us | South Wales Police (south-wales.police.uk) 

 Provide information: https://bit.ly/SWPProvideInfo 

 Send a private message on Facebook/Twitter to @SWPolice or the link for your own 
local authority area such as @SWPNeathPTalbot   

 Send an email to: SWP101@south-wales.police.uk 

 Also, when a spike in calls to 101 causes a delay, a message can be left enabling staff 
to call back when things quieten down.   

I know it’s frustrating if you are the person waiting on the line, but I stress that it’s not a failure 
to answer the phone.  Every time I have investigated a delay mentioned to me by a Councillor 
it turns out they had the bad luck to phone when something had just happened – like a major 

Page 11

https://www.south-wales.police.uk/contact/af/contact-us/
https://bit.ly/SWPProvideInfo?fbclid=IwAR0Ecofp05WubRPUAho9xlRg4TF9-pLZA1yszPhiy1cV5U3ywtPL1OZM5EU
mailto:SWP101@south-wales.police.uk


Page | 4 
 

incident on the M4 leading to a flood of calls – so I am asking people to please bear with our 
hard-pressed staff and to “stick with us”.   

Let’s hope there will soon be a reduction in calls that arise from relaxation of the Covid-19 
restrictions and the wider social impacts of the pandemic – but only a fool would guarantee 
that it will happen quickly. 

It’s true and easy to say that 999 should only be used in a real emergency – to ensure that 
phone lines are free for those who do need immediate help – but it’s also worth reminding 
ourselves that 101 was never meant to be a police service and 80% plus of non-emergency 
calls are not about crime.  With limited resources (Whitehall has cut the Police Grant by over 
a third in recent years) great efforts are nevertheless being made in South Wales to give 
people the response they need.  

As well as a fast response to emergencies and to their other calls I know that people want to 
see a local police presence on their streets and action to nip things in the bud as problems 
start to emerge locally. Again, the pandemic has forced the Police to divert resources into 
coping with the emergency and as we head into the Autumn it will be important to renew the 
joint work of Police and Councils on Community Safety and tackling antisocial behaviour.  

I don’t have a magic wand for dealing with these issues, but together we can make a real 
difference and our PCSOs have a central role in enabling that to happen.   

It’s important to note that the role of the PCSO is about three things: 

 It is about communicating - listening to local people and providing information to the 
community.  

 It is about local problem-solving.    

 And it’s about enabling the community to work together to tackle local issues. 

PCSOs strive to make our communities safer and stronger by the part they play, and their 
visible presence helps to inspire confidence. Because of their local engagement they often 
pick up information that hasn’t reached official channels and can pick up bad things that are 
happening in our communities – including exploitation and violence – to enable early 
intervention to tackle the problem.  The head of the National Crime Agency regularly stresses 
that the role of the PCSO is relevant to her task of tackling violent and organised crime as well 
as to lower-level crime and antisocial behaviour. That’s why we have worked hard to protect 
neighbourhood policing, despite the impact of austerity and deep cuts in the national police 
budget. 

Right at the start of the COVID-19 Pandemic we agreed to deploy PCSOs in ways that were 
unusual, such as explaining and promoting the Welsh Government’s Health Protection 
Regulations and joint enforcement work with local council teams.  Our PCSOs have been 
instrumental in working with the public, playing their part in our national effort to save lives 
and protect the most vulnerable people in our communities.  

That’s been disruptive to some of the normal activities of PCSOs – and as we emerge from 
the health emergency some intense work is going on to refresh the local police presence in 
every community.  It will take a little time – it simply cannot be done overnight. 

That is why I am absolutely delighted that Welsh Government Ministers have moved quickly 
to implement their manifesto commitment to provide 100 additional PCSOs across Wales, in 

Page 12



Page | 5 
 

addition to the 500 they already fund.  Their financial commitment will enable us to press 
ahead with the additional recruitment and to restore and enhance this important frontline 
resource in each of our communities at the same time as tackling the competing demands of 
tackling violent crime, drugs-related exploitation, domestic violence and abuse and internet-
enabled crime.  I have already explained how demand has been at extraordinarily high levels 
this summer – perhaps something that was inevitable as we emerge from the Pandemic – but 
just as in Wales we worked together to combat COVID-19 we will now work together to 
protect vulnerable people from the threats and harm that are faced by every community. 

I sent every Councillor personally the link to my Police & Crime Plan when it was published as 
a refreshed document in January, and I have re-circulated it now as a reminder. 

2021 - 2025 Police 

& Crime Plan.pdf
 

The Values and Principles set out in the Plan remain valid and despite the Pandemic we have 
made significant progress – for example I have invested in the DRIVE programme which 
tackles the perpetrators of the worst domestic violence and abuse and rolled that out now to 
all seven local authority areas.  We are working hard on all the hopes and aspirations that are 
set out in the Plan and they are reflected in the Chief Constable’s Delivery Plan on which an 
enormous amount of detailed work has been put in during the Pandemic. 

There are no simple answers or easy solutions, but I can assure the Panel of the personal 
commitment of the Chief Constable, Jeremy Vaughan, and of police officers and staff at every 
level to work with our local Councillors and with our communities to prevent harm and keep 
our communities safe. I am telling Councillors not to be surprised to be contacted by local 
PCSOs if they don’t already have regular contact with them – the only way to build safe, 
confident communities as we emerge from all the trouble and uncertainty of COVID-19 is to 
do so together through honest discussion and local problem solving. 

Central to the mission of South Wales Police is Neighbourhood Policing which is linked to the 
work of Community Safety which is a joint endeavour for the Local Police and the Local 
Council. Efforts are being made to refresh this work in every community across Wales, and in 
South Wales we will be discussing ways to do more together when we meet each Council 
Leader and Chief Executive in the next few weeks. 

I’m always open to hearing about local problems because “local is at the heart of everything” 
but it is important to distinguish between specific local issues and the complex “wicked 
issues” that face every community through the impact of drivers of harm including Mental 
Health issues, Domestic Violence and Abuse, Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs), and 
alcohol abuse as well as the deliberate impact of those who profit from Modern Slavery and 
other forms of exploitation.   The only way we can properly serve each local community across 
the seven local authority areas and the 1.3million people that make up South Wales is to do 
it together and do it locally.  Our commitment is to continue doing more with less and to work 
with you in the service of your constituents. 

The strapline on the front of the Police and Crime Plan - “Everything is Connected to 
Everything Else” – is intended to act as a reminder that working in a silo can lead to 
unintended consequences and social damage. But few elements in our work are so 

Page 13



Page | 6 
 

interconnected as the practical policing work of Neighbourhood Policing and the evidence-
based teamwork that is meant to drive Community Safety.   

As we emerge from the full force of the COVID-19 Pandemic, the value of Partnership has 
been reinforced as never before.   

But it’s worth reflecting on why Community Safety was a driving force in the early years of 
this Century but became a pale and ineffective shadow in the past ten years – something that 
has been recognised by the Auditor General and by Welsh Government and by our colleagues 
in Local Government in Wales as well as by Policing in Wales. 

As envisaged in the 1998 Crime & Disorder Act, the purpose is for the Council and Police locally 
to jointly……….  

 analyse local harm and demand,  

 design action to tackle local issues,  

 track the annual progress in doing so,  

 and return to a fresh “baseline audit” after three years.   

The joint leadership of Police and Council – involving other agencies, the voluntary sector and 
the community - is a central principle of the Community Safety Partnership.  

It worked for a decade – but the progress didn’t last. 

 First, as the impact of Austerity built up, both Local Government and Policing lost the 
resources for analysing local issues.  So far, we have failed in efforts to rebuild the 
evidence base consistently. 

 Second, partnership resources were lost as councillors, council staff and police locally 
faced massive challenges and resources were stripped out in efforts to focus on core 
responsibilities. 

 And third, many strands of activity have appeared to be driven by opinion rather than 
analysis and it must be said that the unusual circumstances of the Pandemic have 
made it even more difficult for everyone concerned. 

But the other side of a problem is an opportunity. Now, several factors come together as 
we emerge from the Summer to give us a massive opportunity. 

Why worry about what went wrong in the past decade?   

Because “a nation that fails to learn from its mistakes will be condemned to repeat its failures” 
whereas our determination is to build on the significant successes of South Wales Police. 

Neighbourhood Policing – abandoned in some parts of the country – remains central to the 
Service in South Wales.  Enhancing its effectiveness has been a priority for the Chief Constable 
in recent years, aided by the 200+ PCSOs provided by Welsh Government on top of the 200 
already employed from Police funds and soon to be joined by a further 41. 

It’s not unrelated to the ambition for South Wales Police to be the best in every aspect of our 
work – but linking with partners and supporting each other’s work is the best way to maximise 
our impact and minimise harm locally. 

 

 

Page 14



Page | 7 
 

So, we look to make our approach to Neighbourhood Policing and Community Safety the most 
effective that it possibly can be, bearing in mind …………………………… 

 That there is an edginess and an unsettled feeling amongst the public generally and it 
is difficult to know how some of this will play out especially in terms of Anti-Social 
Behaviour, crime and harm in our communities. The impact on young people is 
particularly difficult to predict or quantify. 

 That high demand is causing real problems for the non-emergency 101 Service – and 
despite continuing high performance by our Public Service Centre there has been a 
significant loss of public confidence which has been compounded by loss of “normal” 
local contact patterns during COVID-19. 

 That our efforts in promoting Community Safety and in continuing to develop the 
highest possible quality of Neighbourhood Policing are central to our role. 

 That, at the same time, there are opportunities to do things differently and to do 
them better.  

 The experience of Joint Enforcement Teams during the Pandemic has demonstrated 
the enormous potential when the Police and Local Authority work together – engaging 
other Agencies and the Community - instead of working in separate silos. It’s involved 
different responses to different circumstances in different places, but common 
themes have emerged along with the chance to share experiences and to identify 
“what works”.  

 That’s what Community Safety is meant to be all about. 

 That efforts to refresh Community Safety in recent years (after it was undermined by 
the years of Austerity) have culminated in the creation of the Wales Safer 
Communities Network, led by the Safer Communities Board under the joint leadership 
of Policing in Wales and the Welsh Local Government Association (WLGA), with the 
support of Welsh Government. This work is coming together just when it is needed. 

 That last month the Board – which I Chair along with a Local Government Leader – 
was given reports from a survey of both local government officers and police officers 
involved with Community Safety and the common sense of purpose, the will to work 
together and welcome for the Network was all very encouraging. 

 That the additional 100 PCSOs (41 in South Wales) and our initiative in creating the 
Violence Prevention Unit for Wales are relevant too and the challenge is to join up 
these different initiatives and to make a difference when it really counts, at the local 
neighbourhood level across South Wales. 

That is why as the Commissioner and Chief Constable we have agreed to focus on Community 
Safety and Neighbourhood Policing as the twin elements that go to the heart of the 
Commissioner’s Police and Crime Plan and the Chief Constable’s Delivery Plan 

Working together is partly about learning from the success of joint working during the 
Pandemic, but it is also about going back to the core principles of Community Safety.  I am 
very proud of having introduced Community Safety Partnerships in the 1998 Crime and 
Disorder Act and even more proud to be putting the principles into practice with our Locxan 
Government partners in particular. 

Finally, the other elements set out in the Police & Crime Plan are being pursued too and let 
me give one example.  

Page 15



Page | 8 
 

Ever since I took on this role we have been trying to put the interests of the Victim at the 
heart of what we do. Each agency – Court Service, CPS, Probation, Police – has tried to deliver 
its service with the interests and experience of the victims and survivors at the centre and 
there have certainly been successes, but it’s been left to the Victim to make sense of it all and 
to join up the dots.  I’m excited by the way members of my team turned that on its head, they 
listened to victims and survivors who said they didn’t want a formal Board they wanted a 
more relational approach through creating a network. We are setting out to listen collectively 
across different agencies and to challenge our won agency approach. The report – endorsed 
last week by both my Strategic Board and by the South Wales Criminal Justice and IOM Board 
– is attached and I hope the Panel will share my excitement. 

I hope this report gives some sense of what we are doing, how we are emerging from the 
Pandemic and our ambitions for the future across South Wales. 

Alun Michael,  
September 2021 

 

Annexes 

 Reports on Demand Levels by BBC and ITV 

 Announcement of the money for 100 additional PCSOs 

 Proposals for a Victims and Survivors Network (attached as separate document) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 16



Page | 9 
 

 
Two Welsh police forces get more 999 calls in a month 
than ever before 

    BBC Wales Report  
Police say they are dealing with "unprecedented" 999 calls, with two Welsh forces recording 
record monthly numbers in July. 
Almost 25,000 emergency calls were received by South Wales Police last month - more than 
the force has had ever had in a single month.  The total of 24,265 calls is equivalent to nearly 
783 a day, almost 33 an hour, or more than one every two minutes. 
Dyfed-Powys Police said emergency calls had also hit record levels in July. 
The forces are now urging people only to dial 999 in an emergency, to keep lines free for 
people in immediate need.  Gwent Police also said it had recently had an increase in calls. 
"Our public service centre also received more than 42,059 non-emergency calls during July, 
an average of a further 57 calls an hour," South Wales Police said. 
The force said it was contacted about 18,500 times though Facebook, Twitter or its website 
in July. 
Dyfed-Powys Police said it was experiencing an "unprecedented increase" in 999 and 101 
calls. 

 

Huge 999 call spike as Wales reopens with some 'struggling' with life after 
lockdown  Monday 16 August 2021     

        ITV Wales 

Call handlers are dealing with a huge spike in emergency calls, with many "experiencing challenges" 
adapting to life after lockdown, a police boss has said. South Wales Police said there has also been a 
demand from people needing the 999 service, with a "significant increase" during evenings following 
the reopening of the night-time economy. The force said it has now had to reallocate resources to 
support its emergency control room in Bridgend and prioritise the most life-threatening incidents. 
"I think we’re seeing some of the outcomes of the pandemic in terms of some of the social challenges 
people are experiencing as we come out of it", Chief Inspector Chris Truscott told ITV News.  "We’re 
seeing a wide variety of calls now and our demand profile looks significantly different to what it did 
before the pandemic. 
"We think that’s for a number of reasons - the night-time economy reopening and people being able 
to do lots of things that they weren’t able to do over the last 18 months." 
 
"Normally when the children go back to school in the first week of September, we'd expect the 
demand to settle down and that's what we're hoping will happen. But now it certainly seems to be a 
consistent picture of increased demand, week on week", he added. 

Page 17



Page | 10 
 

       
Donna, a call handler who has worked at the centre for nine years said, "I don't know whether people 
are feeling the effect of being let free so do we have peaks of a lot of calls in the evenings. "Sometimes 
you feel as if you're not having much of a break from the phone calls because there's a lot coming in, 
so you feel obliged to keep making sure that we're getting those calls through", she added. 
. 
We do get a lot of calls to the 999 service if they're not able to get through on 101, but our job is to 
risk assess those calls and then we can hopefully refer them to the appropriate service. The force said 
it wants to make the message clear that people should only call 999 if it is necessary. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 18



Page | 11 
 

100 new PCSOs funded by the Welsh Government  
 

The Welsh Government has announced additional funding to provide a 100 
Police Community Support Officers to tackle crime and support communities. 

 
The First Minister Mark Drakeford and the Minister for Social Justice Jane Hutt have 
announced an extra £3.7m for additional PCSOs across Wales, bringing the total 
budget to over £22m. 
 
The additional 100 PCSOs brings the total funded by the Welsh Government to 600.  
 
The funding shows the importance the Welsh Government places on the values of 
community, equality and social justice. This will be another step forward to ensure 
strong and safe communities with resources in place to cut crime. 

 
Highlighting the important role PCSOs play, First Minister Mark Drakeford said: 

 
“PCSOs have provided a vital link between neighbourhoods and police 
services and are recognised for their willingness to become part of their 
communities.  
 
“They have played a critical role in responding to the pandemic and I want to 
pay tribute to their unwavering commitment.  
 
“The PCSOs have continued to step up, providing support and developing 
innovative ways to keep their communities safe.” 
 

Police Community Support Officers work with police officers and share some, but not 
all their powers. They provide an important link between their communities and the 
police service to ensure people have the support they need 

Some of the things PCSOs support frontline policing with are stopping speeding 
outside our schools, reporting vandalism or reducing anti-social behaviour. 
 
Minister for Social Justice Jane Hutt said: 
 

“Communities right across Wales have appreciated the vitally important 
difference that PCSOs make to their neighbourhoods. It’s clear to see that 
they’ve fast become part of their communities and have ensured that when 
there is a problem, individuals know their local PCSOs have their best 
interests at heart.  
 
Their work to identify and understand local issues has enabled a focus on 
early intervention, ensuring that local support services can link up and deliver 
for our communities.  
 
I’m delighted that we’re hitting the ground running on delivering our pledge to 
recruit 100 more PCSO’s in Wales today, demonstrating our commitment to 
keeping our communities and neighbourhoods in Wales safe.” 

 

Page 19



Page | 12 
 

 
 
South Wales Police and Crime Commissioner Alun Michael said:  
 

“PCSOs strive to make our communities safer and stronger by the part the 
play and their visible presence helps to inspire confidence. That is why I am 
absolutely delighted that Welsh Government ministers have moved so quickly 
to implement their manifesto commitment to 100 additional PCSOs across 
Wales, in addition to the 500 they already fund.   
 
Their financial commitment enables the four Welsh forces to press ahead with 
the additional recruitment and to restore and enhance this important frontline 
resource in each of our communities at the same time as tackling the 
competing demands of tackling violent crime, drugs-related exploitation, 
domestic violence and abuse and internet-enabled crime.   
 
Just as in Wales we worked together to combat Covid-19 we will now work 
together to protect vulnerable people from the threats and harm that are faced 
by every community.” 

 

Page 20



OFFICIAL SWYDDOGOL 

 

OFFICIAL SWYDDOGOL 

 

  
  

Name of Meeting / Policy 
/ Document Reviewed: 

Proposed South Wales Victim and Survivor Collaborative Network 

 

Request to the South Wales Criminal Justice and IOM Board: 
Representatives on the South Wales IOM Criminal Justice Board are asked to: 
 

1. Agree and adopt the approach and principles proposed in this paper for a Victim Survivor Network and comment 
on the detail. 

2. Nominate a designated representative from each agency to support the implementation of the Victim and 
Survivor Network.  

 
Overview and Proposal: 
The Criminal Justice process is often complex to navigate and is likely to have profound and far-reaching impacts on 
the victim, witnesses and their families. To remedy these complexities and deal with any inconsistencies presented 
within the Criminal Justice process, victims and survivors of crime must be empowered to share their experiences, 
which should subsequently be considered of fundamental importance when implementing improvements to the 
Criminal Justice System, both at a strategic and operational level. 
 
The South Wales Criminal Justice and IOM Board continues to drive the coordinated improvements to the Criminal 
Justice System. The South Wales Police and Crime Commissioner’s Team proposes that victim and survivor 
experiences and feedback should be put at the heart of ongoing efforts to drive these improvements. Following 
consultation with local victims and survivors across South Wales, this proposal is designed to enable victim and 
survivors to share their experiences of the Criminal Justice System through a South Wales Victim and Collaborative 
Survivor Network which will be facilitated through the Police and Crime Commissioner’s Victims and Vulnerability 
team. Through this network agencies will be afforded the opportunity to directly feed back to victims and survivors 
on improvements and respond to the issues identified. 
 
Proposal for a Victim and Survivor Collaborative Network; 
 
The South Wales Victim and Survivor Network will develop and establish a victim and survivor engagement 
monitoring framework, which will capture a coordinated set of recommendations for criminal justice agencies, third 
sector support services.  It will engage with devolved services as well as non-devolved agencies. Through this 
framework we will monitor the impacts of survivor feedback on the improvements of all aspects of policy, practice 
and service delivery on a local, regional and Welsh footprint. 
 
This network will ne open to representatives from local Violence against Women, Domestic Violence & Abuse and 
Sexual Violence (VAWDASV) victim and survivor groups across the South Wales Police footprint. The network will 
also have two underpinning principles. 
First, we will work with local partners within South Wales through existing formal structures and on existing 
footprints within South Wales.  The South Wales Police BCUs (Basic Command Units) now use the same boundaries 
as the Probation Service, the University Health Boards and some other public service structures and cover two or 
three local authority areas.  Key local structures include Public Service Boards (PSBs), Community Safety Partnerships 
(CSPs) and Councils as we seek to understand how victim and survivor voices are listened to in practice across 
shared regional footprints. In the past agencies have made separate arrangements for providing a service to victims, 
with the victim sometimes left to make sense of three or four different agency arrangements.  The Vulnerability and 
Victims team will facilitate conversations between victims and survivors and relevant agencies to ensure victim and 

Page 21



OFFICIAL SWYDDOGOL 
OFFICIAL SWYDDOGOL 

 

 

OFFICIAL SWYDDOGOL 

2021 08 25 South Wales Victim and Survivor Collaborative Network HEP 

survivor feedback reaches each agency and is also considered as part of inter-agency operational and strategic 
improvements. We will also seek to identify best practice with a view of remodelling across shared regional 
footprints where applicable. We will work to create consistency in relation to the way victims and survivors are 
heard, so that we have a shared approach to imeeting the needs of victims and survivors in policy and practice. 
 

• Second, the network will provide the opportunity to build upon the current monitoring and compliance 
arrangements through the South Wales Victim Code of Practice. It will seek to use the views and experiences 
of victims and survivors to enhance existing arrangements and to support joint work with both criminal 
justice and devolved partners. This approach will assist agencies to better understand and seek positive 
solutions to improve the experiences of victims and survivors.  

 
The Commissioner’s Vulnerability and Victim team is seeking to facilitate the network which we hope will provide 
local victim and survivor perspectives to current issues, future commissioning opportunities and the development of 
new co-produced victim services. 
 
Work to date has identified that more needs to be done to better support those with protected characteristics as 

well as children and young people. The network will support a set of sub-groups, which will provide an opportunity 

for feedback and peer-to-peer support to; for example for male victims, black and ethnic minority victims children 

and young people, and the LBGT+ community as well as maintaining our long-standing commitment to women and 

girls. 

Request to the South Wales Criminal Justice and IOM Criminal Justice Board: 
Colleagues representing their agency on the South Wales Criminal Justice and IOM Board are asked to: 
 

• Agree to be involved in the Network and to endorse the principles proposed in this paper and contribute to 
developing the detail and practice of the proposed Victim and Survivor Network. 

• Nominate a representative to support the implementation of the Victim and Survivor Network.  
 

Hannah Evans Price  
Policy and Project Support Officer  
25th of August  
 

 
 

 
 

Page 22



  

 

 

  

1 

 

 

REPORT OF THE POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER 

SOUTH WALES POLICE 

TITLE:  Finance Update 

DATE:  14th September 2021 

PURPOSE: For Noting 
 

1. RECOMMENDATION 

That the Police and Crime Panel notes the following salient issues: 

 The annual statutory accounting & audit compliance requirements for 

2020/21, including: 

 Audit Wales Confirmation 

 Annual Governance Statement 

 Annual Report of the Joint Audit Committee 

 Current (2021/22 in-year) Financial issues, including: 

 In-Year monitoring 

 Additional PCSOs 

 Police Uplift Programme 

 Apprenticeship Levy 

 Response to Covid-19 

 Council Tax Receipts 

 Pensions 

 Comprehensive Spending Review 2021 

 Police Funding Formula 

 Capital City Funding 

2. INTRODUCTION & BACKGROUND 

The Police & Crime Panel receives regular updates on financial matters. 

This report explains the outcome of the 2020/21 accounts process, including 

Audit Wales’ confirmation letter. 

Also, pertinent issues relating to the current (2021/22) year are explained. 

Leading on, the Comprehensive Spending Review is due later in the year, 

and so this report explains the work currently being undertaken to articulate 

to the Home Office the efficiencies SWP are pursuing, plus future cost 

estimates, particularly salary increases, pertinent as the three Uplift cohorts 

will have been recruited by 2023. 

The report also explains that the Police Funding Formula may at last be 

reviewed, and reference is also made to the Capita City funding issue. 

3. NEXT STEPS 

 

Page 23

Agenda Item 5



  

 

 

  

2 

 

 

An in-year financial monitoring report will be submitted to the next meeting of 

the Panel in December 2021, along with a forecast ouuturn for the year. 

 

Also, a presentation will be made on the demands and cost pressures faced 

by South Wales Police. 

 

4. FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS 

The financial implications are fully articulated within the attached report. 

 

5. EQUALITIES  AND HUMAN RIGHTS CONSIDERATIONS 

This proposal has been considered against the general duty to promote 

equality, as stipulated under the Strategic Equality Plan and has been 

assessed not to discriminate against any particular group.  

 

In preparing this report, consideration has been given to the requirements of 

the Articles contained in the European Convention on Human Rights and the 

Human Rights Act 1998. 

6. RISKS 

Various financial risk scenarios are regularly reported to the Joint Audt 

Committee, whose Annual Report for 2020/21 is appended to the main report.  

7. PUBLIC INTEREST 

This report will be placed on the website of both the Commissioner and the 

Police and Crime Panel. 

 

8. CONTACT OFFICER 

Peter Curran, Chief Finance Officer to the Police and Crime Commissioner for 

South Wales. 

9. ANNEXES 

Audit Wales Completion Letter 

Annual Governance Statement 2020/21 

Annual Report of the Joint Audit Committee for 2020/21 

 

Page 24



 

 

Page 1 of 1 - Audit of Accounts 2020-21  
Notice of Certification of Completion of the Audit - please contact us in Welsh or 
English / cysylltwch â ni’n Gymraeg neu’n Saesneg. 

 

Mr Alun Michael 
Police and Crime Commissioner for 
South Wales  
South Wales Police Headquarters 
Cowbridge Road 
Bridgend 
CF31 3SU 

 
Reference: SWPPCC2020-21 

Date issued: 30 July 2021 

Dear Alun 

Audit of Accounts 2020-21  

Notice of Certification of Completion of the Audit 

I am pleased to be able to advise you that the audit of your accounts for the year 
ended 31 March 2021 has been completed. I have not had to issue a report in the 
public interest under Section 22 of the Public Audit (Wales) Act 2004. 
 
May I draw your attention to: 
 

• Regulation 13 of the Accounts and Audit (Wales) Regulations 2014, which 
requires the Authority to display on its website and in at least one 
conspicuous place in its area a notice that the audit has been concluded 
and that the statement of accounts is available for inspection by local 
government electors; and 

• Regulation 27 of the Accounts and Audit (Wales) Regulations 2014, which 
require audited bodies to publish the annual audit letter as soon as is 
reasonably possible after it is received and to keep copies available for 
purchase by any person on payment of a reasonable sum. 

 

Yours sincerely 
 

 

 

Adrian Crompton 

Auditor General for Wales 

 

 

24 Cathedral Road / 24 Heol y Gadeirlan 

Cardiff / Caerdydd 

CF11 9LJ 

Tel / Ffôn: 029 2032 0500 

Fax / Ffacs: 029 2032 0600 

Textphone / Ffôn testun: 029 2032 0660 

info@audit.wales / post@archwilio.cymru 

www.audit.wales / www.archwilio.cymru 

Page 25

mailto:info@audit.wales
http://www.audit.wales/
http://www.archwilio.cymru/


This page is intentionally left blank



OFFICIAL SWYDDOGOL 

 

 

OFFICIAL SWYDDOGOL 

1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

JOINT  
ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT  

2020/2021  
 

 

 

THE POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER FOR SOUTH WALES  
 

AND  
 

THE CHIEF CONSTABLE OF SOUTH WALES POLICE  
 

 

 

 

 

Page 27



OFFICIAL SWYDDOGOL 

 

OFFICIAL SWYDDOGOL 

 

2020/21 Overall Governance Assurance Statement by the Joint Audit 

Committee 

The Joint Audit Committee is required to report directly to the 
Commissioner and the Chief Constable. At least three formal committee 
meetings are held each year with further informal meetings (usually at 
least three) being convened to enable the Committee to take “deep dives” 
into subject areas before consideration at the formal meetings.  
 
The Annual Report of the Joint Audit Committee for 2020/21 concludes as 
follows:  
 

The Joint Audit Committee is satisfied that there are no major issues of 
concern that affect the financial standing of the Corporations Sole. It is 
satisfied that there is a robust governance framework in place, supported 
by adequate risk management and controls.   
 
 

 
During 2020/21 the ‘deep dive’ sessions held included consideration by the 
Joint Audit Committee of the following:  
 

 Review of Effectiveness (July 2020) 

 People and Organisational Development (November 2020) 

 Internal Audit Plan (November 2020) 

 All Wales Collaboration (February 2021) 

 Medium Term Financial Plan/Budget (February 2021) 

 Police National Database (February 2021 

 

 

 

INTRODUCTION AND SCOPE OF RESPONSIBILITIES  

The purpose of this Annual Governance Statement is to explain how the 
Police and Crime Commissioner and the Chief Constable of South Wales 
have complied with their joint Manual of Corporate Governance and to 
identify any significant governance issues facing the force.   

To this end, the Annual Governance Statement is written in two parts:  

 Part One describes the governance arrangements in place during 
2020/21.   

 Part Two reports on the review of the effectiveness and the outcomes 
of these arrangements.   

 
This Annual Governance Statement assesses the governance arrangements 
in place during the 2020/21 financial year, so the entirety of the 
assessment period will be considered alongside the Coronavirus pandemic.  
Furthermore, the conclusion of the Annual Governance Statement, on 
whether or not the governance arrangements are fit for purpose usually 
reflects periods of normal operations.  However, as the Annual Governance 
Statement must be current at the time of its publication, any impact on the 
Governance arrangements from 1st April 2021 up to the publication date 
will be reflected herein.   
 

  

P
age 28



OFFICIAL SWYDDOGOL 

 

OFFICIAL SWYDDOGOL 

 

PART 1: SCOPE OF RESPONSIBILITIES  

The governance arrangements within South Wales Police are designed to 
ensure appropriate accountability and to assist effective leadership. The 
Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 created two separate 
“corporations sole” within each police force: the Chief Constable and the 
Police and Crime Commissioner (Commissioner). They each have clear and 
separate roles and responsibilities set out in statute.  The key legislation is 
the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011, the Police Act 1996 
(as amended) and the Policing and Crime Act 2017.   

The core statutory functions of the Commissioner are to secure the 
maintenance of the police force, ensure that the force is efficient and 
effective, and hold the Chief Constable to account for the exercise of his 
functions and the functions of persons under his direction and control and 
to establish a police and crime plan to which the Chief Constable must have 
regard. The Commissioner also has:  

 responsibility for the delivery of community safety and crime 
reduction,   

 the ability to make crime and disorder reduction grants within the 
force area  

 a duty to ensure that all collaboration agreements with other 
Commissioners and forces deliver better value for money or enhance 
the effectiveness of policing capabilities and resilience, and  

 a wider responsibility for the enhancement of the delivery of criminal 
justice locally. 

 to engage and consult with the public with a view to working towards 
translating the legitimate desires and aspirations of the public into 
action 

 Oversight of compliant handling by South Wales Police 
Overarching these functions is a responsibility for ensuring business is 
conducted in accordance with the law and proper standards, that public 
money is safeguarded and properly accounted for, and that it is used 
economically, efficiently and effectively, ensuring value for money.  

 
The operational independence of the Chief Constable is protected in 
legislation. He has a statutory responsibility for the control, direction and 
delivery of operational policing services provided by the Force. The Chief 
Constable is responsible for ensuring that police powers are exercised in 
accordance with the law and proper standards and is accountable to the 
Commissioner for the delivery of efficient and effective policing, 
management of resources and expenditure by the police force. 
 
In discharging their overall responsibility, the Commissioner and Chief 
Constable are also responsible for putting in place proper arrangements 
for the governance of affairs and facilitating the exercise of their functions, 
which includes ensuring a sound system of internal control is maintained 
throughout the year and that arrangements are in place for the 
management of risk. Much of the governance framework is shared but this 
Statement highlights the few areas where governance arrangements differ. 

The financial management arrangements conform principally with the 
governance requirements of the CIPFA Statement on the Role of the Chief 
Financial Officer of the Police and Crime Commissioner and Chief Financial 
Officer of the Chief Constable and the Home Office Financial Management 
Code of Practice for the Police Service of England and Wales (a revised 
version of which was published in July 2018). Revised guidance for 
‘Delivering Good Governance’ for Policing Bodies was published by CIPFA 
in July 2016 which has been supplemented by CIPFA guidance in February 
2021 on the ‘Application of the Good Governance Framework 2020/21’, in 
response to the continuing impact of the Coronavirus pandemic on 
governance.  Furthermore, CIPFA’s Financial Management Code (FM Code) 
provides guidance for good and sustainable financial management in Local 
Authorities (including police) to ensure that authorities are managing 
resources effectively.  The first full year of compliance with the FM Code 
will be 2021/22, but the Commissioner and Chief Constable recognise that 
their organisations will need time to reflect on the contents of the FM Code 

P
age 29



OFFICIAL SWYDDOGOL 

 

 

OFFICIAL SWYDDOGOL 

 

4 

 

and will use 2020/21 to demonstrate how they are working towards 
compliance.  Existing and future financial management governance 
arrangements have therefore been taken into account, both in reviewing 
our governance arrangements and in preparing this Annual Governance 
Statement.   
 

This Statement also meets the requirements of the Accounts and Audit 
(Wales) Regulations 2014 in relation to the publication of a Joint Annual 
Governance Statement which must accompany the statement of accounts.  
 

AIM OF THE GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK 

The governance framework comprises the systems, processes, culture and 
values that the Commissioner and Chief Constable use to direct and 
control the force’s activities, and to engage with and be accountable to the 
community. The framework enables them to influence and monitor the 
achievement of strategic Policing and Crime Reduction objectives and to 
consider whether those objectives have delivered the Police and Crime 
Plan. 
 
The system of internal control is a significant part of that framework and 
is designed to manage risk to a reasonable and foreseeable level. It cannot 
eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives; it can 
only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness.  
 
The system of internal control is based on an on-going process designed:  

 to identify and prioritise the risks to the achievement of policies, aims 
and objectives; 

 to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact 
should they be realised; and 

 to manage risks effectively, efficiently and economically.  
 

The findings of the review of the system of internal control are considered 
by the Commissioner and the Chief Constable and independently 
reviewed by the Joint Audit Committee. 
The Commissioner and the Chief Constable will formally approve any 
changes to the Manual of Governance and framework as part of the 
ongoing governance review. This is undertaken to ensure that these 
continue to reflect and meet the needs of the organisation. The structures, 
and systems within which they operate must be subject to review to ensure 
due diligence, that they are fully understood and that they reflect the 
changing demands upon the Force.  
 

PRINCIPLES OF GOOD GOVERNANCE 

The Policing Protocol Order 2011 requires the Commissioner and the Chief 
Constable to adopt and abide by the Nolan Principles for conduct in public 
life. It also highlights the expectation that the relationship between all 
parties will be based upon the principles of goodwill, professionalism, 
openness and trust.  
 

This is reflected in the Hallmarks of Relationship document agreed by the 
Commissioner and the Chief Constable which forms part of their Manual of 
Governance. The Manual is also consistent with the seven core principles 

P
age 30



OFFICIAL SWYDDOGOL 

 

OFFICIAL SWYDDOGOL 

 

of good governance set out in the International Framework for Good 
Governance in the Public Sector1: -  
1. Behave with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical 

values and respecting the rule of law 
2. Ensure openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement 
3. Define outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, social and 

environmental benefits 
4. Determine the interventions necessary to optimise the achievement of 

the intended outcomes 
5. Develop the entity’s capacity, including the capability of its leadership 

and the individuals within it 
6. Manage risks and performance through robust internal control and 

strong public financial management 
7. Implement good practices in transparency, reporting and audit to 

delivery effective accountability       

The Code of Ethics issued by the College of Policing introduced two 
additional principles to the seven Nolan principles: Fairness and Respect 
(see the ‘extended’ NOLAN principles as set out below).   

The Nolan Principles refer to Leadership in terms of promoting and 
supporting the principles of Conduct in Public Life but the Commissioner 
and the Chief Constable are explicitly committed to providing a robust, 
timely and caring response to events that affect the public and our 
communities.  This is reflected in the operational priorities of ‘protecting 
the vulnerable and preventing harm in our communities’ by ‘listening and 
responding to our people’s needs’ to improve the way we work together. 

                                                 

 

 

 
1 International Framework: Good Governance in the Public Sector (CIPFA/IFAC 

2014) 

Selflessness: Decisions will be taken solely in terms of the public interest, and not 
for personal financial or other gain, whether for such person, their family or their 
friends. 

Integrity: The Commissioner, the Chief Constable, their officers and staff will not 
place themselves under any financial or other obligation to outside individuals or 
organisations that may seek to influence them in the performance of their official 
duties. 

Objectivity: In carrying out public business, including making public appointments, 
awarding contracts, or recommending individuals for rewards and benefits, the 
Commissioner, the Chief Constable, their officers and staff will make choices on 
merit. 

Accountability: The Commissioner, the Chief Constable, their officers and staff will 
be accountable for their decisions and actions to the public and will submit 
themselves to whatever scrutiny is appropriate. 

Openness: The Commissioner, the Chief Constable, their officers and staff will be 
as open as possible about all decisions and action they take.  Reasons for decisions 
will be made available and information will be restricted only when so required by 
the wider public interest. 

Honesty: The Commissioner, the Chief Constable, their officers and staff will have 
a duty to declare any private interests relating to public duties and to take steps 
to resolve any conflicts arising in a way that protects the public interest. 

Leadership: The Commissioner, the Chief Constable, their officers and staff will 
promote and support these principles through leadership and by example. 

P
age 31



OFFICIAL SWYDDOGOL 

 

 

OFFICIAL SWYDDOGOL 

 

6 

 

Fairness: The Commissioner, Chief Constable, their officers and staff will act with 
fairness and impartiality. 

Respect: The Commissioner, Chief Constable, their officers and staff will act with 
self-control and tolerance, treating members of the public and colleagues with 
respect and courtesy. 

The table at Appendix 1 illustrates how these Standards have been applied in the 
work of the Commissioner and the Chief Constable during the 2020/21 financial 
year, as well as identifying measures that will be undertaken in 2021/22. 

P
age 32



OFFICIAL SWYDDOGOL 

 

OFFICIAL SWYDDOGOL 

 

CIPFA Financial Management Code (FM Code) 
As referenced above, in October 2019 CIPFA published its FM Code, 
designed to support good practice in financial management and to assist 
local authorities (and other designated bodies such as Policing) in 
demonstrating their financial sustainability.  The FM Code therefore sets 
the standards of financial management for a number of public bodies. The 
first full year of compliance is 2021/22, with 2020/21 being a ‘shadow’ year 
to allow organisations time to put corrective actions in place. As such there 
has been no requirement in this ‘Shadow’ year for review by internal and 
external audit. 
 

A key goal of the FM Code is to improve the financial resilience of 
organisations, by embedding enhanced standards of financial 
management.  Inevitably, the impact of the Coronavirus pandemic has 
tested that financial resilience in 2020/21 and may continue to do so in 
coming years.  For this reason, the implementation of the FM Code in this 
‘shadow year’ was a critical task.  There are clear links between the FM 
Code and the Governance Framework outlined below, particularly with its 
focus on achieving sustainable outcomes.  

For these reasons, the Annual Governance Statement for 2020/21 includes 
the overall conclusion of an assessment of compliance with the principles 
of the FM Code.  Comprehensive responses to each of the seventeen 
financial management standards is detailed in Appendix 2 of the Annual 
Governance Statement, including details of outstanding matters or areas 
for improvement.  The six Principles of the FM Code assessed are: 
1. Organisational Leadership – demonstrating a clear strategic direction 

based on a vision in which financial management is embedded into 
organisational culture.  

2. Accountability – based on medium-term financial planning that drives 
the annual budget process supported by effective risk management, 
quality supporting data and whole life costs.  

3. Financial management is undertaken with transparency at its core 
using consistent, meaningful and understandable data, reported 

frequently with evidence of periodic officer action and elected member 
decision making.  

4. Adherence to professional standards is promoted by the leadership 
team and is evidenced.  

5. Sources of assurance are recognised as an effective tool mainstreamed 
into financial management, including political scrutiny and the results 
of external audit, internal audit and inspection.  

6. The long-term sustainability of local services is at the heart of all 
financial management processes and is evidenced by prudent use of 
public resources.  

It is the duty of South Wales Police to adhere to the principles of financial 
management.  To enable South Wales Police to test conformity with the 
CIPFA Principles of Good Financial Management, the FM Code translates 
these principles into seventeen financial management standards across 
seven sections of the FM Code.  These financial management standards will 
have different practical applications according to the different 
circumstances of each relevant public body:  
Sections 1 and 2 of the FM Code (containing standards A to E) address 
important contextual factors which need to be addressed in the first 
instance if sound financial management is to be possible.  The first deals 
with the responsibilities of the CFO and leadership team, the second with 
the organisation’s governance and financial management style.  
The remaining Sections 3 to 7 (containing standards F to Q) address the 
requirements of the financial management cycle, with Section 3 stating the 
need for a long-term approach to the evaluation of financial sustainability. 
To make well informed decisions all elements of the cycle need to be fit for 
purpose.  The development of a high-quality long-term financial strategy 
will not itself promote financial sustainability if, for example, the 
organisation’s annual budget setting process (Section 4), stakeholder 
engagement and business cases (Section 5) and performance monitoring 
arrangements (Section 6) are inadequate.  The cycle is completed by 
Section 7, which shows how high-quality financial reporting supports the 
financial management cycle by ensuring that it rests on sound financial 

P
age 33



OFFICIAL SWYDDOGOL 

 

 

OFFICIAL SWYDDOGOL 

 

8 

 

information. The seventeen standards applied across the six principles are 
produced below: 
 

 
 
 

P
age 34



OFFICIAL SWYDDOGOL 

 

OFFICIAL SWYDDOGOL 

 

GOVERNANCE ARRANGEMENTS 
The governance framework aims to provide a strong focus on the drivers 
for policing within the force, and to ensure that there is a clear ‘line of sight’ 
between decisions taken and the Police and Crime Reduction Plan. The key 
elements of the framework are:  
Manual of Governance: The Commissioner and the Chief Constable have 
in place a joint Manual of Governance (the ‘Manual’). This Manual includes 
a scheme of delegation, financial regulations, the Hallmarks of 
Relationships and standing orders relating to contracts. It also includes a 
decision-making framework which ensures that, where possible, all the 
Commissioner’s decisions are published and available for public scrutiny.  

Hallmarks of Relationships: This document recognises the Chief 
Constable’s operational responsibilities, within the policy and 
accountability framework set by the Commissioner. The Hallmarks enable 
the Commissioner to pursue his policy intentions, which are reflected in 
operational plans for the force and the accountability of the Chief 
Constable for their delivery. Notwithstanding their formal ‘corporations 
sole’ status, the relationship between the Commissioner and the Chief 
Constable is based on working together for the benefit of the people of 
South Wales under the joint banner of ‘South Wales Police’. The Hallmarks 
specify that the relationship between the Commissioner and Chief 
Constable will be built on trust, confidence and transparency. All dealings 
between them will be on an ‘open book’ basis. The governance 
arrangements adopted are consistent with the need to ensure 
accountability between the parties and also to the public. This transparent 
and auditable approach adopted remained valid in 2020/21.    
Governance Framework:  The Scrutiny and Accountability Board detailed 
in the governance diagram below holds the Force and its representatives 

to account for the delivery of an effective and efficient police service, and 
for the escalation of any issues of concern or specific importance. There is 
an annual scrutiny programme agreed and an annual review produced to 
support this work.   The issues addressed by S&AB in 2020/21 included:  

 The issue of racial disproportionality in South Wales Police 

 Force Community Engagement across South Wales 

 Automated Facial Recognition 

 Independent Custody Visiting/Treatment of detainees in custody  
Issues from this Board are reported to the Chief Constable’s Gold Group 
and to the Commissioner’s Executive Group (and subsequently escalated 
as appropriate to the Commissioner’s Strategic Board whether directly or 
through the Chief Constable’s Gold Group meeting).  The Chief Constable 
will also report to the Commissioner following his Gold Group meeting 
identifying issues for escalation to the Strategic Board. These Boards also 
collate recommendations from other internal force meetings (including the 
Joint Audit Committee and the Independent Ethics Committee - both of 
which are expected to escalate serious concerns directly to the 
Commissioner and the Chief Constable). The diagram below sets out the 
governance structure during 2020/21:  

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 35



OFFICIAL SWYDDOGOL 

 

 

 

10 

 

PART TWO: REVIEW OF EFFECTIVENESS 

The Commissioner and Chief Constable have responsibility for conducting, 
at least annually, a review of the effectiveness of their governance 
framework including the system of internal control. The review of 
effectiveness is informed by: 

 the work of Chief Officers and senior managers who have 
responsibility for the development and maintenance of the 
governance environment; 

 the Internal Audit annual report; 

 the annual report of the Joint Audit Committee; 

 the view of the external auditor through the annual audit letter; and 

 reports from other review inspectorates.  
There are, accordingly, three principal lines of assurance methodology:  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
It is important to note that this Joint Annual Governance Statement and 
the work undertaken in its preparation is a tool in the self-evaluation by 
the Commissioner and the Chief Constable of their governance 
arrangements. The Annual Governance Statement is submitted for 
consideration to the Chief Constable’s Gold meeting, Audit Wales and the 
Joint Audit Committee before being approved at the Commissioner’s 
Strategic Board 
 

The roles of the various bodies are detailed below:     
 

Joint Audit Committee 
The Chief Constable and the Commissioner have jointly appointed an 
independent Joint Audit Committee which provides assurance to enhance 
public trust and confidence in the governance of the Commissioner and the 
Chief Constable.  
This approach is consistent with the Financial Management Code of 
Practice which states that such a combined body should consider the 
internal and external audit reports of both the Commissioner and the Chief 
Constable. The Joint Audit Committee also considers reports from 
HMICFRS.  
The Joint Audit Committee advises the Commissioner and the Chief 
Constable according to good governance principles and provides:  

 independent assurance to the Commissioner and the Chief Constable 
regarding the adequacy of the risk management framework and the 
associated control environment, 

 independent scrutiny of the Chief Constable’s and the Commissioner’s  
financial performance, 

 oversight in relation to the financial reporting process adopted from 
CIPFA Audit Committees Practical Guidance for Local Authorities. 

The Committee provides comments, advice and assurance on matters 
relating to the internal control environment of the Force and the Office of 
the Commissioner.  It has oversight of general governance matters. The 

Management Accountable for Delivery 

Internal Audit 
and Joint Audit 

Committee 
Independent Assurance  

Third Parties External inspections and assurance 
functions  

P
age 36



OFFICIAL SWYDDOGOL 

 

OFFICIAL SWYDDOGOL 

 

Joint Audit Committee has specific responsibility to provide independent 
assurance on the arrangements for governance, including risk 
management and the internal control environment. During 2020/21, the 
Committee was composed of six individuals appointed by the 
Commissioner and the Chief Constable to act as independent advisers. The 
Chair and two independent members gave their notices of intended 
retirement from the Committee during 2020/21 at the end of their second 
term, and a joint external appointment process was undertaken by the 
Chief Constable and the Commissioner to appoint four new members to 
take up appointment in 2021/22. The Joint Audit Committee met six times 
in 2020/21 (three formal meetings and three deep-dive sessions).      
 

The Joint Audit Committee has formal terms of reference, covering its core 
functions, and these are also set out in the joint Manual of Governance. 
These include reference to the Committee’s role in respect of the 
corporate governance arrangements and in maintaining an overview of the 
regulatory framework. The Commissioner and Chief Constable are both 
represented at all meetings of the Joint Audit Committee. 
 

The work of the Joint Audit Committee contributes to the governance 
framework review and reports annually to the Commissioner and Chief 
Constable as part of that review. The Joint Audit Committee has assessed 
itself against the Self-Assessment Checklist issued by CIPFA. 
 

Independent Ethics Committee:  
This was jointly established by the Commissioner and the Chief Constable. 
It has a minimum of five independent members (six during 2020/21), has 
an independent Chair and provides advice, support and assistance 
concerning ethical challenges arising from operational, administrative or 
organisational matters facing the South Wales Police Force. A joint external 
appointment exercise to appoint a new Chair and an independent member 
was undertaken in 2020/21 due to the Chair and an existing member (who 

had been on the Committee since its establishment) coming to the end of 
their terms of appointment.      
Internal audit 
Internal audit perform a range of reviews based on an agreed audit plan in 
compliance with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards.  The audit plan 
is risk based and recognises that key financial systems and other areas of 
wider business risk need to be reviewed on a cyclical basis to provide 
assurance with regard to internal controls and systems for governance. The 
plan is agreed by the Chief Finance Officers of both corporations sole, and 
is presented to the Joint Audit Committee for consideration .  
 

Regulation 5 of the Accounts and Audit (Wales) Regulations 2014 makes 
provision in respect of the internal control system that should be 
maintained in accordance with proper internal audit practices.  The 
responsibility for the maintenance of an efficient internal audit function 
rests with both corporations sole (the Commissioner and Chief Constable).  
The role and standards of Internal Audit are defined in the Public Sector 
Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS). The PSIAS encompasses the definition of 
Internal Auditing, a Code of Ethics and the International Standards for the 
Professional Practice of Internal Auditing. They provide assurance in 
relation to the management of financial and operational business risks, 
corporate governance and the entire control framework. 
 

The review of corporate governance and risk management arrangements 
(captured in the joint Uncertainty Register and Issues Log maintained by 
the Chief Constable and the Commissioner’s own Risk Register) periodically 
feature in the annual audit plan.  Corporate governance and risk 
management issues may also arise through other reviews carried out by 
Internal Audit. In such cases issues will be addressed in the relevant audit 
report. Internal Audit then present their reports on the adequacy of 
controls in the systems to the Joint Audit Committee, setting out any areas 
of concern. 

P
age 37



OFFICIAL SWYDDOGOL 

 

 

 

12 

 

INTERNAL AUDIT WORK DURING 2020/21 

During 2020/21 the internal auditors, TIAA, undertook 24 audits of which eighteen were assessed as providing substantial assurance, six with reasonable 
assurance and there were no reports in which the assessment was limited assurance: 

Audit Assurance 
Rating 

Priority 1 Recommendations 
Urgent 

Priority 2 Recommendations 
Important 

Priority 3 Recommendations 
Routine 

Total 
Recommendations 

Collaborative: Risk Management: Mitigating Controls Substantial 0 1 0 1 

Collaborative: Vetting of Contractors Substantial 0 0 0 0 

Collaborative Budgetary Control Substantial 0 0 1 1 

Collaborative – Procurement – Strategic Lead Substantial 0 0 1 1 

Collaborative General Ledger Substantial 0 0 0 0 

Collaborative – Payroll Substantial 0 0 0 0 

Collaborative – Creditors Substantial 0 0 1 1 

Collaborative – Debtors Substantial 0 0 0 0 

Cardiff and the Vale BCU Substantial 0 0 0 0 

Firearms Management Substantial 0 0 3 3 

Expenses and Overtime Substantial 0 0 1 1 

Counter Fraud – Anti-Fraud Procurement Substantial 0 0 1 1 

Anti-Fraud – Financial Fraud Substantial 0 0 1 1 

Capital Programme Substantial 0 0 0 0 

Fixed Assets Substantial 0 0 1 1 

Health and Safety Management Substantial 0 0 0 0 

Collaborative – Strategic Resource Planning Substantial 0 0 0 0 

Collaborative Project Review – Early Action Together Substantial 0 0 0 0 

HR Management – Recruitment and Training Reasonable 0 1 0 1 

Collaborative Project Review – Office 365 Reasonable 0 6 0 6 

Collaborative – Fleet Management – Fuel Usage Reasonable 0 2 3 5 

Contract Management Reasonable 0 3 0 3 

Anti-Fraud – Business and notifiable associations Reasonable 0 1 1 2 

Property Subject to Charge Reasonable 0 6 4 10 

Follow Up Quarter 2 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Follow Up Quarter 4 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Total Recommendations 0 20 18 38 

P
age 38



OFFICIAL SWYDDOGOL 

 

OFFICIAL SWYDDOGOL 

 

As noted above, these reports generated 38 recommendations, of which 
none were urgent, 20 were considered important and 18 were categorised 
as routine. Progress against the recommendations has been undertaken 
through two follow up audits undertaken by TIAA and these have been 
reported to the Joint Audit Committee.  
 
This can be compared to the data for 2019/20 when TIAA undertook 24 
audits of which thirteen were assessed as providing substantial assurance, 
seven with reasonable assurance and three with limited assurance. These 
reports generated eighty-six recommendations, of which only eight were 
urgent, forty-five were considered important and thirty-three were 
categorised as routine 
 
As noted above, there were no Limited Assurance internal audits from 
2020/21.   

 
The Head of Audit’s Annual Opinion was:   
TIAA is satisfied that sufficient internal audit work has been undertaken 
to allow me to draw a positive conclusion as to the adequacy and 
effectiveness of the Police and Crime Commissioner’s and the Chief 
Constable’s risk management, control and governance processes. In my 
opinion, the Police and Crime Commissioner and the Chief Constable 
have adequate and effective management, control and governance 
processes in place to manage the achievement of their objectives for the 
areas reviewed during the year.  
This opinion is based solely on the matters that came to the attention of 
TIAA during the course of the internal audit reviews carried out during 
the year and is not an opinion on all elements of the risk management, 
control and governance processes or the ongoing financial viability or 
your ability to meet financial obligations which must be obtained by the 
Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner for South Wales and the 
Chief Constable South Wales Police from its various sources of assurance. 
 

External Audit 
The Public Audit (Wales) Act appoints the Auditor General for Wales to 
audit the financial statements of the Commissioner and the Chief 
Constable. The Act also requires the Auditor General for Wales to assess 
whether the Commissioner and the Chief Constable have made proper 
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use 
of resources.  
 

Audit Wales (AW), on behalf of the Auditor General for Wales, audit the 
financial statements of the Commissioner and Chief Constable, as well as 
the Group accounts and also report (by exception) on the Joint Annual 
Governance Statement if it does not comply with requirements.  
 

AW in their annual audit report also comment on the financial aspects of 
corporate governance. This includes the legality of financial transactions, 
financial standing, systems of internal financial control and the standards 
of financial conduct, fraud and corruption.  
 

Such external audit plans and reports, including the annual audit letter, are 
considered by the Joint Audit Committee at appropriate times in its annual 
cycle of meetings. 
 

Both the Commissioner and the Chief Constable have a duty to respond to 
reports by the external auditor. 
 

Other Bodies 
The Welsh Government, Home Office and a number of other bodies 
require financial returns to monitor expenditure on revenue and capital. 
Strict terms and conditions are in place to govern additional external 
funding received from these bodies.  
 
 
 
 

P
age 39



OFFICIAL SWYDDOGOL 

 

 

 

14 

 

Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary (HMICFRS/the Inspectorate) 
The role of the Inspectorate (which also has Fire Service responsibilities for 
England only) is to promote the economy, efficiency and effectiveness of 
policing in England, Wales and Northern Ireland through inspection of 
police organisations and functions to ensure agreed standards are 
achieved and maintained; good practice is spread; and performance is 
improved.  The Inspectorate inspects the functions of the Chief Constable, 
not the Commissioner.  It also provides advice and support to the tripartite 
partners (Home Secretary, Commissioners and Chief Constables).   
 
The Inspectorate is independent of the Commissioner, the Chief Constable 
and the United Kingdom and Welsh Governments. Its remit is to assess the 
work of police forces in different areas of business, including 
neighbourhood policing, serious and organised crime, anti-social 
behaviour and tackling major threats such as terrorism.  The Inspectorate 
also actively monitors the performance of the Force in relation to their 
plans for ensuring the sustainability of an efficient and effective police 
service in light of the significant grant reductions from recent 
Comprehensive Spending Reviews.  To date, reports in this area of 
inspection have been positive and encouraging.  Reports are published on 
the following website: 

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/ 
 

Inspectorate reports are sent to the Chief Constable and the Commissioner 
for consideration and appropriate action.  The Inspectorate plays a key role 
in informing the Commissioner and the public on the efficiency and 
effectiveness of their forces and, in so doing, will facilitate the 
accountability of the Commissioner to the public. The Commissioner has a 
duty in law to respond to any Inspectorate report with any response 
forwarded to the Home Secretary and the Inspectorate.  Responses should 
include an update on any actions the Force is/is not taking in relation to 
any recommendations made within the report.  
INSPECTION WORK DURING 2020/21  

During 2020/21, due to the coronavirus pandemic, the Inspectorate’s 
activity was suspended between March and July 2020 but then duly 
recommenced.  The Inspectorate’s reports during 2020/21 supported the 
monitoring and development of many force priorities.  They also produced 
a suite of value for money indicators (albeit it later than usual due to the 
pandemic) to challenge areas of exceptional spend in comparison with 
South Wales Police’s most similar forces.  The results of the benchmarks 
also inform the Force’s change programme. The inspection work reported 
in 2020/21 was as follows:   
 

1. Spotlight report: Police Contact Management   
This report was published on 9th July 2020 and gave an overview of how the police 
service nationally deals with public contact in light of increasing demand. The report 
used findings from the 2018/19 PEEL reports and noted that the police service is 
handling a greater number of 999 calls (which could be partly attributable to the 
public not using 101 due to waiting times and limited apparent alternative means of 
contacting the force, additionally forces are taking on problems that other 
organisations can no longer manage and/or crimes and incidents involving vulnerable 
people are increasing). The report specifically noted that the police service is taking 
more calls re vulnerable people, including those suffering from mental ill-health, 
drug/alcohol dependency, homelessness or a combination of these issues.  As a 
result, call handlers are taking longer to deal with calls due to their complex nature 
and the need to assess threat, risk and harm. 
 
The HMICFRS found that overwhelmingly, the people who answer 999 and 101 calls 
are highly professional and empathetic and forces provide good support to their call 
handlers to help them cope with the shock, distress and trauma they face when 
dealing with emergency calls. The report also noted that forces struggle with 
retention of staff in control rooms as this can be used as a steppingstone into other 
parts of the organisation.  
 
The NPCC issued a new national contact management strategy in 2019 and is now 
updating the supporting principles and practice and the College of Policing is also 
updating the national contact management learning programme for which will set 
learning standards when training new contact management staff.   Forty-one forces, 

P
age 40



OFFICIAL SWYDDOGOL 

 

OFFICIAL SWYDDOGOL 

 

including South Wales Police, have committed to ‘single online home’. Whilst there 
were no recommendations in the report it identified a number of next steps for 
consideration, which are being taken forward by the Public Service Centre 
Management Team. 
 
2. Roads Policing   
This report was published on 15th July 2020 and outlines the findings from the 
HMICFRS thematic inspection of roads policing undertaken in November 2019. 
HMICFRS visited seven forces as part of their evidence gathering, which were Devon 
& Cornwall, Dorset, Humberside, Metropolitan Police, Staffordshire, West Midlands 
and also South Wales Police. 
 
The report noted that the number of deaths caused by road traffic collisions has 
increased from 2013 although fixed penalty notices, breathalyser and drugs tests 
have reduced in that time. The number of dedicated roads policing officers has 
declined, whilst their responsibilities for supporting general policing have increased 
with specialist roads policing capability and capacity varying between forces. The 
deployment of speed cameras undertaken by road safety partnerships was noted and 
in most forces the rationale for using camera-based technology for enforcement was 
clear and decisions on their location supported by a process intended to maintain 
public confidence.  A shared understanding between police and partner agencies re 
road safety issues was encouraged to maximise operational effectiveness both 
nationally and locally.  This is supported by an evaluation of what road safety activities 
work allowing meaningful engagement activity with vulnerable groups such as young 
drivers.  
 
There were 13 recommendations in the report of which six related to police forces. 
These were: 

i. Roads policing to be included in force’s strategic threat and risk assessments, 
which should identify the areas of highest harm and risk and the appropriate 
responses.  

ii. Chief Officers to ensure that: 
a. their force has enough analytical capability (including that provided by 

road safety partnerships) to identify risks and threats on the road 
network within their force area. 

b. information shared by partners relating to road safety is used effectively 
to reduce those risks and threats. 

c. evaluation is undertaken of road safety initiatives to ascertain their 
effectiveness.  

iii. Forces (and/or road safety partnerships) are to comply with the Department 
of Transport Circular 1/2007 re the use of speed and red-light cameras.  

iv. In forces where Operation Snap is adopted, Chief Constables should en]sure 
enough resources and processes to support its efficient and effective use.  

v. Sufficient resources allocated to policing the strategic road network within 
their force areas - effective partnership arrangements including appropriate 
intelligence sharing agreements with relevant highways agencies.  

vi. Appropriate welfare support to be provided to specialist 
investigators/family liaison officers involved in investigations of fatal road 
traffic collisions. 

 
3. Integrated PEEL Spotlight report: Collaboration 
This report was published on 21st July 2020 and summarises the findings from the 
PEEL efficiency reports as well as reviewing six police collaborations, one of which 
was All Wales collaboration. The report noted that effective collaboration requires a 
clear purpose, objective and identity, which needs to be supported by all those 
involved. The All Wales Collaboration was recognised as having that clear purpose 
and direction.  
The report also noted the importance of the identification and monitoring of benefits 
to ensure they are achieving what they set out to do as well as reviewing other 
opportunities for collaborative working.  
Forces need to recognise the complex and specialist nature of collaboration and 
ensure suitably skilled staff who can build relationships, financial management, 
negotiation skills, creativity and capture lessons learned.  
 
4. Pre-charge bail and Released Under Investigation  
This report was published on 8th December 2020 and outlined the findings from a 
thematic inspection undertaken in six forces to examine the use of bail and released 
under investigation (RUI).  The report notes that most forces had worked hard to 
adapt to the rapid legislative changes to bail in 2017 and had made improvements to 
their risk assessments, especially where suspects are in custody. Areas for progress 
included taking account of any risk to the victim when considering conditional bail 

P
age 41



OFFICIAL SWYDDOGOL 

 

 

 

16 

 

and/or released under investigation (RUI), effective supervision of investigations, 
partnership working re the sharing of information and improved file quality with the 
CPS. The report noted that when the legislation was introduced not enough 
consideration was given as to how forces could implement the changes effectively 
with available resources. There were 10 recommendations in the report, but only two 
apply directly to police forces, which are:  

i. Processes and systems to clearly show if suspects are on bail or RUI – to improve 
understanding of any risk a suspect may present/help to increase safeguarding. 

ii. Record whether a suspect is on bail or RUI on the MG3 form when submitted to 
the CPS. This should be regularly checked and any changes in bail or RUI 
provided. The CPS should work with the police to ensure this information is 
provided. 

However, the other recommendations for the Home Office are also likely to have an 
impact on how forces manage and record bail/RUI going forward and include a review 
of the legislation for bail/RUI, ensuring forces have enough time and resources to 
respond to any future legislative changes, new data collection processes and 
monitoring arrangements for bail/RUI.  The report also recommends that the College 
of Policing develops clear guidance for forces in relation to updating suspects who 
are RUI and to ensure that all suspects associated with cases involving serious harm 
and risk are subject to bail with conditions to protect victims. 
 
5. Super Complaint: Police Data Sharing for Immigration purposes  
This report was published on 17th December 2020. The super complaint was 
submitted by Liberty and Southall Black Sisters to the HMICFRS in December 2018, 
but the investigation did not start until November 2019. The complaint related to the 
treatment of victims, crimes and witnesses with insecure immigration status and how 
information about them is passed to the Home Office for immigration enforcement.   
 
The report recognises the importance of sharing information between the police 
service and the Home Office and this investigation focuses on migrant victims in 
highly vulnerable circumstances. Whilst information was collected from all forces, the 
HMICFRS carried out fieldwork in six forces which did not include South Wales Police 
– North Yorkshire, Humberside, Essex, Kent, North Wales and the MPS.  The 
investigation looked at migrant victims in highly vulnerable circumstances – usually 
arising from crimes of domestic abuse or modern slavery and human trafficking – and 
found inconsistent approaches to information sharing between police and the Home 

Office about victims and witnesses to crime. There were eight recommendations in 
the report, three of which were for police forces:  

i. Where officers have concerns or doubts about a victim’s immigration status-    
police officers should link the victim to a third party that can provide advice 
and assistance.  

ii. In consultation/collaboration with local or national specialist organisations, 
chief constables should take steps for all migrant victims and witnesses of 
crime to be supported through safe reporting pathways to the police and 
other statutory agencies. 

iii. In consultation/collaboration with local or national specialist organisations, 
chief constables and police and crime commissioners take steps through the 
appropriate channels, to promote migrant victims’ and witnesses’ 
confidence in reporting crimes to the police through safe reporting 
pathways, without fear of prioritised immigration control. 

 
6. Impact of the pandemic on the criminal justice system.  
This report was published on 19th January 2021 and outlined how the criminal justice 
service reacted in the immediate aftermath of the first national lockdown (23rd 
March – 10th May 2020) and how the system has managed since. The report noted 
the positive initiatives during the pandemic, including the acceleration of digital 
working and praised the commitment of staff. The level of planning for a pandemic 
varied across the system, as did the challenges faced by each body but all agencies 
were able to maintain essential services. When the effects of the pandemic were felt 
there was evidence of swift and sensible decision making. Agencies reviewed their 
processes and practices, identified areas of risk and threats to the fundamental 
running of their service and acted accordingly.   The Criminal Justice System continued 
to operate throughout the pandemic and the report notes how this impacted on a 
typical service user, including reporting crimes online, dealing with officers remotely 
to discuss the incident/take statements, more out of court disposals, greater use of 
RUI and longer wait for a court date.  
The four inspectorates were impressed at the amount of innovation achieved in such 
extraordinary circumstances and the need for a proper evaluation of what was done 
before it becomes ordinary practice, particularly in the case of some digital changes 
introduced. There is a need to evaluate any impact of remote/virtual working on 
outcomes/reoffending or any impact for victims and perpetrators. For changes 
considered beneficial, work is to be undertaken to ensure the necessary governance, 

P
age 42



OFFICIAL SWYDDOGOL 

 

OFFICIAL SWYDDOGOL 

 

resourcing and training to allow them to become common/widespread practice. The 
report noted cases studies in relation to virtual courts and cloud video platforms in 
courts as examples where such further work is required. All agencies to continue to 
work together to plan how to adopt, adapt or accelerate the beneficial changes 
necessitated by the pandemic.   
 
7. Regional Organised Crime Units  
The report on the effectiveness of Regional Organised Crime Units (ROCUs) was 
published on 10th February 2021 and outlined the findings from the inspection 
undertaken by the HMICFRS in early 2020, focusing on how effectively and efficiently 
ROCUs tackle the threat from serious and organised crime. As part of this inspection, 
the HMICFRS planned to visit all nine ROCUs, but all fieldwork was suspended on 13th 
March 2020 due to COVID-19 (including the South Wales collaboration).  The report 
notes the lack of a clear and sustainable funding model for ROCUs, making it difficult 
to recruit and retain staff. The funding model was highlighted as a problem in the 
HMICFRS 2015 report as well as the 2019 National Audit Office report. The report 
noted the need for a consistent approach to the structure and leadership of the ROCU 
network. ROCUs have good access to intelligence and performed well, despite dealing 
with disparate IT systems. There were six recommendations in the report: 

i. By March 2021, the Home Office should consider what changes to legislation can 
be made to allow the National Crime Agency (NCA) to formally task ROCUs. 

ii. By February 2023, the NPCC lead for Serious and Organised Crime (SOC), with 
the Home Office, should devise a technical solution to make exchanging sensitive 
intelligence between organisations more efficient, and then encourage its 
adoption/ adherence by all relevant forces and the NCA. 

iii. By February 2022, chief officers responsible for SOC in each region, with the chief 
officers of affected forces, should ensure systems are in place for senior 
investigating officers/lead responsible officers to work effectively together. 

iv. By February 2022, the chief constable with the lead for SOC in each region, with 
the chief officers of the affected forces, should ensure that a chief officer is 
appointed with responsibility for each ROCU, as far as practicable working 
autonomously of force responsibilities. 

v. By August 2021, the NPCC lead for ROCUs, with the NPCC lead for counter 
corruption, should publish an anti-corruption strategy for ROCUs and encourage 
its adoption/adherence by all relevant forces. 

vi. By February 2022, the NPCC lead for SOC should design a national function that 
can make sure ROCUs operate in a co-ordinated and consistent way across 
England and Wales. The Home Office and other relevant interested parties 
should adopt the arrangements so devised and provide the necessary resources 
to ensure their successful operation. 

 
8. Disproportionate Use of Police Powers  
This report was published on 26th February 2021 and included findings from the 
2018/19 PEEL inspections carried out in all 43 forces and a review of 9,378 stop search 
records from 2019.  The report notes that police service cannot explain why these 
powers are apparently used disproportionately and this presents a risk of further 
reducing public trust in the police/lead to more Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic 
people being drawn into the criminal justice system. The report asks police leaders to 
consider whether focusing stop and search on tackling drug possession is an effective 
use of these powers and also to analyse their data and either explain, with evidence, 
the reasons for any disproportionality in stop and search and use of force or take clear 
action to address it. 
There are eight recommendations in the report, six of which are for forces: 

i. By July 2022, forces to ensure that officers and staff have effective 
communication skills in line with the NPCC guidelines on conflict 
management (in addition to existing training on conflict management and 
de-escalation).  

ii. By July 2021, forces to ensure that communication skills are reinforced as 
part of continuing professional development for officers and staff. 
Supervisors to routinely debrief officers on these skills using body-worn 
video footage.  

iii. By September 2021 forces should: 
a. ensure that officers record on body-worn video (when available) the entirety 

of all stop and search encounters, including traffic stops and use of force 
incidents.  

b. have a structured process for regularly reviewing and monitoring internally 
a sufficient sample of body-worn video footage to identify and disseminate 
learning and hold officers to account when behaviour falls below acceptable 
standards. 

c. provide external scrutiny panel members with access to samples of body-
worn video footage showing stop and search encounters/use of force 

P
age 43



OFFICIAL SWYDDOGOL 

 

 

 

18 

 

incidents, taking account of the safeguards in the College of Policing’s 
Authorised Professional Practice.  

iv. By July 2021, forces to have effective internal monitoring processes on the 
use of force, to help them to identify and understand any disproportionate 
use and to explain and implement any necessary improvement action. 

v. By July 2021, forces to have effective external scrutiny processes in relation 
to the use of force. Forces to take account of feedback and update the 
scrutiny panel/community on action taken. 

vi. Forces to ensure that all stop and search records include detail of the self-
defined ethnicity of the subject. When this information is refused by the 
subject, the officer-defined ethnicity code should be recorded. 

 
9. Policing Protests 
This report was published on 11th March 2021 and reports on how effectively the 
police deal with protests. This was commissioned by the Home Secretary following 
several protests which caused disruption in various parts of the country. The Home 
Secretary asked the HMICFRS to assess the extent to which the police have been using 
their existing powers effectively and what steps the Government could take to ensure 
that the police have the right powers to respond to protests.  The HMICFRS inspected 
ten forces with recent experience of policing protests, with South Wales being one of 
those ten forces. They consulted a wide range of bodies (e.g. protest groups) and 
2000 members of the public. 
The report noted that forces are usually good at planning for protests and work 
effectively with other organisations, making good use of equipment and technology, 
such as drones. When forces do not accurately assess the level of disruption caused, 
or likely to be caused, by a protest, the balance may tip too readily in favour of 
protesters. The report noted that more than two thirds of people thought it was 
unacceptable for protests to involve violence or serious disruption to residents and 
businesses. The public’s views were more divided when protest caused only minor 
inconvenience to people locally, with little support for police use of force when 
protesters were not violent. The report contained four areas for improvement, three 
of which are for forces and a further 12 recommendations, two of which are for 
forces. These are: 
Areas for improvement 

i. Forces to improve the quality of protest-related intelligence provided to the 
National Police Coordination Centre’s Strategic Intelligence and Briefing team 
(and this team to ensure its intelligence collection process is fit for purpose). 

ii. On a national, regional and local basis, the police to develop a stronger rationale 
for determining the commanders, specialist officers and staff needed to police 
protests. 

iii. The police’s protest-related community impact assessments should assist the 
police to understand fully the impact of protests on communities. They should 
include assessments of the impact of protest on local residents, visitors to an 
area, businesses and critical infrastructure (including transport networks and 
hospitals). 

Recommendations 
i. By 31 December 2021, chief constables should make sure that their legal services 

teams subscribe to the College of Policing Knowledge Hub’s Association of Police 
Lawyers group.  

ii. By 31 December 2021, chief constables to ensure sufficiently robust governance 
arrangements to secure consistent, effective debrief processes for protest 
policing. Such arrangements should ensure that:  
a. forces give adequate consideration to debriefing all protest-related policing 

operations. 
b. the extent of any debrief is proportionate to the scale of the operation. 
c. a national post-event learning review form is prepared after every debrief 

and the form is signed off by a gold commander prior to submission to the 
National Police Co-ordination Centre  

 
Police and Crime Panel 

The Police and Crime Panel is responsible for overseeing the Police and 
Crime Commissioner and scrutinising his decisions.    
The panel is not there to scrutinise the performance of the Chief Constable 
and his force directly – that is the role of the Commissioner.   
 
The Panel is made up of nine local Councillors, representing the seven local 
councils in South Wales, along with two independent members. 
 

P
age 44



OFFICIAL SWYDDOGOL 

 

OFFICIAL SWYDDOGOL 

 

The responsibilities and powers of the panel include: 
-Making reports and recommendations about actions and/or decisions of 
the Commissioner; 
-Scrutinise the draft Police and Crime Plan; 
-Summon the Commissioner, and his staff, for public questioning; 
-Scrutinise and potentially, by two-thirds majority, veto the police budget 
and council tax precept; 
-Scrutinise and potentially, by two-thirds majority, veto the appointment 
of the Chief Constable; 
-Hold confirmation hearings for the Commissioner’s senior staff (including 
the Deputy Police and Crime Commissioner, the Chief Executive (Chief of 
Staff) and the Treasurer); 
-Deal with lower level complaints against the Commissioner. 

 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council is responsible for the 
administration of the Police and Crime Panel.   Panel members have the 
power to make reports and recommendations about any actions and 
decisions taken by the Commissioner. They have a specific role in 
scrutinising the draft Police and Crime Plan, council tax precept, Chief 
Constable appointment(s), and the Annual Report. They also have the 
power to call in the Commissioner and their staff for public questioning. 
All reports and minutes are published publicly. 
 
During 2020/2021 the work of the Panel included consideration of the 
following:  
 

 The Police and Crime Reduction Plan  

 Precept proposal 2021/22 

 Financial reporting  

 Mid-Year Financial Assessment 

 Audit Wales Management letter 

 Annual Report  

 Engagement Strategy 

 Joint Audit Committee Annual Report 2019/20 

 Appointment of Chief Constable   
 
There were 4 meetings of the Police and Crime Panel in 2020/21 
 
Coronavirus Command Structure 
In addition to the governance arrangements detailed above, in response to 
the Coronavirus pandemic the Force instigated a new Force-wide 
Gold/Silver command structure prior to ‘lockdown’ in March 2020.  A 
regular Gold meeting (daily at key points) was held chaired by a Chief 
Superintendent as well as daily Silver meetings (chaired by a 
Superintendent) and these ensured continuity of Operational Policing and 
Business Support functions as well as monitoring developments on a 
partnership and legislative basis as impacting upon the force.  Each of these 
meetings was attended by representatives from operational and business 
support functions across the force.  This Gold and Silver command 
structure ran 7 days a week other than during ‘recovery’ periods during 
2020/21. 
 
Business continuity plans were requested from all Departments across the 
Force to help plan for absences and to identify any critical business needs 
or issues.  These have been kept up to date and reviewed by Heads of 
Department and Commanders.  These plans proved effective in ensuring 
that South Wales Police was able to continue providing its services to 
communities throughout the pandemic.  
 
These plans were supported by South Wales Police’s mobile IT capability, 
which ensured officers and staff were already well equipped with mobile 
phones and laptop devices.  This ensured non-operational staff had the 
ability to work from home without a loss of capacity or capability.  
Meetings and communications were uninterrupted and governance 
arrangements remained robust, as both the OPCC and the Force adopted 
an online solution in place of face to face contact. The use of such online 

P
age 45

http://www.merthyr.gov.uk/English/CommunityAndLiving/CrimePrevention/Pages/PoliceandCrimePanel.aspx
http://commissioner.south-wales.police.uk/en/right-information/freedom-information/freedom-information-publications-scheme/make-decisions/police-crime-panel/police-crime-panel-meeting-agendas-minutes/


OFFICIAL SWYDDOGOL 

 

 

 

20 

 

meeting platforms were also shared with our partners, which ensured 
multi-agency meetings and work, including safeguarding of the vulnerable, 
was able to continue. 
 
Daily performance reports were also produced for Gold and Silver 
meetings providing up-to-date data of incidents so that the organisation 
could maintain its service levels. Reports and summaries were also 
prepared and published on the force intranet system in order to keep staff 
up to date by summarising the latest updates from national and regional 
governments and policing bodies.   
 
The Force did not experience the level of anticipated spike in absences as 
a result of Coronavirus and this was facilitated by robust daily 
management, clear guidance and recording protocols issued through an 
internal communications strategy and regular contact with officers and 
staff who were unwell or experiencing symptoms.  A new, central reporting 
line was established for officers and staff to phone into if they were unwell, 
which streamlined the process and made absence reporting more efficient 
and effective. 
 
Alternative accommodation was sourced for officers and staff who were 
unable to reside at home during the Coronavirus outbreak, due to living 
with vulnerable family members.  This provision enabled officers and staff 
to continue to work during the pandemic, whilst providing a level of 
protection to their family members.  
 
Welfare support for officers and staff has been prioritised by the 
Occupational Health Unit, and there was been a focus on arranging the 
Coronavirus testing of officers and staff and providing clear guidance about 
PPE, self-isolation and shielding.   
 
To maximise operational capability, officers and staff who were self-
isolating but had the ability to work from home were provided with a 

laptop (if they did not already have access to one) and tasked with 
organisationally important work.  The Force implemented a structured 
process to ensure those officers and staff were both properly supported 
and effectively tasked.  This involved personal telephone contact from a 
supervisor, which provided an opportunity for wellbeing check-ins and a 
skills and abilities assessment.  
 
The Force’s Public Service Centre (offering a first point of contact for the 
public) has continued to operate normally, after being redesigned and 
relocated to two separate sites to ensure the safety of officers and staff. 
There was a substantial increase in demand on the Social Media Desk, 
which was utilised in an effort to ensure that call demand and response 
times were maintained insofar as this was possible. The force also 
implemented Single Online Home during 2020/21 which enables police 
forces nationally to offer the public a consistent way of engaging with their 
local force and also in accessing police services online. South Wales Police 
with the other Welsh Forces also negotiated nationally to ensure that 
Welsh Language provision was made in this to meet the needs of our 
communities.         
 
With regards to officer training, the Learning and Development Services 
Department introduced online ‘virtual learning’ for new student officers.  
Online training was also implemented for other ongoing training (where 
appropriate) to ensure that the professionalisation of the service was 
maintained during this period. Online interviews were also arranged to 
ensure that recruitment flow was maintained. 
 
SIGNIFICANT GOVERNANCE ISSUES 

The following have been identified as significant governance issues that 
will need to be managed through 2021/22 (some of which have been 
carried forward).  They are drawn from the ongoing Joint Strategic Risk 

P
age 46



OFFICIAL SWYDDOGOL 

 

OFFICIAL SWYDDOGOL 

 

process (and an assessment of external and internal opportunities and 
threats): 

CORONAVIRUS: As noted, the Coronavirus pandemic, at the time of 
signing this Annual Governance Statement, has not adversely impacted 
upon the governance arrangements in place. Investment in digital and 
mobile technology, coupled with ‘cultural’ investment in agile working 
practices, has enabled both corporations sole to maintain business 
delivery. The impact of the coronavirus crisis is however anticipated to 
present a significant and continuing challenge for the force for the 
remainder for 2021/22 and in the future - and the force is working 
closely with other forces nationally, partners and other stakeholders to 
manage both the ongoing crisis as well as the longer term impact and 
the recovery from the same. Expenditure in 2020/21 responding to this 
critical incident was £4.2M. Forecasting future expenditure is difficult 
as this will be no doubt be directly related to the Welsh Government’s 
Alert Levels and any subsequent enforcement action required by the 
Force. Reserve levels could be affected if Government do not meet all 
expenditure through special grants. The pandemic has also 
demonstrated how public services are able to come together in a 
national emergency and there are real collaboration lessons to be 
preserved going forward.  

 Technology: There is a continuing financial challenge that impacts on 
our ability to maintain and improve services which has been further 
highlighted by the increased reliance upon mobile technology during 
the COVID 19 crisis. We need to realise the benefits of improved 
productivity through better use of technology, smarter ways of 
working and collaboration with partners.  

 Financial: The Commissioner and Chief Constable will continue to 
identify financial savings if faced with real term reductions in the core 
grant from Central Government, given the economic outlook.  The 
Commissioner and Chief Constable will also need to ensure that they 
are able to meet the consequences of any future Funding Formula 
Review, which could have a significant additional impact upon police 

and crime funding.  The current budget settlement means that the 
force has to continue to identify substantial savings to ensure it can 
achieve a balanced budget year on year and this is proving to be an 
increasingly difficult challenge. The establishment of a Productivity 
Innovation and Efficiency Board together with the force change 
projects will explore opportunities to realise efficiency savings and 
these will be built into the overarching value for money plan. The 
additional policing challenges faced by the force, in relation to policing 
a capital city and the desire of the Welsh Government to attract more 
events to South Wales following the recovery after the pandemic will 
also have an impact on the cost of policing. Without additional capital 
city funding, such additional demands are likely to have a detrimental 
impact on the force budget, against a backdrop of maintaining an 
effective policing service to our communities, improving performance, 
meeting the increased demands of new areas of criminality and 
realising continued efficiency savings. This is also viewed in the context 
of a significant threat to the sustainability of funding for key initiatives 
such as the apprenticeship programme. Whilst the Police Officer Uplift 
programme currently appears to be funded, there remains 
considerable uncertainty on its future funding both in terms increased 
wage costs and infrastructure maintenance.  

 

 Local Partners: Local partnership working is pursued vigorously by 
both the Commissioner and the Chief Constable.  Governance of our 
ongoing relationships with our partners to meet the needs of the 
vulnerable and issues of Child Sexual Exploitation and mental health 
services remain key, as does our participation on the Public Service 
Boards and the refreshed Community Safety Boards/Partnerships.  The 
Force will need to further develop partnership working to deliver the 
Welsh Government view of cohesive communities and to engage with 
the Welsh Government in the development of their Community 
Cohesion Plan. The support of our partner agencies through the Public 
Service Boards remains key in ensuring an integrated approach to 

P
age 47



OFFICIAL SWYDDOGOL 

 

 

 

22 

 

neighbourhood policing (including supporting the Citizens in Policing 
Programme) and the sustainability of existing partnership 
arrangements are essential to reduce and prevent crime.  

The capacity and effectiveness of the force in protecting vulnerable 
people is also intrinsically linked to the commitment and support of 
statutory and third sector partners. At present, a number of 
capabilities e.g. the community psychiatric nurse provision within our 

Public Service Centre, do not have sustainable funding models. Whilst 
significant leadership effort is being given to addressing such issues, 
there remains a risk that integrated approaches to safeguarding and 
protecting vulnerable people could be lost should wider public sector 
funding pressures continue. 

 

 Changing and increasing operational demands: Like other forces in 
England and Wales, until the COVID 19 lockdown period commenced 
at the beginning of 2020/21, South Wales Police was experiencing 
increased levels of recorded crime, especially in areas of violence, knife 
crime and in tackling vulnerability. Tackling vulnerability will remain 
one of the biggest challenges facing the force in the coming year as we 
hopefully enter in to the recovery phase of the pandemic – analytical 
data predicts significant increases in rape and serious sexual offences, 
stalking and harassment and child and adult abuse. Helping those in 
mental health crisis and finding missing people, especially vulnerable 
children and young people, are high demand areas and place particular 
stress on response policing resources. Responding to the challenges 
presented by online offending as well as protecting an increasingly 
larger aging population represent new challenges for forces across 
England and Wales. Anti-social behaviour and substance misuse linked 
to certain sections of the homeless community is also generating public 
concern. Whilst the force has taken steps to make the best use of 
investigative resources, these increases translate to greater demand 
on its investigative resources. Whilst the force has invested in its 

investigative capacity and capability, sustaining continued increases 
will be challenging – a situation compounded by the shortages of 
detectives and elevated levels of sickness in some of the force’s 
investigative functions as well as the ongoing impact of the COVID 19 
and increased areas of accreditation to national evidential standards 
particularly in the forensic science areas.  

 Collaboration: Appropriate governance of an expanding portfolio of 
collaborations both regionally and nationally will remain paramount 
during 2021/22. This includes the reviews of support functions within 
the four Welsh forces; regional crime; integrated offender 
management, and the Police ICT Company.    2021/22 will see the 
Commissioner and Chief Constable facing the continuing challenges 
associated with the continuing collaboration agenda both regionally 
(with changes to the firearms training model) and nationally (with the 
introduction of ESN and the digital file project in conjunction with the 
CPS). 
 

 Estate: The Commissioner – who has ownership of the Estate – has 
worked with the Chief Constable to develop a revised Estates Strategy. 
This builds on the redevelopment of Police Headquarters, Bridgend and 
involves significant challenges over the coming years. The Strategy aims 
to meet the changing nature of service delivery, the requirements of 
condition surveys and to ensure that our properties provide a safe 
working environment.    

 Future Generations Legislation: Whilst both the Commissioner and 
Force have sought to follow the principles set out in the Wellbeing of 
Future Generations (Wales) Act, going forward we will also need to take 
due account of the Future Generations legislation (to include the 
Wellbeing of Future Generations Bill which is going through its 
legislative process in England in 2020/21 and which will directly apply 
to both the Commissioner and the Chief Constable). 

P
age 48



OFFICIAL SWYDDOGOL 

 

OFFICIAL SWYDDOGOL 

 

 Developing our workforce: The Force is committed to implementing 
the College of Policing’s five year strategy to “professionalise” policing. 
This includes the new Policing Education Qualifications Framework 
(PEQF) intended to support the development of policing as a 
profession through the provision of a national approach to raising 
educational standards in policing. The introduction of protected 
assessment and learning time will reduce the availability of resources. 
This is particularly relevant for response policing given that this is the 
traditional point of entry for Student Officers. This will be particularly 
relevant during 2021/22 with the uplift in new recruits funded by the 
Government. The Force is also planning how to ensure that it maintains 
capacity, capability and experience to protect local communities. The 
above is in addition to the challenges presented by the Force’s 
priorities in 2020/21 regarding the further development of its leaders 
and in relation to the health, attendance and wellbeing of staff 
(notably after the COVID 19 crisis). 

    
 Agile Working: There will also be internal governance challenges for the 

Commissioner and Chief Constable as the Force further rolls out the 
principles of agile and field working - which have been further 
accelerated to allow business continuity and a new way of achieving 
service delivery during the COVID 19 crisis.  The challenge will include 
achieving the change in culture required whilst ensuring that there is no 
impact upon service delivery/continuity as well as collating any lessons 
learned from the COVID 19 period which can be taken forward in future 
delivery models.  
 

 Pension Regulations: The Force may need to absorb the consequences 
of challenges to the Police Regulations (notably in relation to terms and 
conditions).  The Pension Regulator is becoming more active in 
scrutinising the governance of public sector pension schemes, including 
the Police Pension Scheme. 
 

These areas continue to be monitored through the existing governance and 
risk management structures within the Office of the Commissioner and the 
Force as outlined above, and as set out in Appendix 1 hereto.  Where 
relevant, such issues are also reflected in the plan of future work to be 
undertaken by Internal Audit.  Action plans to deliver these changes and to 
mitigate any risks are being or have been implemented.  
 
CONCLUSION AND OPINION 
 
The Commissioner and Chief Constable are responsible for ensuring that 
their business is conducted in accordance with the law and proper 
standards, and that public money is safeguarded, properly accounted for, 
and used economically, efficiently and effectively.  In discharging this 
overall responsibility, they are responsible for putting in place proper 
arrangements for the governance of their affairs, facilitating the effective 
exercise of their functions, which includes arrangements for the 
management of risk. The impact of the Coronavirus pandemic, at the time 
of signing this Annual Governance Statement, has not adversely impacted 
upon the governance arrangements in place.  Indeed, recent investment in 
digital and mobile technology, coupled with ‘cultural’ investment in agile 
working practices, has enabled both corporations sole to maintain services 
effectively with a surge in demand in vulnerability anticipated. 
 
This Annual Governance Statement is designed to manage rather than 
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve these objectives; it can therefore 
only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness. 
Based upon the above review of the sources and effectiveness of assurance 
set out in this Annual Governance Statement, the Commissioner and Chief 
Constable are satisfied that they have in place reasonable governance 
arrangements, including appropriate systems of internal control and risk 
management, which facilitate the effective exercise of their functions. 
  

P
age 49



OFFICIAL SWYDDOGOL 

 

OFFICIAL SWYDDOGOL 

 

The Commissioner and Chief Constable propose over the coming year to 
take steps to address the Governance actions as outlined in the action plan, 
to ensure governance arrangements within the OPCC and the Force 
continue to be enhanced and improved as identified in their review of 
effectiveness.  The monitoring of their implementation and operation will 
form part of the next annual review. 
 
 
 

……………………………………………………….  
Police and Crime Commissioner for South Wales 
 
 
 
……………………………………………………….. 
Chief Constable of South Wales Police  
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
…………………………………………… 
Chief Executive (Commissioner) 
 
 
…………………………………………………….. 
Chief Finance Officer (Commissioner)  

 

……………………………………………………. 

Chief Financial Officer (CC)

  

P
age 50



 

 

APPENDIX 1 
 

Seven Core Principles of Good Governance 
The diagram below shows the relationship between the seven core 
principles of good governance. The central two principles underpin the 
whole framework and relate to ‘acting in the public interest’.  These two 
principles are implicit in the remaining five which concern ‘achieving good 
governance’. 

 

The review undertaken considered the range of evidence available: 
Internal and externally published material; professional independent 
opinion; and the views of senior management, the Police and Crime Panel 
and professional leads.  A summary of the evidence in support of the 
assessment can be found in this Appendix 1 (see below).     
 

P
age 51



 

 

The following tables details how the Commissioner and Chief Constable have complied with the governance framework to meet of each of the Nolan principles 
(as extended) and the seven international good governance principles. Each section of the statement includes a commentary on work undertaken during the 
last year, areas identified for development and improvement as part of the review process which will form an action plan for the forthcoming year.  
 
Nolan Principles 

Principle: What we do: Specific action taken in 2020/21 

Selflessness:  
 
Decisions will be 
taken solely in terms 
of the public interest, 
and not for personal 
financial or other 
gain, whether for 
such person, their 
family or their 
friends. 

Commissioner: 

 Compliance with the Elected Local Policing Bodies (Specified Information) 
Order 2011 and the Elected Local Policing Bodies (Specified Information) 
(Amendment) Order 2012 which requires the publication of information in 
relation to various matters including, the names of the Commissioner and 
Deputy Commissioner, correspondence address for each, salaries, expenses, 
register of interests and the number of complaints about them which are 
brought by the Police and Crime Panel. 

 Specific reference to interests on the decision form. 

 The Commissioner’s, Deputy Commissioner’s and senior officers’ salaries and 
expenses are disclosed in Statement of Accounts 

 Details of key decisions taken by the Commissioner are published on the 
website.  

Chief Constable:  

 The Force’s external website contains details of declared business interests 
and of gifts and hospitality accepted and declined by Chief Officers 

 Senior officers’ salaries and expenses are disclosed in Statement of Accounts 

 

 Updated details in relation to the 
‘Related Parties Disclosure’ in the Force 
accounts accord with the current 
guidance and the list of affected staff 
has been extended to ensure 
transparency.  

 Decision logs are maintained and 
updated regularly and that these are 
accessible on external websites. The 
website has been updated in 2020/21 
and is subject to regular audit. 

 Review of the Police and Crime 
Commissioners website ensuring ease of 
use and transparency – achieving the 
transparency award in terms of the 
information available  

Integrity: 
 
The Commissioner, 
the Chief Constable, 
their officers and 
staff will not place 
themselves under any 
financial or other 

Commissioner and Chief Constable:  

 Compliance with the Manual of Governance and Hallmarks of Relationships 
agreed between the Chief Constable and the Commissioner. 

 Ensuring that the register of gifts and hospitality is updated as and when 
offers are received. 

 Ensuring related parties’ disclosure in the Statement of Accounts.  

 The Code of Ethics is embedded through 
the work the Internal Ethics Committee 
with issues being escalated to the 
Independent Ethics Committee. Staff 
awareness of these issues are being 
monitored and assessed by use of 
surveys. ACC Mark Travis assumed the 

P
age 52



 

 

obligation to outside 
individuals or 
organisations that 
may seek to influence 
them in the 
performance of their 
official duties. 
 

IFGG Standard 1: 
Behave with 
integrity, 
demonstrating 
strong commitment 
to ethical values and 
respecting the rule 
of law 

 

 The chief officer team creates a climate of ethical behaviour and encourages 
others to challenge unprofessional behaviour, leading by example. Officers and 
staff are aware of the boundaries of professional behaviour, and more serious 
unprofessional behaviour is investigated by the professional standards 
department. 

 The force has utilised a variety of media to raise awareness of integrity issues 
for staff. In addition, training on ethical behaviour and integrity has been 
provided, as have arrangements to ensure that staff understand and adhere to 
the Code of Ethics. The Inspectorate has previously noted that good 
governance arrangements are in place within the Force to monitor integrity-
related issues.  

 The central register of gifts and hospitality is well used and includes offers to 
staff that are declined. HMICFRS have noted that the force’s business interest 
policy is clear and well documented. All requests for authorisation of a business 
interest are recorded in a central electronic register. There are confidential 
mechanisms and a clear policy to support staff reporting wrongdoing.  

 Chief Officers maintain a register in which they disclose any media contacts in 
accordance with the recommendation (no 76) made by Leveson.  

lead for Ethics within the Force in 
2020/21.   

 The ethics work undertaken by the force 
and issues therefrom are being escalated 
with increased engagement nationally 
during 2020/21 via the NPCC UK Police 
Ethics Guidance Group (UKPEGG).  

 Partnership funding: The Commissioner 
continues to support local Community 
Safety and Youth Offending 
arrangements while both the 
Commissioner and the Chief Constable 
seek to influence and make effective the 
work of crime prevention through local 
partnership arrangements.   

 Further development of the role of the 
Police Accountability and Legitimacy 
Board in support of oversight and 
accountability.  

 The Durham University Survey again 
recorded excellent results in terms of the 
corporate health/staff engagement.  

 Oversight of Gifts and Hospitality 
Register by the Monitoring Officer and 
the Deputy Monitoring Officer.  

 

Objectivity: 
In carrying out public 
business, including 
making public 
appointments, 
awarding contracts, 
or recommending 

Commissioner:  

 All posts are made on merit in compliance with section 7 of the Local 
Government and Housing Act 1989. 

 All posts within the Commissioner’s staff are politically restricted, with the 
exception of the Commissioner and Deputy Commissioner. 

 

 All appointments have been made in 
compliance with the requirements of the 
Act and Regulations – this included the 
executive appointments in 2020/21 of a 

P
age 53



 

 

 

individuals for 
rewards and benefits, 
the Commissioner, 
the Chief Constable, 
their officers and 
staff will make 
choices on merit. 

 The Monitoring Officer and Chief Financial Officer have specific legal 
responsibilities to advise on the lawfulness and budget implications of 
transactions. 

 Where relevant, details of posts are included within the annual Statement of 
Accounts. 

Commissioner and Chief Constable:  

 The Manual of Governance (including the Financial Regulations and the 
Standing Orders Relating to Contracts) expressly provide for the processes to 
be applied in relation to contracts.  Such processes are transparent and 
auditable with full use being made of the etenderwales and Sell2Wales 
systems.  

 Contract documentation is published on the Blue Light Police Database, 
which is a national system accessible by the public.  

 Contracts are also published in accordance with all legal requirements to 
ensure transparency. 

 All force appointments (both into operational and support roles) are made in 
accordance with force recruitment policies and in accordance with the 
requirements of current legislation.   

Chief Constable and a Deputy Chief 
Constable.   

 External processes were also followed 
for the appointment of new members to 
both the Joint Audit Committee and the 
Independent Ethics Committee 

 Regular review by the Monitoring Officer 
and the Deputy Monitoring Officer of 
activity. 

 
 

Accountability:  
 
The Commissioner, 
the Chief Constable, 
their officers and 
staff will be 
accountable for their 
decisions and actions 
to the public and will 
submit themselves to 
whatever scrutiny is 
appropriate. 
 

Commissioner and Chief Constable:  

 Informed and Transparent Decisions: All decision making operates within the 
specific legislative and regulatory frameworks that confer on both the 
Commissioner and the Chief Constable duties, powers and responsibilities.   

 As set out above, the Commissioner holds the Chief Constable to account for 
the maintenance of an efficient and effective force. The Commissioner and the 
Chief Constable ensure that information relating to decisions is made readily 
available to local people.  

 Risk remains a standing agenda item on all strategic meetings within the Force 
and all decision-making meetings of the Commissioner. The joint risk 
management adopted by the Commissioner and the Chief Constable (through 
the Uncertainty Register and Issues Log) establishes how risk is embedded 
throughout the various elements of corporate governance of the 
corporation(s) sole.  

 

 The Joint Audit Committee has continued 
to hold all of its planned formal meetings 
during the course of the year despite 
moving to virtual format due to the 
pandemic restrictions.  The Committee 
has also met virtually on a number of 
occasions for training and briefing on 
topical matters. As an advisory body, the 
Committee has undertaken a significant 
amount of work to review and make 
recommendations in respect of the 
arrangements adopted by the 
Commissioner and the Chief Constable 

P
age 54



 

 

IFGG Standard 6: 
Manage risks and 
performance through 
robust internal control 
and strong public 
financial 
management.  
 
IFGG Standard 4: 
Determine the 
interventions 
necessary to optimise 
the achievement of 
the intended 
outcomes. 

 The Chief Finance Officers for the Commissioner and for the Chief Constable 
advise their respective corporation sole on the safeguarding of assets, risk 
management and insurance. They ensure that in relation to any strategic 
business decisions of the Commissioner and the Chief Constable, that 
consideration is given to immediate and longer-term implications, 
opportunities and risks.  

 Part of the approach to risk management involves the purchasing of 
insurance cover to protect assets and liabilities where it is either required or 
cost effective to do so. The organisation is proactive in self-insuring some 
elements of the overall insurance package. The Commissioner and Chief 
Constable maintain an insurance provision which is reviewed annually to help 
meet claims. 

 Decision record published on public website in compliance with the 2011 and 
2012 Orders and with the requirements of section 11 of the Police Reform 
and Social Responsibility Act 2011. 

 The Commissioner provides the Police and Crime Panel with any information 
which it may reasonably require (in compliance with section 13 of the Police 
Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011) and also seeks to keep them 
informed of significant developments. The Commissioner produces an annual 
report in accordance with section 12 of the Police Reform and Social 
Responsibility Act 2011. The Panel do not scrutinise the performance of the 
Chief Constable or those responsible to him as this is the responsibility of the 
Commissioner, but both the Commissioner and the Chief Constable seek to 
ensure that Panel Members are well informed on operational issues. The 
meetings of the Panel are held in public and it met 4 times during 2020/21.  

   Statement of Accounts are produced annually and subject to public inspection 
and audit by Audit Wales. Audit Wales report by exception on the Joint Annual 
Governance Statement. Audit Wales assess the arrangements for securing 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of resources 

 The Commissioner and Chief Constable jointly commission an Internal Audit 
service and have agreed the audit plan 

during the last year for governance and 
management of uncertainty/risk. 

 Induction training is provided for new 
members of both the Joint Audit 
Committee and the Independent Ethics 
Committee.   

 During 2020/21 the matters identified 
through the Joint Uncertainty Register 
and Issues Log have been managed 
through the meeting infrastructure set 
out in the Governance Operating Model 
and the Manual of Governance albeit 
that these have been predominantly 
undertaking in a virtual format. Chief 
Officers and members of the 
Commissioner’s Executive Group 
continue to own and manage the issues 
relevant to their remit and the risks or 
‘uncertainties’ are captured in a Joint 
Uncertainty Register.  

 The Force has committed to a joint police 
collaborative procurement strategy in 
order to ensure that it secures the best 
value for money and during 2020/21 
work was undertaken to further embed 
the collaborative procurement 
arrangements between South Wales 
Police and Gwent Police with the 
creation of a Joint Commercial Services 
and Procurement Unit  between South 
Wales and Gwent Police that also 
provides strategic input to Dyfed Powys 
Police.   

P
age 55



 

 

 

 An independent Joint Audit Committee appointed jointly by the Commissioner 
and the Chief Constable meets quarterly and this operates in line with guidance 
from the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) and 
the Financial Management Code of Practice 

 The HMICFRS conducts its own comprehensive inspection of Force 
performance and the Commissioner comments on the findings. HMICFRS 
reports are published on their website and are publicly accessible.  

 Agreed a forward scrutiny programme alongside revised governance 
arrangements  

 
 

Openness:  
 
The Commissioner, 
the Chief Constable, 
their officers and 
staff will be as open 
as possible about all 
decisions and action 
they take.  Reasons 
for decisions will be 
made available and 
information will be 
restricted only when 
so required by the 
wider public interest. 
 

IFGG Standard 2: 
Ensure openness 
and comprehensive 
stakeholder 
engagement 

IFGG Standard 3: 
Define outcomes in 

 The Commissioner and Chief Constable have adopted arrangements for 
effective engagement with key stakeholders, ensuring that where 
appropriate such stakeholders remain closely involved in decision making, 
accountability and the future direction of the service.   

 In compliance with the Elected Local Policing Bodies (Specified Information) 
Orders 2011 and 2012 (and the guidance provided by the Information 
Commissioner) a range of information has been made publically available 
through the force and Commissioner’s websites over the course of the last 
year. The Commissioner’s decisions, which are of significant public interest, 
are publicised on his website (unless there are specific reasons why a decision 
should be exempt).  

 On-line public survey work undertaken in 2020/21 included a survey in 
relation to the precept in which the Commissioner sought views both on the 
proposed level of increase and also how this should be spent.  

 The Commissioner and the Chief Constable have established a Police 
Accountability and Legitimacy Group which enables external organisations 
and independent advisors to act as critical friends to the force insofar as they 
provide challenge on the legitimacy and fairness of force policies and 
practices; they provide independent oversight and scrutiny in respect of 
fairness at work issues, diversity in the workplace, equality act issues, the use 
of policing powers (including stop and search,the use of force, Automatic 
Facial Recognition), the accessibility of the police conduct and complaints 
system), policy and practice development, engagement and interaction with 

 Public consultation and/or engagement 
has been undertaken in 2020/21 in 
accordance with a comprehensive 
engagement strategy (albeit that more 
had to be undertaken online during 
2020/21). This approach includes: 

 Regular meetings with the Leaders and 
Chief Executives of the seven local 
authorities 

 Frequent meetings with other key 
partners, including the Welsh 
Government 

 Public consultation on the Police and 
Crime Reduction Plan and Medium Term 
Financial Strategy 

 Widespread use of social media and the 
Commissioner’s website 

 Press, TV and radio articles and 
interviews 

 Responding to complaints 
 Public satisfaction surveys (COMPASS) 

 Victim satisfaction surveys 

P
age 56



 

 

terms of sustainable 
economic social and 
environmental 
benefits. 

the public. They also monitor the progress of any relevant inspectorate 
recommendations and provide an external perspective to the force in terms 
of public and community perceptions (including victims and offenders). 
Current external representation on PALG consists of representatives from: 
The Council for Wales of Voluntary Youth Services (CWVYS), Disability Wales, 
Ethnic Minorities & Youth Support Team Wales (EYST), Equality & Human 
Rights Commission, Gofal, Gypsies & Travellers Wales, Hafal, Learning 
Disability Wales, Older People’s Commissioner for Wales, Race Equality First, 
South Wales Victim Focus, Sport Wales, Welsh Refugee Council, Welsh 
Government, Independent adviser (LGBT and neurodiversity specialisms). 

 Feedback from PALG on a variety of 
topics (see opposite) 

 Precept consultation report reported to 
the Police and Crime Panel 

 Community engagement on specific 
topics such as Stop and Search 

 During 2021/22 there will be 
arrangements made with stakeholders to 
collate and take forward lessons learned 
from the policing response to the 
COVID19 crisis.    

Honesty:  
The Commissioner, 
the Chief Constable, 
their officers and staff 
will have a duty to 
declare any private 
interests relating to 
public duties and to 
take steps to resolve 
any conflicts arising in 
a way that protects 
the public interest. 
 
IFGG Standard 7: 
Implement good 
practices in 
transparency, 
reporting and audit to 
deliver effective 
accountability  

Commissioner:  

 A Register is maintained of the Police and Crime Commissioner’s disclosable 
interests in accordance with Schedule 1, Paragraph 1(e) of the Elected Local 
Policing Bodies (Specified Information) Order 2011 (as amended) 

Chief Constable:  

 Any business interests are disclosed and maintained in a Register (which is 
accessible to the public) 

 Reminders were sent out to the force in case personal circumstances had 
changed in respect of the disclosable interests to ensure compliance 

 Chief Officer pay, expenses and hospitality are posted on the force’s website. 

 The Police (Conduct) Regulations introduced in 2020 a “practice requirement 
improvement” process. A practice requiring improvement is, by regulation 3, 
underperformance or conduct not amounting to misconduct or gross 
misconduct, but which falls short of the expectations of the public and the 
police service.  

 
 

 
Professional Standards continue to monitor 
compliance by police staff with these 
requirements.  

 

Leadership:  
 

Commissioner and Chief Constable:  

o Adoption of Nolan Principles in the Manual of Governance 
 Continued implementation of the 

recommendations from the Gender 

P
age 57



 

 

 

The Commissioner, 
the Chief Constable, 
their officers and staff 
will promote and 
support these 
principles through 
leadership and by 
example. 
 
IFGG Standard 5: 
Develop the entity’s 
capacity, including the 
capability of its 
leadership and the 
individuals within it.  

o Adoption and embedding of the Code of Ethics (including the establishment 
of a joint Independent Ethics Committee)   

o Clearly defined Executive Team  
o Adoption of Investors in People by the Commissioner’s team and key 

departments within the Force 
o The Police and Crime Reduction Plan outlines the police and crime objectives 

(outcomes) and the strategic direction for policing. The Commissioner and the 
Chief Constable both have regard to the Plan.  

o Adoption of revised Governance structure and scrutiny programme 
Chief Constable:  
o A medium term financial strategy has been jointly developed and is reviewed 

quarterly to support delivery of these plans. 
o All new starters in the Force (and new ‘leaders’ upon promotion) receive an 

information package from the Head of the Professional Standards 
Department – this outlines major areas of organisational risk and the 
behavioural expectations for all staff. (This is reinforced by an induction 
session for all new staff). An internal website is also maintained which 
contains information and guidance on ethics and behaviour.   

The Nolan Principles refer to Leadership only in terms of promoting and supporting 
the principles of Conduct in Public Life but the Commissioner and the Chief 
Constable are explicitly committed to providing a robust, timely and supportive 
response to events that affect the public and our communities  - recent illustrative 
examples include the policing of the Coronavirus which focussed upon engaging 
and educating communities and in which South Wales Police adopted a 4E 
approach with enforcement being the final option only.   

Equality review undertaken with a view 
to improving the recruitment, retention 
and progression of women within SWP.  

 Continuing to provide support for 
people from BAME backgrounds who 
are interested in a career within SWP 
and to support the work of the joint 
Representative Workforce Model. 

 Implementation of a new PERFORM 
system for the professional 
development of staff which supports the 
HMICFRS recommendations in terms of 
using such process effectively to identify 
leadership potential 

 The Commissioner and the Chief 
Constable have shown leadership in 
developing partnership working at local 
and All-Wales level and this is expected 
to develop significantly in 2020-2021 
especially in terms of Community Safety, 
Police-led work on Adverse Childhood 
Experiences, the partnership with Public 
Health Wales, and the work of the All-
Wales Criminal Justice Board   

 Attainment of Investors in People for 
the Police and Crime Commissioner’s 
team 

 Organisational development and 
training programme developed for both 
corporations sole. 

Fairness:  
The Commissioner, 
the Chief Constable, 

Commissioner and Chief Constable:   The Commissioner has continued to 
drive efforts to achieve a more 

P
age 58



 

 

their officers and staff 
will act with fairness 
and impartiality. 

 The Commissioner and Chief Constable strive to treat each other fairly, with 
dignity and with respect, and this is reflected in their agreed Decision Making 
and Accountability Framework within the Manual. 

 Duties are undertaken in accordance with the laws relating to human rights 
and equality.   

 It is recognised that some individuals who come into contact with the police 
are vulnerable and that many require additional support and assistance.  

 A proactive approach is taken to opposing discrimination and this is reflected 
in the learning strategies of the force.   

 
 
 

representative workforce - through 
recruitment, retention and progression 
of officers and staff members.   

 During 2020/21 the force continued to 
take proactive steps to ensure that its 
future workforce will be more 
representative of the communities it 
serves. Support was given to individuals 
from BAME backgrounds who are 
interested in a career with the force 
(including events to promote the range 
of roles available). The Force was keen to 
learn lessons and therefore 
commissioned an independent review of 
its Representative Workforce project 
from the College of Policing.   

 The force also ensured that training on 
cultural awareness was given to its senior 
leadership team and that “Lets Talk 
About Race” engagement training was 
rolled out on a forcewide basis (being 
undertaken through virtual online 
forums during the pandemic) to raise 
awareness amongst all officers and staff.    

 A Joint Equality Plan was developed in 
2020/21 and a new lead officer was 
appointed to take forward equality and 
diversity issues. This work will continue 
in 2021/22.    

 

Respect:  
 

Commissioner:   2020/21 saw the Force and the 
Commissioner (due to additional 
responsibilities) embedding the changes 

P
age 59



 

 

 

The Commissioner, 
the Chief Constable, 
their officers and 
staff will act with 
self-control and 
tolerance, treating 
members of the 
public and colleagues 
with respect and 
courtesy. 

 The Commissioner is responsible for handling any complaints and conduct 
matters in relation to the Chief Constable, monitoring complaints against his 
staff, and monitoring the way in which South Wales Police complies with the 
requirements of the Independent Office of Police Complaints.   

 Handling of reviews in accordance to the changes imposed by the Policing and 
Crime Act 2017 

Chief Constable:  

 The Chief Constable manages all complaints against the Force, its officers and 
staff and ensures that the Commissioner is kept informed.  

 Serious complaints and matters to do with conduct are referred to the 
Independent Office of Police Complaints in line with the requirements of 
legislation.  

   The Police Staff Council has adopted standards of professional behaviour that 
reflect relevant principles enshrined in the European Convention on Human 
Rights and the Council of Europe Code of Police Ethics.   These apply to all 
police staff.   

Commissioner and Chief Constable 

 Authority is only exercised in a way which is proportionate, lawful, 
accountable, necessary and ethical. 

 Implementation of the Code of Ethics and the oversight and recommendations 
provided by the Joint Independent Ethics Committee which meets quarterly.  

 Feedback from PALG in relation to any issues which are fed back to Lessons 
Learned forums internally  

 The DCC chairs a monthly Confidence and Legitimacy Group which seeks to 
identify and monitor any issues of concern and to ensure that lessons learned 
are addressed and implemented from the same.  

 A mandatary PERFORM system of personal development is in place for each 
police officer and member of police staff. This process allows for focussed 
performance review on no less than a quarterly basis and for the setting of 
targeted objectives (which are directly linked to the delivery of the 
Commissioner’s Police and Crime Plan and the Chief Constable’s Delivery Plan 
and Change Programme).   

to the complaints and discipline system 
introduced by the Policing and Crime Act 
2017.    

P
age 60



 

 

APPENDIX 2: CIPFA FM CODE. ANNUAL ASSESSMENT/ACTION PLANS:  

In the development of the FM Code, CIPFA has considered its ambition; the 
timescale for implementation; and the wider resource challenges facing 
relevant public bodies in light of the Coronavirus pandemic.  Consequently, 
CIPFA considered that the implementation date of April 2020 for the CIPFA 
Code of Practice on Financial Management (the FM Code) should indicate 
the commencement of a shadow year and that by 31st March 2021, 
relevant public bodies (including South Wales Police) should be able to 
demonstrate that they are working towards full implementation of the FM 
Code.   

The first full year of compliance with the FM Code will therefore be 
2021/22, with 2020-21 being a ‘shadow’ year of compliance that will allow 
organisations time to put corrective action in place where they are deemed 
not to be compliant with the FM Code. As such there has been no 
requirement in this ‘Shadow’ year for review by internal and external audit. 

As South Wales Police needed to apply the requirements of the FM Code 
with effect from 1st April 2020 (shadow year), the 2020/21 budget setting 
process provided an opportunity for assessment of elements of the FM 
Code before April 2020 and provided a platform for good governance and 
financial management to be demonstrable throughout 2020/21.  

 
Both the Commissioner and Chief Constable recognise that their 
organisations will need time to reflect on the contents of the FM Code and 
used 2020/21 to demonstrate how they are working towards 
compliance.  Existing and future financial management governance 
arrangements have therefore been taken into account, both in reviewing 
our governance arrangements and in preparing this Annual Governance 
Statement. 
 
The expectation of the FM Code is that relevant public bodies will have to 
comply with all the financial management standards, if they are to 
demonstrate compliance with the FM Code.  It is important to note 
however, that whilst compliance with the CIPFA financial management 
standards is obligatory, the FM Code is not prescriptive about how this is 
achieved.  This is important as CIPFA recognises that policing has, in some 
respects, different practices from other public bodies such as Local 
Authorities. 
 
In compliance with the expectations of the shadow year of 
implementation, South Wales Police’s 2020/21 assessment against the FM 
Code’s financial management standards (and the further actions identified 
as being needed) is detailed in this Appendix 2 below:  

 Question Answer RAG Areas for improvement 

     

Section 1 - The Responsibilities of the Chief Finance Officer and Leadership Team 
 

     

A The leadership team is able to demonstrate that the services provided by the authority provide value for money 

1 Does the authority have a clear and consistent 
understanding of what value for money means to it and 
to its leadership team? 

There is clear reference to VFM in the Medium Term 
Financial Strategy (MTFS), the Chief Constable’s 
Delivery Plan and the Procurement Strategy.  
Audit Wales consider annually the arrangements for 
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness to 
underpin their value for money conclusion.    

G VFM considerations will be 
kept under constant review 

P
age 61



 

 

 

 

2 Does the authority have suitable mechanisms in place to 
promote value for money at a corporate level and at the 
level of individual services? 

VFM is embedded in all procurement documentation 
and all procurement staff are fully au fait with the 
need to demonstrate VFM through tenders and 
contracts.  
 
A corporate framework of management procedures 
and rules for securing value for money is incorporated 
in the PCC/Force ‘Joint Corporate Governance 
Framework’ and ‘Financial Regulations’.   
 
At an individual service level, the DCC COG meeting 
monthly reviews effective operational performance 
within respective Chief Officer portfolios.  
The Chief Constable chairs a monthly Gold meeting 
where issues from the DCC COG Board are escalated. 
The Commissioner also chairs a quarterly Strategic 
Board which considers organisational and financial 
performance.  

G  

3 Is the authority able to demonstrate the action that it has 
taken to promote value for money and what it has 
achieved? 

The approach to savings and change adopted by the 
Force is evidenced by the savings delivery record in 
place since 2010. The on-going need to make savings 
will remain and the Force is well placed to deliver these 
albeit that it is important that the Force maintains its 
focus on efficiency and productivity. The actual delivery 
of £56M of recurring cash savings during austerity 
whilst also improving the policing services to the public. 
The Medium Term Financial Strategy sets out South 
Wales Police comparative performance with its most 
similar family of forces and exemplifies the relative 
Value For Money through crime prevention and 
experience. 
 
Actions are taken from the DCC COG service-level 
reviews and Force Performance Group meetings and 
are followed up 
 

  

P
age 62



 

 

Procurement savings are reported to Blue Light 
Commercial on a quarterly basis 
 
Contract management is undertaken by service 
stakeholders, with strategic oversight from the 
Procurement department. 
 

B The authority complies with the CIPFA Statement on the Role of the Chief Finance Officer in Local Government 

1 Is the authority’s CFO a key member of the leadership 
team, involved in, and able to bring influence to bear on, 
all material business decisions? 

Both CFOs (Force and OPCC) are members of their 
respective leadership teams and report directly to the 
Chief Constable and Commissioner respectively. This is 
consistent with CIPFA’s (revised) document ‘The Role 
of the CFO in Policing.’ 

G  

2 Does the CFO lead and champion the promotion and 
delivery of good financial management across the 
authority? 

Yes, both CFOs champion and lead the promotion and 
delivery of good financial management in the Force 
and OPCC 

G  

3 Is the CFO suitably qualified and experienced? Yes, both CFOs are suitably qualified and experienced G  

4 Is the finance team suitably resourced and fit for purpose? Yes. Ideally more resources would be beneficial, but 
the force finance team is properly resourced in terms 
of capacity and capability, and the annual  internal and 
external audit opinions over many years demonstrate 
that the finance team performs to a high standard.    

G  

Section 2 - Governance and Financial Management Style 
 

C The leadership team demonstrates in its actions and behaviours responsibility for governance and internal control 

1 Does the leadership team espouse the Nolan principles? The Manual of Governance explicitly sets out the 
commitment of the leadership teams for both the 
Commissioner and the Chief Constable to abide by the 
seven principles set out in the Standards of Public Life 
(known as the Nolan Principles) as later extended by 
the Code of Ethics.       
 
Yes, the code of ethics is a key feature for all police 
officers and staff and is promoted during induction 
training and courses .  Regular online  training is also 
provided and followed up to ensure compliance.  

G  

P
age 63



 

 

 

 

 
The Commissioner and Chief Constable have 
established a joint Independent Ethics Committee and 
a separate internal ethics committee and members of 
the leadership team(s) are represented on both.   
 
All force policies and procedures embed the key 
principles from the Code of Ethics 
 

2 Does the authority have in place a clear framework for 
governance and internal control?] 

Yes, the PCC and Chief Constable review and update 
their joint corporate governance manual on a regular 
basis. The Annual Governance Statement clearly 
documents the arrangements and these are evidenced 
as part of this annual process of review.  
     

G  

3 Has the leadership put in place effective arrangements for 
assurance, internal audit and internal accountability? 

The Joint Audit Committee (JAC) considers both the 
annual internal audit plan and all internal audit reports 
and management actions. The shaping of the internal 
audit plan also seeks to give assurance o key internal 
controls. Internal Audit also provides reports to each 
JAC as well as providing an annual audit opinion (as set 
out in this Annual Governance Statement).  
 
 
Good behaviour and accountability is discussed during 
all staff and officer  perform reviews annually 
(performance development process) 
 
There is a whistleblowing policy which is managed and 
reports of any breaches investigated by the 
Professional Standards Department (PSD) 
 
The PCC and Chief Constable have jointly procured 
through an open tender process an externally 
provided internal audit service that reports to both 

G  P
age 64



 

 

CFOs. This Internal Audit service attends and provides 
regular reports to each  meeting of the JAC 
 
 
 
There is a Force policy on gifts and hospitality, which is 
managed and promoted by PSD, and which also 
applies to the Commissioner’s Team. 
 

4 Does the leadership team espouse high standards of 
governance and internal control? 

Please see the response to C2 above. Much work has 
been undertaken over recent years to fundamentally 
review and strengthen the joint governance 
arrangements (as evidenced in the AGS for 2019/20) 
and such arrangements continue to evolve to ensure 
that they are fit for purpose and meet organisational 
needs. The Manual of Governance sets out clear 
responsibilities for decision making.       
 
 
All key PCC decisions of significant public interest are 
published on his website including full supporting 
documentation  
Code of Conduct & business interests – see C1 and C3 
above 
 

G  

5 Does the leadership team nurture a culture of effective 
governance and robust internal control across the 
authority? 

The Corporate Governance Manual includes Financial 
Regulations. These are regularly reviewed and 
updated. These are also supported by more detailed 
Chief Constable Financial Instructions which provide 
guidance at the practitioner level. 
 

G  

D The authority applies the CIPFA/SOLACE Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: Framework (2016) 

1 Has the authority sought to apply the principles, behaviour 
and actions set out in the Framework to its own 
governance arrangements? 

Yes, as evidenced through the Annual Governance 
Statement 

G  

P
age 65



 

 

 

 

2 Does the authority have in place a suitable local code of 
governance? 

Yes, the PCC and Chief Constable publish a Joint 
Manual of Corporate Governance, which includes sets 
out local governance arrangements, including a 
scheme of consent and delegation, financial 
regulations, hallmarks of relationship and standing 
orders relating to contracts. This is updated regularly 
and reviewed by JAC 

G  

3 Does the authority have a robust assurance process to 
support its AGS? 

The AGS is prepared by the Head of Joint Legal 
Servicer in conjunction with  both CFOs, the Head of 
Finance, the Commissioner’s CEO and relevant 
stakeholders. A draft version of the AGS is presented 
to JAC before publication for comments 

G  

E The Financial Management Style of the authority supports financial sustainability 

1 Does the authority have in place an effective framework of 
financial accountability? 

Yes, through the Manual of Corporate Governance, 
including Financial Regulations and contract 
regulations.  
 

G  

2 Is the authority committed to continuous improvement in 
terms of the economy, efficiency, effectiveness and equity 
of its services? 

The Force maintains a record of specific efficiency and 
effectiveness reviews. Please see the previous 
responses in Section A above. 
 

G  

3 Does the authority’s finance team have appropriate input 
into the development of strategic and operational plans? 

The Chief Constable’s CFO is a member of the Chief 
Officer Team and I integral to the development of all 
strategic plans. Finance Business Partners are engaged 
at an operational level.  
 
The Commissioner’s CFO is a member of the PCC’s 
senior Executive Team and also sits on a number of 
strategic boards to provide input, challenge and 
scrutiny. 
 
Senior finance representatives sit on all key decision 
making and informative boards e.g. Chief Constable’s 
Gold Innovation group, Establishment Control Group, 
Collaboration Board(s), and Specific Purpose Boards. 
 

G  

P
age 66



 

 

4 Do managers across the authority possess sufficient 
financial literacy to deliver services cost effectively and to 
be held accountable for doing so? 

The Corporate Finance Department has specific finance 
business partners for each area of business, which 
strengthens the link between business and finance 
 
We will be assessing the financial training requirements 
of all stakeholders and plan a roll out of a 
comprehensive training programme including an in-
house developed training package which is currently 
being finalised by Finance/L&D departments 

A  

5 Has the authority sought an external view on its financial 
style, for example through a process of peer review? 

The Force has subscribed to the CIPFA Achieving 
Financial Excellence in Policing programme which 
includes a peer review using a CIPFA toolkit. 

G  

6 Do individuals with governance and financial management 
responsibilities have suitable delegated powers and 
appropriate skills and training to fulfil these 
responsibilities?   

Yes, as set out in the Manual of Governance including 
the Financial Regulations therein.  
 

G  

Section 3 - Long to Medium Term Financial Management 
 

F The authority has carried out a credible and transparent Financial Resilience Assessment 

1 Has the authority undertaken a Financial Resilience 
Assessment? 

The Medium Term Financial Strategy is a 
comprehensive assessment of the financial resilience 
and the resource requirements, it has proven its worth 
by informing funding and savings decisions , it is 
underpinned by the Force Management Statement, 
Force Strategic Threat Risk harm Assessment, ten year 
Estate strategy, 5 year procurement and fleet strategies 
as well a digital services and ICT strategy. The forward 
projections are based on sound evidence and 
professional judgement on the national economic 
assessment. There is firm commitment to the 
prudential code and an effective Reserve Strategy .The 
Chief Financial Officers are adequately represented on 
National Forums to better anticipate demand and 
resource implications. 
 

G A review will be undertaken as 
soon as the toolkit is ready 

P
age 67



 

 

 

 

The CIPFA Financial Resilience Assessment toolkit has, 
however, not been extended to cover local policing 
bodies 

2 Has the Assessment tested the resilience of the authority’s 
financial plans to a broad range of alternative scenarios? 

As above G  

3 Has the authority taken appropriate action to address any 
risks identified as part of the assessment   

As above G  

G The authority understands its prospects for financial sustainability in the longer term and has reported this clearly to Members 

1 Does the authority have a sufficiently robust 
understanding of the risks to its financial sustainability? 

The key risks are highlighted in the MTFS and annual 
budget and there are Uncertainty and Issues registers 
maintained by the force to manage organisational and 
strategic risk.   
 

G  

2 Does the authority have a strategic plan and long-term 
financial strategy that address adequately these risks? 

Yes, the MTFS is reviewed and updated annually. This 
also links to the annual work undertaken in terms of 
the Force Management Statement. We also publish a 
separate report on reserves, balances and provisions. 
 

G  

3 Has the authority sought to understand the impact on its 
future financial sustainability of the strategic, operational 
and financial challenges that it might face (e.g. using a 
technique such as scenario planning)? 

Scenario planning is used internally to formulate the 
medium-term financial plans. 
 
Published budget reports include a risk assessment 
which highlights the financial risk to key budget 
assumptions e.g. changes in future pay awards, 
precept levels etc. 
 
The risk assessment priorities detailed in the Force 
Management Statement are reflected within the 
MTFS. The MTFS fully documents the key budgetary 
assumptions in terms of future pay awards, 
inflationary increases, changes in grant funding and 
potential precept levels etc  
 

G  

4 Has the authority reported effectively to the leadership 
team and to members its prospects for long-term financial 

Regular reports to the respective Leadership Teams, 
the Commissioner’s Strategic Board and the Police & 

G  

P
age 68



 

 

sustainability, the associated risks and the impact of these 
for short- and medium-term decision making? 

Crime Panel during the budget preparation process 
highlight the various risks and possible scenarios.  
 
During the year revenue and capital monitoring 
reports are received by the Resources Board and 
exception items reported upwards to the 
Commissioner’s Strategic Board, highlighting changes 
in significant risks and issues, and suggesting 
appropriate action. There is regular discussion of 
financial considerations and risks at key strategic and 
executive boards and these are reported and 
escalated accordingly.  
 

H The authority complies with the CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities 

1 Has the authority prepared a suitable capital strategy? Yes, this was approved as part of the MTFS by the 
Police & Crime Panel in February 2021 

G  

2 Has the authority set prudential indicators in line with the 
Prudential Code? 

Yes, these are included in the Annual Treasury 
Management Strategy Statement 

G  

3 Does the authority have in place suitable mechanisms for 
monitoring its performance against the prudential 
indicators that it has set? 

Yes, these are monitored by the Resources Board G  

I The authority has a rolling multi-year Medium Term Financial Plan consistent with sustainable service plans 

1 Does the authority have in place an agreed medium-term 
financial plan? 

Yes, we published our MTFS in February 2021 and this 
covers the period 2021/22 to 2024/25, alongside the 
annual revenue budget 
 

G  

2 Is the medium-term financial plan consistent with and 
integrated into relevant service plans and its capital 
strategy? 

Yes. Considerable work is undertaken to align the 
MTFS such plans  

G  

3 Has the medium-term financial plan been prepared on the 
basis of a robust assessment of relevant drivers of cost 
and demand? 

The MTFS has been prepared to reflect the current 
review of demand undertaken by the force alongside 
the prioritised risks identified as part of the FMS. The 
MTFS includes both capital and revenue implications 
of transformation and technological programmes and 
projects together with a range of local, regional and 
national initiatives. DCC COG and Gold (as 

G  

P
age 69



 

 

 

 

appropriate) also considers information on current 
and future operational demand pressures (as currently 
known) including the implications for new technology 
and equipment. The Force also considers relevant 
NPCC guidance and best practice e.g. stop & search, 
body worn video. 
Across the Chief Constable’s Leadership Team, 
members are engaged in national forums which 
enables the potential financial implications of new 
national systems and changes to national guidelines 
and procedures to be identified early 
 

4 Has the medium-term financial plan been tested for 
resilience against realistic potential variations in key 
drivers of cost and demand? 

Yes, cost drivers are included in the MTFS 
 

G  

5 Does the authority have in place a suitable asset 
management plan that seeks to ensure that its property, 
plant and equipment including infrastructure assets 
contribute effectively to the delivery of services and to 
the achievement of the authority’s strategic aims? 

Yes, the Asset Management Plan is reviewed by the 
Capital Programme Board and Resources Board 
regularly and updated accordingly.  
 

G  

Section 4 - The Annual Budget 
 

J The authority complies with its statutory obligations in respect of the budget setting process 

1 Is the authority aware of its statutory obligations in 
respect of the budget-setting process? 

Yes, the budget setting process is well embedded in 
the governance of the force with formal budget 
reports presented to the Chief Constable’s Gold 
meeting, the Commissioner’s Executive Team and 
Commissioner’s Strategic Board and then to the Police 
and Crime Panel 

G  

2 Has the authority set a balanced budget for the current 
year? 

Yes, as endorsed by the Police and Crime Panel and 
approved by the PCC 

G  

3 Is the authority aware of the circumstances under which it 
should issue a Section 114 notice and how it would go 
about doing so? 

Yes, both CFOs are fully aware of the s114 
requirements (but SWP is not remotely close to 
needing to issue one in the near future)  

G  

K The budget report includes a statement by the Chief Finance Officer on the robustness of the estimates and a statement of the adequacy of the proposed 
financial reserves 

P
age 70



 

 

1 Does the authority’s most recent budget report include a 
statement by the CFO on the robustness of the estimates 
and a statement of the adequacy of the proposed financial 
reserves? 

Yes.  G  

2 Does this report accurately identify and consider the most 
significant estimates used to prepare the budget, the 
potential for these estimates being incorrect and the 
impact should this be the case? 

Given that pay accounts for 80% of the budget, pay 
award assumptions, inflations assumptions and grant 
income are the most significant elements of variability 
within the budget. The zero-based budgeting 
processes and year on year refinement on variances 
ensures effective budget assumptions. The grant and 
precept income assumptions are necessarily cautious 
and assumptions on pay and prices are benchmarked 
nationally. This has ensured a highly accurate budget 
to actual out-turn year on year. 

G  

3 Does the authority have sufficient reserves to ensure its 
financial sustainability for the foreseeable future? 

Yes, a separate report on reserves, balances and 
provisions is produced to accompany the annual  
MTFS 

G  

4 Does the report set out the current level of the authority’s 
reserves, whether these are sufficient to ensure the 
authority’s ongoing financial sustainability and the action 
that the authority is to take to address any shortfall? 

Yes, the report provides a forecast for the next 4 years 
which is fully compatible with the MTFS 

G  

Section 5 - Stakeholder Engagement and Business Plans 
 

L The authority has engaged where appropriate with key stakeholders in developing its long term financial strategy, medium term financial plan and annual 
budget 

1 How has the authority sought to engage with key 
stakeholders in developing its long-term financial 
strategy, its medium-term financial plan and its annual 
budget? 

The PCC undertakes public consultation on his 
proposed council tax precept increase as and when 
required.  
 
Aviation charges are agreed through the NPAS 
Strategic Board which includes local PCC and CC 
representation 
 
The PCC’s annual budget and precept proposals are 
subject to scrutiny by the independent Police and 
Crime Panel, on behalf of the public, the Councillor 

G  

P
age 71



 

 

 

 

members of which represent all local authorities 
across the South Wales area 

2 How effective has this engagement been? In recent years the PCC has consulted the public 
regarding his proposed increase in council tax precept. 
The response has always been positive. However, the 
number of respondents remains relatively low and 
new measures to increase participation will be sought 
before the next engagement exercise in the Autumn of 
2021 
 
The Police and Crime Panel has always approved the 
PCCs proposed increase in council tax precept   
 

A New measures to try to 
increase public participation in 
consultation exercises will be 
sought before the next 
engagement exercise planned 
for Autumn 2021 
 

3 What action does the authority plan to take to improve its 
engagement with key stakeholders? 

Both the Commissioner and the Chief Constable 
actively undertake a range of engagement activities 
both separately and collectively.  Social media 
platforms are actively used to extend engagement 
opportunities.   The governance structure also 
includes a Public Accountability and Legitimacy Group 
on which key external stakeholders are represented.     
There are comprehensive structures of partnership/ 
collaboration/ national meetings with an array of key 
stakeholders at the same. Planned action however 
includes better use of online information; reaching 
younger citizens; a refresh of public engagement once 
the COVID pandemic is over (as detailed in L2 above) 

A  

M The authority uses an appropriate documented option appraisal methodology to demonstrate the value for money of its decisions 

1 Does the authority have a documented option appraisal 
methodology that is consistent with the guidance set out 
in IFAC/PAIB publication ‘Project and Investment Appraisal 
for Sustainable Value Creation: Principles in Project and 
Investment Appraisal’?  

Arrangements for assessing significant programmes are 
well developed with projects being managed using 
Prince2, UK Government Green Book and other 
relevant guidance and processes. Large Change 
Programmes are supported by a documented 
assessment of impact, with regular reporting during the 
project and post implementation reviews reporting to 
governance boards, including Chief Constable’ Gold 
and the Commissioner’s Strategic Board (as 

G Development of a standard and 
consistent Business Case 
proforma.  

P
age 72



 

 

appropriate). An updated Business Case/Option 
appraisal template is currently being developed for 
smaller Force initiatives.  
 
Option appraisal methodologies currently vary across 
the Force. This is an area that needs further 
development. A Standard Business Case Proforma is 
currently being developed as part of the Productivity 
and Innovation Strategy to ensure consistency of 
business cases and accurate capture of business 
benefits. All major investment decisions are supported 
by business cases and are taken at Chief Officer level 
either through Chief Officer Groups.  A new 
Productivity Innovation Efficiency Board has been 
established to apply consistency in business case 
evaluations as well benefits realisation. 
 
The degree of option appraisal undertaken reflects the 
level of investment required and the identified risks 
with the proposal/project. The level of option 
appraisal used for estate and ICT schemes are 
different and reflect the number of realistic options 
available 
   
Most significant technology schemes are led nationally 
either by the service or HO, and we are not involved in 
the development and implementation of those 
schemes e.g. Emergency Services Network, National 
Monitoring Centre. 
 
 

2 Does the authority offer guidance to officers as to when an 
option appraisal should be undertaken? 

Relevant staff within Finance, Procurement, ICT and 
Estates understand the need to produce an 
appropriate level of option appraisal to support new 
growth bids 
 

G  

P
age 73



 

 

 

 

All new bids include some consideration of options 
 

3 Does the authority’s approach to option appraisal include 
appropriate techniques for the qualitative and 
quantitative assessment of options? 

Where appropriate, qualitative and quantitative 
measures are included 

G  

4 Does the authority’s approach to option appraisal include 
suitable mechanisms to address risk and uncertainty? 

Risks are considered and there are more formal 
mechanisms in some cases i.e. depending on the value 
of the investment required and the associated risk e.g. 
selection of a new supplier and operational delivery 
for technology infrastructure  
 

G  

5 Does the authority report the results of option appraisals 
in a clear, robust and informative manner that gives clear 
recommendations and outlines the risk associated with 
any preferred option(s)? 

Yes, when relevant e.g. selection of new mobile 
phones - the options are presented as part of the 
assessment process 

G  

Section 6 -Monitoring Financial Performance 
 

N The leadership team takes action using reports enabling it to identify and correct emerging risks to its budget strategy and financial sustainability 

1 Does the authority provide the leadership team with an 
appropriate suite of reports that allows it to identify and 
to correct emerging risks to its budget strategy and 
financial sustainability? 

There is regular reporting that contains financial 
information and narrative on both revenue and capital 
as well as emerging risks and issues.  These are 
considered widely within the governance structure 
e.g. Chief Constable’s Gold meetings are provided with 
financial reports which highlight emerging risk and 
issues and these are acted upon as necessary. 
Financial reports are also provided to individual 
budget holders who also have regular engagement 
with their Finance Business partners. 
 
 

G  

2 Do the reports cover both forward and backward looking 
information in respect of financial and operational 
performance? 

Yes G  

3 Are there mechanisms in place to report the performance 
of the authority’s significant delivery partnerships such a 
contract monitoring data? 

The CFO(CC) financial report to DCC COG each month 
includes any emerging issues with contracts or 
delivery of services from outsourced partners and 

G  

P
age 74



 

 

these issues are escalated to Gold and to the 
Commissioner’s Strategic Board as appropriate  
 

4 Are the reports provided to the leadership team in a 
timely manner and in a suitable format? 

Yes, produced monthly and acted upon   

5 Is the leadership team happy with the reports that it 
receives and with its ability to use these reports to take 
appropriate action? 

Yes G  

O The leadership team monitors the elements of its balance sheet which pose a significant risk to its financial sustainability 

1 Has the authority identified the elements of its balance 
sheet that are most critical to its financial sustainability? 

Yes, trade debtors and creditors are monitored closely 
by Finance 
 
Cashflow, short and long-term borrowing, investments 
and the use of reserves and balances are monitored by 
the Resources Board. These are reported to the 
Commissioner’s Strategic Board as part of periodic 
updates on TM activity 

G  

2 Has the authority put in place suitable mechanisms to 
monitor the risk associated with these critical elements of 
its balance sheet? 

Yes. Regular reviews are carried out by the Finance 
Department and reported to the Resources Board 
appropriately 

G  

3 Is the authority taking action to mitigate any risks 
identified? 

Yes, as risks are identified action is taken e.g. supplier 
information including credit checks is undertaken 
regularly, particularly in the current economic 
environment with Covid-19 
 

G  

4 Does the authority report unplanned use of its reserves to 
the leadership team in a timely manner? 

Revenue and capital monitoring reports are reported 
through the governance structure and to the 
Commissioner’s Strategic Board (quarterly)  
 
Any variation to the planned use of reserves is 
reported, with a formal recommendation to the 
Commissioner’s Strategic Board should additional 
monies be required to fund unplanned overspends.    

G  

5 Is the monitoring of balance sheet risks integrated into the 
authority’s management accounts reporting processes? 

Yes, via the Resources Board and reported through the 
governance structure.  

G  

Section 7 - External Financial Reporting 

P
age 75



 

 

 

 

 

P The Chief Finance Officer has personal responsibility for ensuring that the statutory accounts provided to the local authority comply with the Code of 
Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 

1 Is the authority’s CFO aware of their responsibilities in 
terms of the preparation of the annual financial 
statements? 

Yes, both CFOs are fully aware of their responsibilities. G  

2 Are these responsibilities included in the CFO’s role 
description, personal objectives and other relevant 
performance management mechanisms? 

They are included in both CFO job descriptions. 
Closure of accounts are not included in personal 
objectives, but the PCC and Chief Constable are aware 
of its importance and regular updates are provided to 
JAC 

G  

3 Have the authority’s financial statements hitherto been 
prepared on time and in accordance with the 
requirements of the Code of Practice on Local Authority 
Accounting in the United Kingdom? 

Yes, SWP has a good track record of early closedown 
and external audit sign-off 

G  

Q The presentation of the final outturn figures and variations from budget allow the leadership team to make strategic financial decisions 

1 Is the authority’s leadership team provided with a suitable 
suite of reports on the authority’s financial outturn and 
on significant variations from budget? 

An outturn report is presented to Chief Constable’s 
Gold and the Commissioner’s Strategic Board with 
clear explanations provided for each variation against 
budget 
 

G  

2 Is the information in these reports presented effectively? Yes. This information matches that provided in the 
formal Statement of Accounts 
 

G  

3 Are these reports focused on information that is of 
interest and relevance to the leadership team? 

Yes, it provides information on the full revenue budget 
and highlights variances which are both one-off and 
those that have an ongoing financial implication  

G  

4 Does the leadership team feel that the reports support it 
in making strategic financial decisions? 

Yes G  

 
 

P
age 76



  

Police and Crime Commissioner for South Wales and Chief Constable for South Wales 
 

          Joint Audit Committee 
July 2021 

  

 

 

Joint Audit Committee Annual Report 2020/21 

 

This is the 2020/21 Annual Report for the Joint Audit Committee, which was established by the Police and Crime 

Commissioner and Chief Constable of South Wales Police in 2013 in order to provide independent assurance on 

financial and governance issues that affect both these Corporations Sole.  

 

The Audit Committee is governed by a Terms of Reference, which underwent its annual review in June 2020.  A 

number of wording changes were made to further clarify the roles and responsibilities of the Committee, ensuring 

robust corporate governance is maintained.    

 

This report provides an overview of the Audit Committee’s work for the financial year 2020/21, in which we observed 

business as usual activities for much of the year despite the unprecedented impact of Covid 19 and the government 

lockdown, with the continuation of emergency operational measures and focus.  As a committee we continued to be 

adaptable and resilient in the way we operated, as did both Corporations Sole.  As a consequence, our meetings during 

2020/21 were held virtually with all meetings being quorate. 

 

During the year, Chief Constable Matt Jukes QPM took up a new position as Assistant Commissioner at the 

Metropolitan Police and the Committee would like to formally thank him for his leadership while heading up the force 

and wish him every success in his new role.  CC Jukes was replaced by Deputy Chief Constable Jeremy Vaughan, now 

CC Vaughan, who was in turn replaced by DCC Rachel Bacon, whom we now welcome to the Committee.   

 

We have also seen some membership changes within the committee during the last financial year.  At the end of the 

year, we said goodbye to Jeff Edwards MBE JP as Chair of the Joint Audit Committee and to Gethin Lewis and Gareth 

Evans, two other long-standing members who all stood down after contributing eight years of service to the Committee.  

Sadly, another member, Alyson Charnock, passed away during the year.  The Committee would like to formally thank 

all of them for their support and contributions over the past years.  We look forward to welcoming the four new members 

who have recently been appointed as well as a new Chair, yet to be announced.  New members have been appointed 

with due consideration given to filling the gaps identified by the skills analysis undertaken against the CIPFA best 

practice framework in 2020. 

 

The Committee meets formally four times a year and alternate meetings are used for in depth analysis of issues or 

presentations on emerging areas of business development.  Through this work we have provided challenge, sought 

assurance and raised recommendations in areas we considered it appropriate.  In formulating its opinion, the Committee 

relies on the work of Internal Audit, Audit Wales, Her Majesty's Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire & Rescue 

Services (HMICFRS) reports and input from the Senior Management Teams of both Corporations Sole. The Committee 

is serviced by the Secretariat of the Police and Crime Commissioner and assisted by the Corporate Services Department 

of the Chief Constable.  

 

The 2020/21 financial year continued to be impacted by the Covid-19 pandemic. The Committee has been kept updated 

on the work of the force during the pandemic and also its impact on the force itself. This has been a particularly 

challenging time for the force and new ways of working have been adopted. Lessons that have been learnt have been 

captured to ensure best practice can continue into the future.  

 

 

Page 77



  

 
 

  

 
 

Internal Audit  

 

Both Corporations Sole are responsible for the system of governance and control and must set in place policies and 

procedures to ensure that the internal controls are robust and functioning correctly, to effectively address and mitigate 

risks to the delivery of objectives across both Corporations Sole.  Internal Audit acts as an assurance function, providing 

an independent and objective opinion on the control environment by evaluating its effectiveness in mitigating risks and 

achieving objectives.  Internal Audit has an important role, as set out in the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards 

(PSIAS), to provide professional, independent and objective assurance, advice and insight. The internal audit service 

is one the key elements of good governance.  The Committee Terms of Reference include consideration of the 

arrangements relating to internal audit including: 

 

• To consider the Head of Internal Audit’s annual opinion and a regular summary of the progress of internal audit 

activity against the audit plan and the level of assurance it can give over the Commissioner’s and Chief 

Constable’s corporate governance arrangements 

• To consider summaries of internal audit reports and such detailed reports as the committee may request, 

including issues raised or recommendations made by the internal audit service, management responses and 

progress reports on implementation of agreed internal audit recommendations 

 

 

Internal Audit services are provided by TIAA who also provide this service to the other Welsh police forces, which 

enables collaborative audits across the Welsh forces to share best practice or emerging issues to be considered.  The 

committee receives a progress report from TIAA at each meeting, which includes opinions, critical findings and 

progress against the audit plan, together with wider performance measures and audit recommendation tracking 

information.  The committee also meets privately with TIAA prior to every formal meeting and an excellent working 

relationship means we are able to approach them with any questions both inside and outside of committee meetings.  

 

TIAA have also adapted their ways of working to accommodate lockdown restrictions and at the time of writing had 

completed most of the 20/21 annual audit plan.  Our opinion is largely based on the assurance provided by them during 

the course of the year.  During 2020/21, 24 audits were conducted by TIAA (the same number as 2019/20).  Of these 

audits, 18 were given substantial assurance, 6 reasonable assurance and no reports received limited assurance.  Also, 

there were no priority 1 recommendations, with 20 priority 2 and 18 priority 3 recommendations raised.  The Committee 

will monitor the implementation of these going forward.  We will also receive direct reports on progress through the 

TIAA follow up audits. 

 

The Committee continues to be impressed by the turnaround in reports, the detailed analysis and the clarity of the 

recommendations in the reports received as well as the continued follow up of overdue recommendations.  As at 

February 2021 there were only 11 outstanding recommendations and the committee acknowledges that some of these 

are due to other force priorities taking precedence during the pandemic.  

 

Full details of the reports can be seen in the working papers of the Committee. 

 

The Internal Audit Annual Report from TIAA for 2020/21 provided the following opinion: “TIAA is satisfied that 

sufficient internal audit work has been undertaken to allow me to draw a positive conclusion as to the adequacy and 

effectiveness of The Police and Crime Commissioner’s and Chief Constable’s risk management, control and 

governance processes.  In my opinion, The Police and Come Commissioner and the Chief Constable have adequate 

and effective management, control and governance processes in place to manager the achievement of their objectives 

for the areas reviewed during the year”. 

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                           

 

 

 

External Audit  

Page 78



  

 

  

 

 

Audit Wales (AW) undertakes the statutory audits of the Corporations Sole, together with performance audit work and 

other ad hoc investigations. They also consider the opinions of Internal Auditors and Regulators in forming their 

opinion.  

 

Whilst the Committee has no direct control over the work of Audit Wales it does have a strong working relationship 

and holds private sessions in respect of emerging issues, receiving their annual Management Letter and observations at 

committee meetings attended.  

 

The Committee welcomed the Auditor General for Wales’ letter dated 30 April 2020 in which he signalled an intention 

to deploy Audit Wales resources, to help Public Sector bodies in Wales quickly assess risks and opportunities arising 

out of the Covid-19 Pandemic by “providing real-time capture and sharing of learning and experience across our 

audited bodies. This will involve (AW) staff in gathering novel and other practice as it emerges and analysing it rapidly 

to draw out relevant points of learning.” 

 

The Committee has considered the Audit of Financial Statements Report in respect of 2019/20 and subsequent Annual 

Audit Letter and Management Letter released on 3 February and 3 March 2021 respectively and was pleased to note 

Audit Wales issued “an unqualified audit opinion on the financial statements for both the PCC and CC confirming 

that they present a true and fair view of each body’s financial position and transactions” and confirmed “that the PCC 

and CC have appropriate arrangements in place to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in their use of 

resources.” 

 

The Committee has considered the 2021 Audit Plan and will seek assurance that any recommendations arising are 

reviewed and acted upon in a timely manner. The fee for the work of Audit Wales in 2019/20 was £100,985, the same 

as in 2018/19. 

 

HMICFRS - PEEL Assessments/ Inspections.  

 

The Committee has been provided with summaries of the reports from HMICFRS and continues to be assured by the 

positive comments that South Wales Police have received, including the Early Action Together programme in Wales 

being “innovative practice” and the Force’s management of protests being “something the force should be proud of”. 

 

Where areas of improvement have been identified the Committee will be looking at these areas in depth to gain the 

necessary assurances. HMICFRS has an open invitation to attend any meeting in the future.  

 

Management Presentations  

 

Since the last JAC annual report, which was presented in September 2020, the Committee has received a number of 

presentations from management, including: 

 

• 100 Things 100 Days update 

• Mental Health Triage Evaluation Report 

• Corporate Services 

• People & Organisational Development 

• The Medium Term Financial Strategy 2021-25 

• Deletion of PNC and PND data records 

• All Wales Collaboration Approach 

• Evidential Property Stores update 

 

These presentations have allowed the Committee to better understand the risks faced in these areas and where necessary, 

to challenge the controls in operation and the actions being taken.  It has also frequently allowed us to recognise the 

hard work, dedication and commitment of both officers and staff in the discharge of their duties, often in extremely 

difficult circumstances.  

Page 79



  

 
 

  

 
 

 

Issues and Uncertainty Management 

 

The registers of uncertainties and issues is presented at each formal meeting and discussed in detail, allowing the 

Committee to ask probing questions and challenge the actions being taken in order to gain assurance over these areas. 

 

The Committee are reassured by the assurance given by the internal auditors that efficient arrangements are in place 

for the identification, management and reporting of uncertainties.  

 

Training and Development 

 

Unfortunately, The Annual CIPFA Welsh Joint Audit Committee Development Conference was cancelled due to the 

Covid-19 Pandemic. However, a virtual online training event was provided by CIPFA via Teams in June 2020. 

 

Financial Report and Statement of Accounts 2019/20  

 

The Committee has considered the Financial Report and Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 

prepared by the Treasurer for the Police and Crime Commissioner and Chief Financial Officer to the Chief Constable. 

This was received by the Committee on 25 November 2020 and signed off, acknowledging the impact of the Pandemic 

on timescales for production, and the following observations by Audit Wales were also noted: 

 

“The COVID-19 pandemic has had a significant impact on all aspects of our society and continues to do so. You are 

required by law to prepare accounts and it is of considerable testament to the commitment of your accounts team that 

you have succeeded in doing so this year in the face of the challenges posed by this pandemic. We are extremely grateful 

to the professionalism of the team in supporting us to complete our audit in such difficult circumstances.” 

 

“Whilst the statutory deadline for completing your accounts remained unchanged, the CFO published a statement, in  

accordance with legislation and in discussion with Audit Wales, setting out that the draft accounts had not been 

prepared by 31 May 2020 due to the impact of COVID-19. We received the draft accounts on 30 June 2020. Whilst we 

planned to complete our audit by 31 August 2020, the challenges of auditing remotely coupled with unforeseen 

issues associated with the pension fund extended the audit window past this date.” 

 

The committee is assured there are comprehensive arrangements in place for the monitoring and control of budgets 

within South Wales Police incorporating the production and reporting of detailed financial and management accounting 

information to key stakeholders.   

 

The year-end position was a balanced budget with ongoing discussions being held with the Home Office in respect of 

Covid-19 related expenditure.  

 

The Committee also noted two “significant issues” highlighted by Audit Wales, namely the impact of the 

McCloud/Sargeant ruling and accounting for time off in lieu, together with two “Emphasis of Matter” references to 

uncertainty with property valuations. 

 
The Committee has had sight of the Reserves Strategy which has been approved.  

 

Joint Annual Governance Statement 2020/2021 

 

The Committee has considered the Joint Annual Statement of the Police and Crime Commissioner and Chief Constable 

of South Wales. The Committee welcomes the continued improvements.  

 

Police and Crime Commissioner and Chief Constable  

 

Page 80



  

 

  

 

The Committee has access to both the Police and Crime Commissioner and the Chief Constable and meets with them 

on an annual basis.  

 

The Committee’s Opinion  

 

The Committee has received reports, recommendations and observations from TIAA, Audit Wales, HMICFRS, and 

presentations from officers of both Corporations Sole to formulate an independent opinion and provide independent 

assurance to the Police and Crime Commissioner and Chief Constable in respect of the financial and governance 

controls within the Corporations Sole.  

 

Having received these reports, the Joint Audit Committee is satisfied that there are no major issues of concern 

that affect the financial standing of the Corporations Sole. It is satisfied that there is a robust governance 

framework in place, supported by adequate risk management and controls.   

 

Looking forward to 2021/22, the operational challenges facing both Corporations Sole will undoubtedly remain 

significant.  In the context of the pandemic, financial challenges are inevitable, coupled with an increasing and evolving 

demand for resources.  The importance of an effective committee therefore remains critical. 

 

 

Thanks  

 

The Audit Committee would like to express its thanks to all those who have engaged with the Committee during the 

year and the openness and transparency that has been shown to members in the discharge of their duties.  

 

July 2021.  
 

Page 81



This page is intentionally left blank



  

 

 

  

1 

 

 

REPORT OF THE POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER 

TITLE:  Police and Crime Commissioner for South Wales’ Annual Report 

DATE:  14th September 2021 

PURPOSE: For Noting 
 

1. RECOMMENDATION 

That the Police and Crime Panel considers and responds to the attached 

Annual Report for the financial year 2020/21 as required by the Police Reform 

and Social Responsibility Act 2011. 

 

2. INTRODUCTION & BACKGROUND 

The Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 (Section 12) must 

produce and present an annual report for the Police and Crime Panel.The 

attached report highlights progress in 2020-21 towards delivering the priorities 

in the Police & Crime Plan 2021-24 and following the panel will be published 

on the Police and Crime Commissioners website.  

3. ISSUES FOR CONSIDERATION 

The Annual report for the financial year 2020/2021, summarises the work the 

Commissioners team have undertaken throughout the Covid-19 pandemic 

which presented a range of challenges during an unprecedented period in 

history. It has also been a year in which we’ve experienced significant change 

with regards to the operational leadership of South Wales Police, with Matt 

Jukes leaving us to assume the role of Assistant Commissioner in the 

Metropolitan Police and following a rigorous selection process, the 

Commissioner was pleased to appoint Jeremy Vaughan as our new Chief 

Constable. The Commissioner is confident that in Jeremy we have the right 

person with the right skills and commitment to lead South Wales Police 

through the challenging times ahead and building on the firm foundations that 

are now in place. To assist this transition, the team have provided significant 

support and stable leadership, whilst continuing to provide healthy challenge 

as a 'critical friend' to the Force, ensuring that the communities of South Wales 

receive the highest standards of policing. 

 

The financial challenge faced by South Wales Police remains significant and 

yet we have continued to deliver social and economic benefit to South Wales 

in recent years; this has only been achieved through our determination to focus 

on early intervention and prompt, positive action, working with partners to be 

ever more effective.  

 

2020/21 was dominated by Covid-19, with every facet of our lives impacted 

Page 83

Agenda Item 6



  

 

 

  

2 

 

 

due to the pandemic, accompanied by significant impact on service provision 

and demand.  While there was a level of consistency across policing in 

England and Wales, for the first time the police in Wales faced the challenges 

of enforcing significant legislation set down by Welsh Government rather than 

at Westminster and of seeking to persuade the public to live with key 

messages like “Stay Home, Save Lives, Protect the NHS”.  

 

Working with our partners at both a local and national level, the increase in 

effective communication and collaborative working was not only exemplary but 

developed organically and accelerated so that the relationships became even 

stronger week by week. We are all determined to maintain and further develop 

this approach even after the pandemic and its demands are behind us. 

4. NEXT STEPS 

The Police and Crime Panel are required to note and comment, the report will 

then be published on the Police and Crime Commissioners website. 

  

5. FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS 

There are financial implications to the delivery of the police and crime plan 

which are fully articulated within the Medium Term Financial Plan which has 

also been discussed at the panel. 

6. PERSONNEL CONSIDERATIONS 

The majority of the Policing and Crime Budget covers Police Officer and Police 

Staff salaries and employer’s contributions.  The plan takes account of the 

pressure on the budget and drive the efficient and effective use of the budget 

in a planned and timely manner. The annual report reflects these challenges. 

7. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

Producing the annual report particularly in the light of: 

(i) any report or recommendations made by the police and crime panel; and 

(ii) any changes in the strategic policing requirement  

(iii) statutory responsibilities of the Commissioner under the Police Reform and 

Social Responsibilities Act 2011. 

 

8. EQUALITIES  AND HUMAN RIGHTS CONSIDERATIONS 

This proposal has been considered against the general duty to promote 

equality, as stipulated under the Strategic Equality Plan and has been 

assessed not to discriminate against any particular group.  

 

In preparing this report, consideration has been given to the requirements of 

the Articles contained in the European Convention on Human Rights and the 

Human Rights Act 1998. 

 

9. RISK 

Page 84



  

 

  

3 

 

A timely decision will minimise the risk to the compliance with the Police 

Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011. 

10. PUBLIC INTEREST 

This report will be placed on the website of both the Commissioner and the 

Police and Crime Panel. 

11. CONTACT OFFICER 

Lee Jones, Chief Executive to the Police and Crime Commissioner for South 

Wales. 

12. ANNEXES 

The Annexe to this report is a copy of the Annual report for noting.  

 

 

Page 85



This page is intentionally left blank



Annual
Report

South Wales Police and 
Crime Commissioner

S U M M A R Y  O F  O U R  I M P A C T

20
/21

Page 87



2

Contents

Introduction 3

Funding of Services 5

Priority 1 6

Priority 2 12

Priority 3 18

Priority 4 22

Priority 5 42

Priority 6 44

Page 88



3

Introduction

It would be an understatement to say that 2020/21 was 
dominated by Covid-19, with every facet of our lives 
impacted due to the pandemic, accompanied by significant 
impact on service provision and demand.  While there was 
a level of consistency across policing in England and Wales, 
for the first time the police in Wales faced the challenges 
of enforcing significant legislation set down by Welsh 
Government rather than at Westminster and of seeking to 
persuade the public to live with key messages like “Stay 
Home, Save Lives, Protect the NHS”.  I am enormously 
proud of the way that our officers and staff responded to 
that challenge They embodied the “Four Es” principles of 

I am pleased to introduce my annual 
report for the financial year 2020/2021, 
which summarises the work my team 
and I have undertaken throughout the 
Covid-19 pandemic which presented 
a range of challenges during an 
unprecedented period in history. It 
has also been a year in which we’ve 
experienced significant change with 
regards to the operational leadership 
of South Wales Police, with Matt 
Jukes leaving us to assume the role 
of Assistant Commissioner in the 
Metropolitan Police and following a 
rigorous selection process, I was please 
to appoint Jeremy Vaughan as our new 
Chief Constable. I am confident that in 
Jeremy we have the right person with 
the right skills and commitment to 
lead South Wales Police through the 
challenging times ahead and building 
on the firm foundations that are now in 
place. To assist this transition, my team 
have provided significant support and 
stable leadership, whilst continuing to 
provide healthy challenge as a 'critical 
friend' to the Force, ensuring that the 
communities of South Wales receive the 
highest standards of policing.

Page 89



S
O

U
T

H
 

W
A

L
E

S
 

P
O

L
I

C
E

 
A

N
D

 
C

R
I

M
E

 
C

O
M

M
I

S
S

I
O

N
E

R
 

 
|

 
 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

2
0

/
2

1

4

Engage, Explain, Encourage and Enforce (when necessary 
without fear or favour – but only when necessary).  This 
has been a difficult balance when members of the public, 
who are obeying the rules themselves, call for tough action 
against those who infringe even slightly, but common sense 
was applied very effectively.  

Working with our partners at both a local and national level, 
the increase in effective communication and collaborative 
working was not only exemplary but developed organically 
and accelerated so that the relationships became even 
stronger week by week. We are all determined to maintain 
and further develop this approach even after the pandemic 
and its demands are behind us. 

At the same time the Pandemic posed a significant threat 
to the delivery of criminal justice in Wales with the closure 
of courts posing a massive threat to police effectiveness. 
If you can’t take offenders to court the system heads for 
breakdown. So we established a “Recovery Group“, which 
met weekly to push the boundaries and discover what we 
could do together to help the communities of Wales.

I pay tribute to all the organisations who stepped up to the 
mark : The fact is that we delivered in Wales better than any 
region of England in getting the courts back up and running 
and finding innovative ways of expanding opportunity 
while improving fairness.  For victims of domestic violence 
and abuse and sexual violence we increased levels of 
support and provided further opportunities to give 
evidence remotely, which has been further assisted by 
Welsh Government. Protecting the most vulnerable in our 
communities has been a key focus for me ever since first 
becoming the Commissioner for South Wales in 2012 but it 
has been never been more critical than during the past 12 
months. 

In the middle of the Pandemic the death of George Floyd 
sparked widespread public anger and the Black Lives Matter 
campaign internationally.  The requirements of Covid-19 
regulations and social distancing made the policing of public 
protest extremely difficult and to me it speaks volumes for 
the good judgement of both South Wales Police officers and 
the organisers of the protest that the demonstrations took 
place while observing distancing regulations. 

With my Deputy, Emma Wools, I issued a statement in 
response to the public concerns.  The Chief Constable and 
I saw the passion that was unleashed as an opportunity to 
engage positively with calls for racial equality and with our 

respective deputies and team members we met community 
leaders from across South Wales and refreshed our approach 
within South Wales Police, with leaders taking significant 
steps to explain to everyone in the service why the issues 
are important and relevant to policing.  Emma has been 
appointed as a member of the Commission on Race Equality 
set up by Cardiff Council and leads work within Criminal 
Justice in Wales on the issue which we have consciously 
aligned to the Strategy for Race Equality being developed 
by Welsh Government as has Policing in Wales – another 
example of non-devolved bodies recognising the value of 
a “Single Public Service” approach within the devolved 
environment.

Finally, Finance has an inevitable and powerful impact on 
what we can and cannot do, but it is important for vision, 
ambition and policy to be clearly set out in order to inform 
financial decisions.  The allocation of money must follow the 
policy priorities for South Wales.

That can easily get lost in the mechanics of budgeting and 
planning, important though those are to balancing the 
budget, which is why I have ensured that my Leadership 
Team continue to work closely with the Chief Constable and 
his Chief Officers maintain support for the creation of safe, 
confident and resilient communities.  

After eight years as Commissioner I find the role as exciting 
as ever – albeit demanding and complex – because it gives 
the opportunity to convene, to persuade and to develop 
cooperative models for keeping our communities safe.  I 
have now worked with three Chief Constables, each of 
whom has been an inspirational leader, the policing team 
in South Wales continues to grow in capacity and ambition 
and those within my own team continually surprise me in the 
way they push the boundaries.  At the end of my next term, I 
hope we will still be growing and developing on a trajectory 
of ambition that is unstoppable and that will continue well 
into the future.

Rt Hon Alun Michael  
South Wales Police and Crime Commissioner

I N T R O D U C T I O N

Page 90



S
O

U
T

H
 

W
A

L
E

S
 

P
O

L
I

C
E

 
A

N
D

 
C

R
I

M
E

 
C

O
M

M
I

S
S

I
O

N
E

R
 

 
|

 
 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

2
0

/
2

1

5

Mental Health & 
Substance Misuse

Early Intervention

VAWG Services

Crime & Community Safety

Victims Services

Funding 
of Services

£11.2m
41%

20%

23%

6%10%

We aim to be the best at understanding and responding to 
the needs of all our communities and our work with partners 
if fundamental to people getting the response they need, 
when they need it. 

In 2020/21 the Police and Crime Commissioner allocated 
over £11.2 million of funding across South Wales to support 
safe, confident, resilient communities:

(£11.2m)

Page 91



S E C T I O N  T I T L E

Whilst our highly successful ‘Help Point’ in Swansea, 
delivered in partnership with St Johns Ambulance, Health 
Boards, Welsh Ambulance Service Trust and Universities, 
was largely unable to carry out its primary function of 
supporting the vulnerable within the night time economy 
due to the pandemic, we were able to offer the facility for an 
alternate use by partners. Working with Swansea Bay NHS, 
we temporarily converted the Help Point into a Covid-19 
testing facility for GP surgeries in the area, enabling us to 
help protect communities through the triage and testing 
of patients suspected of having coronavirus away from  
local surgeries. 

We will reduce and prevent crime and anti-social behaviour to  
keep people safe and confident in their homes and communities

Priority 1

Together with the Force, we have continued to be tough on 
crime and the causes of crime, identifying the underlying 
issues and tackling them through early intervention and 
prompt, positive action based on evidence, partnership and 
evaluation of ‘what works’

During 2020/21 we continued to promote and 
develop our established ‘#DrinkLessEnjoyMore’ 
campaign, adapting messaging and materials 
in light of the Covid-19 pandemic, which largely 
shut down the night time economy (NTE) for 
large parts of the year. 

Messaging was adapted to focus upon 
encouraging people to drink less in their homes 
and to also not drink excessively in public spaces 
and beer gardens at points where the Welsh 
Government eased restrictions relating to the 
ability to meet other households.

Progress Against 
The Police & Crime 
Plan 2019-23

This section highlights progress in 2020-21 
towards delivering the priorities in my Police 
and Crime Plan 2019-23

Page 92



7

P R I O R I T Y  1

The Wales Violence       
Prevention Unit 

The Wales Violence Prevention Unit [The Unit] was 
established in 2019 by the Police & Crime Commissioners 
and Chief Constables in Wales, working with Public Health 
Wales and supported by targeted money from the Home 
Office awarded as part of a £35m fund to tackle violent 
crime. A total of £880,888 was awarded to South Wales, 
of which £419,793 was subsequently awarded to 11 
organisations to help fund projects aimed at 
reducing violence.

The core team comprises members from police forces, 
the Police and Crime Commissioner team, Public Health 
Wales, Her Majesty’s Prison and Probation Service 
(HMPPS), Home Office Immigration and the voluntary 
sector. The Unit take a public health approach to 
preventing all forms of violence in Wales. This involves 
seeking to understand the root causes of violence, and 
using this evidence to develop interventions focused 
on tackling these causes. Interventions are properly 
evaluated before being scaled up, if appropriate, to help 
more people and communities across Wales. Through 
this approach, the Unit aims to develop a whole system 
response to violence prevention.

In light of the existing and escalating levels of serious 
youth violence within Cardiff and Swansea, and in order 
to maintain support for young people in South Wales 
that were accessing specialist services previously funded 
via the Early Intervention Youth Fund, the Unit have 
commissioned a number of interventions so far:

S
O

U
T

H
 

W
A

L
E

S
 

P
O

L
I

C
E

 
A

N
D

 
C

R
I

M
E

 
C

O
M

M
I

S
S

I
O

N
E

R
 

 
|

 
 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

2
0

/
2

1

St Giles Trust 
St Giles Trust work with young people identified as ‘at–risk’ 
of violence involvement, to engage them in support. Timely 
interventions are delivered by two dedicated St Giles Early 
Intervention and Prevention Workers across Cardiff and 
Swansea, at a “teachable moment” when a young person is 
most likely to engage with intensive, tailored support.

Between April and December 2020, 
St Giles Trust have supported 44 
individuals through this work.

Crimestoppers 
The Violence Prevention Unit funds two dedicated 
caseworkers from Fearless, the Crimestoppers youth service, 
to target identified serious violence hotspot areas in Cardiff 
and Swansea. 

The roles have focused on building partnerships with 
key agencies at a local level, identifying and responding 
to opportunities to deliver Fearless sessions to children 
and young people within both education and community 
settings. The caseworkers also provide training to better 
equip professionals in identifying and responding to signs 
and disclosures from the young people they work with.

Between April and December 2020, 
the Fearless team engaged with 
770 children and young people and 
574 professionals.

Page 93



S
O

U
T

H
 

W
A

L
E

S
 

P
O

L
I

C
E

 
A

N
D

 
C

R
I

M
E

 
C

O
M

M
I

S
S

I
O

N
E

R
 

 
|

 
 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

2
0

/
2

1

8

NHS Violence Prevention Team 
The NHS Violence Prevention Team consists of two 
members of staff; a qualified Nurse and an Advocate, 
based within the University Hospital of Wales, Cardiff 
- Wales’ busiest Emergency Department and recently 
established as a Major Trauma Centre. 

Supervised by Cardiff and Vale University Health Board’s 
Head of Safeguarding, the Violence Prevention Team 
deliver advice, support and guidance to patients who 
have experienced violence with injury, with the aim of 
engaging with those injured whilst they are in hospital, 
and to promote movement away from lifestyles encased in 
violence by encouraging engagement with services. 

Furthermore, the Violence Prevention Team seek to 
support patients to engage with community services, to 
enable longer-term follow-up support, and to address the 
wider needs of the patient. The primary referring agency 
is the Action for Children Side-Step programme, an early 
intervention service working with 11-18 year olds on the 
cusp of being involved in Serious Organised Crime (SOC). 
The service provides intensive one-to-one support, peer 
mentoring, education and employment training. The 
Unit have commissioned Action for Children to allocate 
a hospital case worker to respond to referrals from the 
Violence Prevention Team for individuals aged 11-30 years 

old. The case worker provides a 
rapid response to referrals, delivers 
targeted support and acts as a 
navigator, signposting to appropriate 
community services and engaging 
with statutory services.

Between July and December 2020, 
15 individuals have received 
intensive, 1:1 support from the 
Action for Children caseworker.

Media Academy Cymru (MAC) 
Braver Choices

The Unit have funded Media Academy Cymru (MAC) to 
deliver a knife crime project which has worked to ensure 
young people in hotspot areas in Cardiff and Swansea who 
are using, or at risk of using, knives and other offensive 
weapons will have a fast-track bespoke, strengths based 
intervention with a qualified Youth Worker.

Between July and December 2020, 
the Braver Choices project has 
supported 34 individuals.

Parallel Lives 
The Parallel Lives programme is for children (aged 10-16 
years) and parents where adolescent to parent/carer 
violence (APV) has been identified within the home, there 
are professionals involved with the family and both parties 
wish to make positive changes. The Programme works 
separately with each cohort split into groups before being 
brought back together to develop a plan of action to help 
improve communication at home and reduce conflict. 
Parallel Lives is a four week programme which commences 
following an initial one day workshop to assess the needs of 
the family. 

The Unit understands that to prevent violence, they must 
engage everyone in the conversation. They must help 
people to think differently about why violence occurs, 
so the right measures can be put in place to stop it from 
happening. This year, the Unit have focused on not only 
engaging existing services and partner organisations, but 
sharing their mission with the public, and letting those who 
are experiencing, or at risk of experiencing violence, know 
they are not alone and that the Unit are working to make 
Wales a safer place for everyone.

Between April and December 2020, 
the Parallel Lives programme has 
engaged with 68 families.

P R I O R I T Y  1

Page 94



S
O

U
T

H
 

W
A

L
E

S
 

P
O

L
I

C
E

 
A

N
D

 
C

R
I

M
E

 
C

O
M

M
I

S
S

I
O

N
E

R
 

 
|

 
 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

2
0

/
2

1

9

P R I O R I T Y  1

Youth Support Campaign

Following a series of knife crime incidents in late 2020, 
the Unit wanted young people to know that support 
was available to them, if they were worried about their 
own or a friends’ behaviour. The Unit also wanted to 
reach parents of young people, through radio and 
online advertising, to encourage them to speak up 
about concerns. With funding from the Police and 
Crime Commissioner, the Unit developed a campaign 
reaching out to these audiences.

13 – 18 year olds

• 56,585 young people in Cardiff reached across 
Facebook, Twitter, Instagram and Snapchat

• Good click through rates of between 2.81% and 
4.37%

• Google Ads received a 71% view-through rate

Parents

• 15,140 parents of 13-18 year olds in Cardiff 
reached on Facebook, Instagram and Twitter

• Good click through rates of between 4.6% - 5.9%

Partnership working is a key mechanism for enabling the 
Commissioner’s team to deliver the priorities in the Police 
and Crime Plan. In doing so it is important that we are able 
to make the connections across a complex partnership 
landscape that enable us to contribute to creating safer 
communities and supporting victims and the vulnerable.

The Commissioner’s commitment to partnership working 
is demonstrated through engagement with a variety of 
strategic and local forums such as Public Service Boards, 
Criminal Justice Boards, Community Safety Partnerships, 
Youth Offending Boards and Area Planning Boards. This 
representation enables us to incorporate our work on 
substance misuse, mental health, victims, offenders and  
the vulnerable into the work of our partners, enabling us 
to identify opportunities for co-commissioning, more 
effective use of resources, and the development of more 
sustainable services.

Community Safety continues to develop and the past 
year has seen the establishment of a Community Safety 
Network across Wales that will seek to improve the sharing 
of knowledge and information that will improve the local 
approach. The Police and Crime Commissioner continues 
to provide annual financial contributions to Community 
Safety Partnerships across the South Wales region. 
The Commissioner’s contributions are fundamental to 
supporting collaborations between public and third sector 
Partnerships (in discharging their duties under the Crime & 
Disorder Act). Annual financial aid through the Police and 
Crime Commissioner enables a coordinated approach to 
achieve the priorities and action plans outlined in individual 
Community Safety Partnership’s three-year Strategies.

The table above highlights the financial contribution given to 
each Community Safety Partnership by local authority area 
and also the Welsh Local Government Association (WLGA) 
Safer Communities project in 2020/21. A percentage figure 
is also highlighted, which indicates the proportion of Police 

and Crime Commissioner’s funding in relation to the overall 
cost of the partnership structure. Other funding allocations 
are provided through core budget contributions, Welsh 
Government, Supporting People programme, as well other 
needs-led funding bodies. 

FINANCIAL ALLOCATION BY AREA AMOUNT %

SAFER CARDIFF £149,000 25.4%

SAFER SWANSEA £120,500 20.6%

SAFER RCT £82,300 14.1%

SAFER NPT £59,700 10.2%

SAFER VALE £56,500 9.6%

SAFER BRIDGEND £56,100 9.6%

SAFER MERTHYR £41,200 7.0%

TOTAL 2020/21 £585,900 -

WLGA – WELSH SAFER COMMUNITIES £15,000 -

Page 95



10

Specific Community 
Safety Activity

Hate Crime Awareness Week 
The Cwm Taf region continues to ensure that tackling Hate 
Crime is at the centre of their strategic and operational 
priorities and in October 2020, Hate Crime Awareness 
week was promoted across the region. The Community 
Safety Partnership both hosted and supported a series of 
events throughout the week, which included a mixture 
of face-to-face and online engagement activities. As part 
of the planned activity, a social media campaign was 
developed and launched due to the impacts of Covid-19 
reducing the opportunity for personal engagement. A 
series of videos raising awareness of each protected 
characteristic were promoted on social media throughout 
the week, with the aim of increasing the reporting of 
hate crime and awareness of the support available to 
those impacted. In addition, a number of other activities 
took place throughout the week, including town centre 
engagement by Community Cohesion officers within 
RCT, and South Wales Police, as well as radio interviews, 
all of which aimed to encourage conversation and raise 
awareness of issues associated with Hate Crime. By 
adopting a multi-faceted approach to engagement, the 
reach of activity was increased across communities. While 
Hate Crime issues continue to be dealt with effectively 
through weekly partnership Community Tensions 
meetings, additional activity has been put in place to 
ensure a broader reach across each community.

Responses to Anti-Social Behaviour 
Each Community Safety Partnership continues to provide 
a cohesive response to issues surrounding Anti-Social 
Behaviour (ASB) across their respective communities. Each 
Community Safety Partnership provides an effective and 
efficient response to these concerns through their individual 
strategies. Some examples of effective Anti-Social Behaviour 
Management from across South Wales include:

• Two town centre ASB management groups have been 
established in high ASB incident communities within one 
local authority area. Both management groups utilised 
a partnership working approach with a range of key 
statutory, third sector and private sector organisations to 
identify and effectively respond to concerns in the areas 
relating to ASB. In both areas, reports of ASB significantly 
reduced following a series of multi-agency meetings and 
subsequent coordinated action with the intelligence 
shared through these forums.

• In another area, the ASB team has been working within 
specific locations within the community where incidents 
have risen throughout each month. With effective 
collaborative working and targeted CCTV operations 
in hot spot areas, as well as increase in ASB referrals, 
notable decreases in ASB incidences were observed, 
when compared to the same period in the previous year.

S
O

U
T

H
 

W
A

L
E

S
 

P
O

L
I

C
E

 
A

N
D

 
C

R
I

M
E

 
C

O
M

M
I

S
S

I
O

N
E

R
 

 
|

 
 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

2
0

/
2

1

P R I O R I T Y  1

Page 96



11

P R I O R I T Y  1

Strategic Planning 
Community Safety Partnerships have a duty to create 
a three-year strategy outlining the commitments, 
priorities and actions to be taken collaboratively 
through the partnership structure. Community Safety 
Partners across the region are currently reviewing their 
strategies. Support is being provided through the 
Policy & Partnerships Officer to review the crime data 
and supporting information available, and revise their 
forward action plans. We are working with partners to 
ensure that where possible, the priorities outlined within 
Community Safety Strategies are aligned to those within 
the Police and Crime Plan.

Commissioning 
Monitoring commissioning activity remains a priority 
for the Policy & Partnerships Officer. A full assessment 
has been undertaken on previous commissioning 
activity and a full briefing has been created outlining 
the commissioning activity for each Community Safety 
Partnership. This is further mapped against other funding 
sources in addition to that of the Police and Crime 
Commissioner. To increase the effectiveness of our 
commissioning approach, work continues to develop a 
co-ordinated Commissioning Framework that will enable 
alignment of commissioning activity across the portfolio 
areas within the Commissioner’s team.

Annual Reporting 
Annual reports are provided through the commissioning 
process. Improving the reporting process will be a 
priority for the Policy & Partnerships Officer in order to 
maximise the success of Community Safety Partnerships 
resulting from the Commissioner’s contributions.

Engagement with Community 
Safety Partnerships throughout the 
Covid-19 Pandemic 
While Community Safety Partnerships continue to 
work in close collaboration with their partners, in 
order to respond to the concerns presented by the 
Covid-19 pandemic, each partnership has begun 
to resume some level of activity undertaken, prior 
to the introduction of social distancing measures. 
While this transition continues, the Commissioner’s 
Office continues to offer support and assistance 
with relevant activity, where possible. Many of the 
command response forums established throughout 
the lockdown periods, specifically in place to 
respond to the immediate concerns presented 
by the pandemic, have now either progressed to 
recovery planning forums, or have now ended 
with the view of resuming usual Community Safety 
activity. This is an extremely positive step forward, 
and credit must be given to the coordinated efforts 
that have been facilitated by each Community 
Safety Partnership across South Wales, each of 
which has contributed greatly to help ensure the 
safety and wellbeing of those within their respective 
communities. 

S
O

U
T

H
 

W
A

L
E

S
 

P
O

L
I

C
E

 
A

N
D

 
C

R
I

M
E

 
C

O
M

M
I

S
S

I
O

N
E

R
 

 
|

 
 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

2
0

/
2

1Page 97



S
O

U
T

H
 

W
A

L
E

S
 

P
O

L
I

C
E

 
A

N
D

 
C

R
I

M
E

 
C

O
M

M
I

S
S

I
O

N
E

R
 

 
|

 
 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

2
0

/
2

1

12

Priority 2

Engagement

Meeting people, talking to people, and listening, are all 
important in helping the Commissioner to understand 
policing and community safety issues concerning 
communities across South Wales. Hearing directly from 
people in the area enables the Commissioner to effectively 
hold South Wales Police to account on behalf of the public, 
ensuring the police provides an effective and efficient 
service. 

Amid all the challenges presented by Covid-19, social 
distancing had a huge impact on how the Commissioner and 
his team were able to engage with communities during the 
pandemic. As it was difficult to anticipate when we would be 
able to resume our face-to-face engagements, we felt it was 

We will involve and empower our communities, working with partners in local 
government, health, fire and Welsh Government to deliver services that people need

important that our engagement approaches were adapted 
to continue engaging with communities during this period. 

Whilst it was important that we paused physical 
engagement, in line with Welsh Government guidelines, we 
also acknowledged that focussing all of our engagement 
activity online would prevent those who were not digitally 
enabled, from being able to engage with us. In an effort to 
address this, we endeavoured to utilise as many platforms 
as possible, such as radio stations and media interviews, to 
extend the reach of our messaging. We also worked with 
local organisations to better understand alternative methods 
of communication that we could have used during this 
period. 

Page 98



S
O

U
T

H
 

W
A

L
E

S
 

P
O

L
I

C
E

 
A

N
D

 
C

R
I

M
E

 
C

O
M

M
I

S
S

I
O

N
E

R
 

 
|

 
 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

2
0

/
2

1

13

P R I O R I T Y  2

Examples of just some of the submissions we received 
and shared across our social media channels are 
illustrated below:

An overview of the engagement activity we conducted 
during this period is outlined below:

Your Voice, Your Imagination 
As the nation was in lockdown in April 2020, we found 
ourselves in unprecedented and uncertain times due to the 
Covid-19 pandemic. The core message from Government 
was to ‘stay home’ and observe social distancing. 

The Commissioner reinforced this plea through regular 
communication with the public, urging communities to 
adhere to Welsh Government legislation and guidance. To 
empower communities to work with us in developing and 
sharing important Coronavirus messages, the Commissioner 
launched the ‘Your Voice, Your Imagination’ initiative in 
May 2020. The aim of this initiative was to encourage 
children and young people to use their imagination and 
talents to think about safety messages they wanted to share 
with communities across our social media channels. We 
advertised this initiative via our online platforms, as well 
as with partners and by promoting it through local radio 
stations. 

We were pleased to receive a range of creations from 
young people, who had used their imagination to express 
themselves using creative methods to deliver powerful 
messaging.  The messages served to remind us all about the 
importance of staying safe, adhering to social distancing 
restrictions and to recognise the efforts of our ‘key workers’. 
We were grateful for all the effort made and were proud 
to be able to represent the voices of children and young 
people, who helped us to share important messaging during 
a critical period.

D
R

A
W

IN
G

S
GRAPHIC 

DESIGNS

LEGO 
SCENES

S
O

N
G

S

A
N

IM
A

T
IO

N
S

Page 99



S
O

U
T

H
 

W
A

L
E

S
 

P
O

L
I

C
E

 
A

N
D

 
C

R
I

M
E

 
C

O
M

M
I

S
S

I
O

N
E

R
 

 
|

 
 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

2
0

/
2

1

14

"
What precautions 
are the police taking 
to protect people 
who are shielding?

Virtual Community Conversations  
Ordinarily, the Commissioner attends a series of ‘community 
walkabouts’ throughout the year, visiting and speaking 
to communities across the South Wales Police force area 
about local crime and community safety concerns. However, 
in response to Covid-19 social distancing restrictions, 
we adapted this approach by temporarily replacing our 
walkabouts with ‘virtual community conversations’. This 
enabled us to ensure that we were able to maintain a 
dialogue between the Commissioner and the public 
throughout the pandemic.

By the end of March 2021, virtual community conversations 
had been held with residents living in Merthyr Tydfil, 
Swansea, the Vale of Glamorgan, Neath Port Talbot and 
Cardiff. The Commissioner spoke to over 50 residents during 
this period via the digital platform ‘Zoom’, about the service 
provided by South Wales Police, as well as crime and anti-
social behaviour-related issues affecting the local area. 

Some examples of the issues raised by residents at our 
Community Conversations are illustrated below:

P R I O R I T Y  2

All issues raised though each of the Community 
Conversations were taken seriously by the 
Commissioner and following each meeting the 
Commissioner spoke with local policing teams 
and partner agencies to appropriately address 
each concern that had been raised.

Discussions took place 
about how the police were 
taking into consideration 
the health of individuals 
who were shielding when 
they were responding and 
interacting with the public.

Residents aren't 
getting follow-up 
contact from the 
police.

Examples were shared 
where victims who had 
reported to South Wales 
Police hadn't received any 
follow up contact from 
officers since their initial 
report.

How are you 
helping to divert 
young people 
from anti-social 
behaviour?

Some residents 
queried what work 
was being done 
with the community 
to help divert 
yound people away 
from anti-social 
behaviour.

It's important that the police 
recognise and understand the 
impact that Covid is having on 
people's mental health.

Concerns were raised about the 
impact that lockdown was having on 
people's mental health. Residents were 
compassionate in responding to people 
who were vulnerable and at crisis point.

Page 100



S
O

U
T

H
 

W
A

L
E

S
 

P
O

L
I

C
E

 
A

N
D

 
C

R
I

M
E

 
C

O
M

M
I

S
S

I
O

N
E

R
 

 
|

 
 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

2
0

/
2

1

15

Young Voices Conversation   
During 2020/21, the Commissioner established a ‘Young 
Voices Conversation’ forum, which aims to provide a 
regular platform for young people, between the ages of 
11 and 25, to share their feedback and experiences with 
the Commissioner and senior officers within South Wales 
Police. Hearing directly from young people about the issues 
and concerns affecting them, enables the Commissioner to 
encourage and promote a better understanding of the needs 
and experiences of young people in South Wales. 

Local conversations with young people were scheduled 
throughout the year and they will continue for the year 
ahead. The advice, challenges and information shared 
by young people will be carefully considered by the 
Commissioner and South Wales Police and will enable 
the opportunity for joint working in the development 
of solutions.

The Young Voices Conversation forum was launched in 
December 2020 using the virtual platform ‘Zoom’. Over 40 
young people attended the event, who were aged between 
12 and 21. The Police and Crime Commissioner and Deputy 
Chief Constable were panel members at the event and 
encouraged young people to put forward their questions 
and feedback to them.

An overview of some of the feedback and queries raised 
by young people is outlined below:

A number of young people told us that they felt police inputs at schools and youth 
clubs should be held more regulalry. They told us that police inputs on issues such 
as knife crime were very valuable and they hoped that engagement with young 
people would remain a priority for the police.

Queries were raised about how the police were trying to prevent  young people 
carrying knives and whether the police felt they were in control of tackling and 
preventing knife crime.

Young people spoke to us about their concerns in relation to the number of young 
ethnic minority people being regularly stopped and searched by the police and 
asked how the police intended to address unconcious bias.

Covid restrictions were raised by a number of young people, who were interested 
in understanding how the police were planning to ‘crack down’ on those who 
weren’t abiding by them.

A concern was raised in relation to ‘cat calling’ and other intimidating behaviours 
whilst out running, which caused many young women and girls to feel unsafe and 
what could be realistically done to address this behaviour.

P R I O R I T Y  2

Page 101



16

What they want us to protect from further cuts: 

Drugs and substance misuse

Speeding and dangerous driving

Burglary and theft

Alcohol related crime and disorder

Mental health related crime and 
anti-social behaviour

P R I O R I T Y  2

Our Police, Our Community 
The Police and Crime Commissioner is responsible for 
allocating the police budget and setting the police 
precept level in South Wales. In the autumn of 2020, the 
Commissioner launched a public consultation survey 
to enable communities to share their views on policing 
priorities, including how much extra they would be willing 
to pay towards policing as part of their council tax (police 
precept) for 2021/22.

The survey results highlighted that 69% of residents were 
willing to pay more per month towards their council tax to 
support policing in South Wales, with nearly half (46.5%) 
telling us they would be prepared to pay an extra £2 a 
month.

As part of the survey, residents were also asked to tell us 
about crime and anti-social behaviour-related issues they 
were most concerned about in their community. The top 
three issues highlighted were:

• Drugs and Substance Misuse (50%)

• Speeding and Dangerous Driving (35%)

• Burglary and Theft (34%) 

To help the Commissioner understand what residents felt 
the police should be prioritising, respondents were asked to 
select up to three organisational priorities from a pre-defined 
list. Over half of respondents (60%) ranked ‘improving 
the policing response to victims of crime, including the 
prompt provision of updates’ as a top policing priority. A 
detailed report of the survey responses is outlined in our 
'Consultation Summary Report’.

The information gathered via the consultation assisted 
the Commissioner in his decision-making when setting 
the precept level for 2021/22. Feedback gathered in 
relation to local policing priorities and the service provided 
by South Wales Police also helped to inform the refresh 
of the Commissioner’s Police and Crime Plan and will 
be considered as part of the Commissioner’s scrutiny 
programme and policy and project portfolio for 2021/22.

S
O

U
T

H
 

W
A

L
E

S
 

P
O

L
I

C
E

 
A

N
D

 
C

R
I

M
E

 
C

O
M

M
I

S
S

I
O

N
E

R
 

 
|

 
 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

2
0

/
2

1

Improving the policing response 

to victims of crime, including the 

prompt provision of updates.

Increasing engagement with 

children and young people, 

listening to their views and 

experiences.

Making 101 and other police 

non- emergency contact options 

more accessible.

Top 3 priorities that communities told us 
they would like the police to focus on over 
the next few years:

WHAT THE PUBLIC 
ARE TELLING US

of people would be 
willing to contribute 
more towards police 
funding through 
their council tax.

50%

35%

34%

23%

21%

69%

60%

46%

42%

Page 102



S
O

U
T

H
 

W
A

L
E

S
 

P
O

L
I

C
E

 
A

N
D

 
C

R
I

M
E

 
C

O
M

M
I

S
S

I
O

N
E

R
 

 
|

 
 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

2
0

/
2

1

17

P R I O R I T Y  2

Social Media 
Social media continues to be a key platform for us to 
engage and inform the communities of South Wales around 
the work of the Commissioner and his team, particularly 
with the impacts of the pandemic limiting other forms of 
engagement. In 2020/21 we observed some significant 
increases to our social media audience:

@Commissionersw

+955%
Increase in followers

+18%
the largest percentage 
increase in followers 
of the 40 Police & 
Crime Commissioners

6th

largest in terms of 
the actual volume of 
followers added

+80%
becoming the most 
followed Instagram 
account of the 40 
Police & Crime 
Commissioners

Page 103



S
O

U
T

H
 

W
A

L
E

S
 

P
O

L
I

C
E

 
A

N
D

 
C

R
I

M
E

 
C

O
M

M
I

S
S

I
O

N
E

R
 

 
|

 
 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

2
0

/
2

1

18

Priority 3

Tackling Violence against 
Women & Girls

Violence against Women and Girls, Domestic abuse and 
Sexual Violence is devastating and often results in a lifetime 
of adversity for victims, their families and communities.   It 
does not discriminate – it affects people from all walks of life 
and the impact can be more severe and long-lasting. 

In South Wales during 2020/21 there were 33,969 domestic 
abuse reported occurrences, of which 23,914 had a female 
victim linked and 16,271 were crimes. In addition, there 
were 2,249 incidents of stalking reported, which resulted in 
1,929 crimes and a total of 1,529 female victims.  

Agencies have adapted their services over the last year due 
to the Covid-19 pandemic with the demand and complexity 
of cases increasing and the acknowledgement that there are 
still significant levels of under reporting to the police. Since 

We will work to protect the most vulnerable in our communities,  
understanding causes and taking prompt positive action as issues arise

the easing of lockdown, reporting figures and trends have 
returned to pre-pandemic levels, although the demand and 
concern being felt by specialist referral agencies remained 
consistent.

Delivery of the ‘Tackling Violence Against Women and Girls: 
a Joint Strategy 2019-2024’ has remained our focus during 
this period, with the aim of reaching a broader audience 
and ensuring that violence against women and girls across 
our communities is everyone’s business. We have continued 
to work closely with other agencies in order to develop a 
collaborative approach across the South Wales force area to 
enhance access to a range of services available to victims, 
survivors, witnesses and perpetrators.  The four key areas of 
focus continue to be:

1. Enhanced Collaboration: working together to deliver 
a whole system approach to preventing violence 
against women and girls in all its forms

2. Prevention and early intervention: with partners focus 
on the long-term impact of decisions and work to 
keep people safe, healthy and well

3. Safeguarding: build on existing safeguarding 
arrangements, seeking ways to protect all victims, 
wherever they may be

4. Perpetrators: increase focus on the behaviour of 
the perpetrator (in parallel with supporting victims 
and survivors of violence and abuse) to better hold 
perpetrators to account for the consequences of 
their actions and offer opportunities to change their 
behaviour through a range of interventions

Page 104



S
O

U
T

H
 

W
A

L
E

S
 

P
O

L
I

C
E

 
A

N
D

 
C

R
I

M
E

 
C

O
M

M
I

S
S

I
O

N
E

R
 

 
|

 
 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

2
0

/
2

1

19

To achieve each of the policing priorities but in 
particular ‘work to protect the most vulnerable in our 
communities’, we continue to deliver the initiatives 
detailed below.

DRIVE 
Building on the evidence base illustrated through the 
publication of the Bristol evaluation of DRIVE, a high 
harm perpetrator case management intervention, the 
Commissioner has continued to invest in the project whilst 
looking to further expand its reach. DRIVE continues to 
realise significant benefits, including victims reporting 
increased feelings of safety, coupled with a reduction in 
repeat offending by perpetrators, primarily due to the 
ability of agencies to work together in both supportive 
and disruption interventions. In the past 12 months alone, 
DRIVE has supported 1,996 perpetrators, 2,248 victims 
and 3,624 children and young people. During 2020/21 
the Commissioner agreed to expand delivery across 
all 7 local authority areas in South Wales, supported by 
a successful funding application to the Home Office.  
Delivery of DRIVE across South Wales has raised awareness 
of the benefits of perpetrator interventions and encouraged 
wider collaboration in our relentless effort to eradicate 
violence against women & girls.

The independent three year evaluation of DRIVE, 
conducted by the University of Bristol involving the analysis 
of over 500 cases, has shown a significant reduction in the 
use of abuse.

• physical abuse reduced by 82%

• sexual abuse reduced by 88%

• harassment and stalking behaviours reduced by 75%

• jealous and controlling behaviours reduced by 73%

There was also a reduction of risk for the duration of the 
intervention in 82% of cases, with a 30% reduction in 
domestic violence offending incidents recorded for DRIVE 
service users, compared to no change for control group 
perpetrators.  

Without the continuation of this work, domestic abuse 
perpetrators will continue to enter new relationships, 
create more victims and expose children to harmful abusive 
behaviour.  It is about ending abuse for victims of today – 
but also the victims of tomorrow.

P R I O R I T Y  3

Change that Lasts 
The Commissioner has continued to fund the partnership 
between Welsh Women’s Aid and Respect to develop, 
deliver and evidence a fundamental strategic and 
operational change in the way agencies and communities 
respond and best meet the needs of victims of all forms of 
male violence against women. This strengths-based, needs-
led approach raises awareness and empowers survivors and 
communities to support domestic abuse survivors and their 
children to build resilience and leads to independence.   This 
unique model has been expanded from domestic abuse to 
incorporate all forms of violence against women, domestic 
abuse and sexual violence (VAWDASV) (to reflect Welsh 
Policy and legislative context) and has also developed a 
perpetrator strand to the work called CLEAR. 

Change that Lasts operates across four distinct areas:

1. Community Ambassadors “Ask Me”

2. Trusted Professional

3. Specialist Support Services (Survivor strand)

4. Specialist Services (Perpetrator strand)

Discussions have been taking place with the VAWDASV 
Regional Advisors to explore further opportunities for roll 
out and from April 2021, there will be a jointly funded, full 
regional conversation across the South Wales Police area 
involving the Ask Me Ambassadors.

Page 105



S
O

U
T

H
 

W
A

L
E

S
 

P
O

L
I

C
E

 
A

N
D

 
C

R
I

M
E

 
C

O
M

M
I

S
S

I
O

N
E

R
 

 
|

 
 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

2
0

/
2

1

20

P R I O R I T Y  3

Family Interventions 
Work is continuing in this area to intervene at 
the earliest opportunity, and support long term 
behaviour change of perpetrators to support 
families in working together to reduce risk of harm 
to children and adult victims. This acknowledges 
the complex nature of domestic abuse and the 
impact of coercive control, where often the victim 
is given the responsibility of keeping children 
safe, without even a conversation with the 
perpetrator, or any focus on them making changes.  
The intervention is focused on families who are 
experiencing domestic abuse but wish to remain 
living together, enabling access to support and 
where necessary, enable opportunities to separate 
safely and amicably.  This programme is now fully 
funded by the South Wales Police and Crime 
Commissioner.  During the Covid-19 pandemic, 
the contact methods with families have needed to 
be adapted in order support could be maintained

SWAN Project – Support Wellbeing 
Advocacy eNablement  
This innovative project supports people with 
experiences of sex work, survivor sex and / or 
sexual exploitation within Swansea.  It provides 
practical and emotional support and aims to 
improve the safety and wellbeing of women 
accessing the service. Additional funding received 
from the Ministry of Justice has enabled the 
funding of this work for another year, with support 
delivered in multiple ways:

• Day-time crisis support & advocacy for sexually 
exploited women

• Evening outreach service, 4 nights a week for 
women sexually exploited on the streets who 
are at high risk

• Fortnightly visits to local sex parlours & weekly 
phone check-ins with women

• Monitoring of local online sex work via Adult 
Works & Viva St. Support available to women if 
requested

• Participation in multi-agency meeting ensuring 
a multi-agency partnership approach

Page 106



S
O

U
T

H
 

W
A

L
E

S
 

P
O

L
I

C
E

 
A

N
D

 
C

R
I

M
E

 
C

O
M

M
I

S
S

I
O

N
E

R
 

 
|

 
 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

2
0

/
2

1

21

P R I O R I T Y  3

IRIS  
The IRIS initiative is core to our approach in South 
Wales and continues to be delivered in Cwm Taff 
Morgannwg and Cardiff and the Vale where it is 
now predominantly funded by the two University 
Health Boards as part of core business, working 
towards a more sustainable approach to funding 
and the delivery of services.  Between 2015 and 
2021, over 2000 referrals have been received 
from health professionals in the Cwm Taff 
Morgannwg and Cardiff and the Vale.  In 2019 the 
Commissioner extended funding to Swansea Bay 
University Health Board to support the setup of 
an initial implementation of IRIS, however due 
to the Covid-19 pandemic and immunisation 
programme training was delayed. Currently, a 
total of 111 members of staff in GP Practices have now been 
trained from Swansea Bay University Health Board resulting 
in 39 referrals, with Calan DVS now appointed as the third 
sector organisation supporting IRIS in the area.

Tackling vulnerability during Covid-19 
In response to Covid-19, a review on the impact to 
services during the pandemic was completed to assist us 
in understanding areas of concern and the needs from 
a frontline specialist services perspective.  A number of 
themes were highlighted which has assisted us in identifying 
priority areas on which to focus and also has fed through into 
a needs assessment for additional funding, made available 
from the Home Office and Ministry of Justice.

As a result we have been better equipped to work 
collaboratively with partners/agencies in order to 
provide much needed support and assistance during the 
pandemic, including:

• Helping to shape services – such as the leading role in 
the various initiatives implemented such as Drive, IRIS 
and Change That Lasts in order to develop a consistent 
and coherent approach across the force area

• Enabling systems change

• Informing decision making

• Raising awareness and understanding

Mental Health 
The Mental Health Crisis Care Concordat for Wales focuses 
on preventing people reaching a crisis point in the first place 
and ensuring that when people are in a state of crisis, they 
have fast and easy access into appropriate services that meet 
their needs. 

The establishment of regional Crisis Care Concordat 
multi-agency groups in each of our three University Health 
Board areas (Cardiff & Vale, Cwm Taf and Swansea Bay) is 
encouraging more effective multi-agency working for people 
with mental ill-health and/or a learning disability who 
encounter Criminal Justice agencies.  

Partnership working and collaboration between the NHS, 
local authorities, police and third sector is key to embedding 
the aims of the Concordat and preventing and supporting 
people in crisis, or who are at risk of crisis.  The regional 
groups act as the driving force to deliver local and regional 
change and improvement, considering all information 
available from cross-agencies, as well as the perspective 
of those with lived experience of mental ill-health and/or 
learning disabilities when they have come into contact with 
Criminal Justice agencies.  

All 3 regional groups report to the Crisis Care Concordat 
Assurance Group and ultimately Welsh Government’s Mental 
Health Delivery and Oversight Board.

Page 107



22

Victims 
The Victim Services funded by the Commissioner have 
continued to help victims cope and recover from the effects 
of crime and ensure that the Criminal Justice System puts 
their needs first. The Ministry of Justice provides an annual 
grant to all Police & Crime Commissioners allowing them to 
decide how best to commission services that meet the needs 
of victims locally. South Wales ‘Victim Focus’, delivered by 
Victim Support, is our core service for victims, providing 
free and confidential needs-led, help and support to anyone 
affected by crime. 

The needs of Victims of Crime are a key priority within 
the South Wales Police & Crime Plan:

• The Criminal Justice system needs to have a clear 
emphasis on improving outcomes for victims of Crime

• Ensuring that the voice of victims is key in shaping 
service provision

• Increasing the usage of Restorative Approaches to 
ensure the victims’ voice is heard

We will work to make the local criminal justice system efficient  
and effective to meet the needs of victims and reduce re-offending

Preparation for the Victims Code of 
Practice (VCoP) 
The revised Victims Code of Practice compliance framework 
is now in place.  The Crown Prosecution Service (CPS) have 
agreed to dip sample 20 cases on behalf of all other Criminal 
Justice Agencies, which will be shared within one central 
point. Each agency will then complete a standardised set 
of both quantitative and qualitative compliance questions 
that will monitor compliance under the Code for each of the 
victims identified. 

All four forces are in the process of embedding the South 
Wales model within their individual compliance monitoring 
plans. There is additional interest more broadly across 
English forces. This is being driven through the Victims 
and Witness Performance Sub group, which is chaired by 
DCC Emma Ackland of Dyfed Powys Police. The South 
Wales region will lead on a pilot exercise that will test this 
model, and will subsequently provide feedback on the 
opportunities, barriers and additional recommendations to 
all other forces areas interested in utilising this model.

Priority 4

S
O

U
T

H
 

W
A

L
E

S
 

P
O

L
I

C
E

 
A

N
D

 
C

R
I

M
E

 
C

O
M

M
I

S
S

I
O

N
E

R
 

 
|

 
 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

2
0

/
2

1 Page 108



23

P R I O R I T Y  4

Victim Services Funded by Ministry of 
Justice Grant 
Funding to support the Commissioner to provide 
services for victims across South Wales is funded by 
the MoJ core grant, a total of £1,555,835 was 
distributed to service providers to support victims and 
witnesses of crime.

As well as the Ministry of Justice victim services 
core grant, there has also been additional funding 
specifically to support victims and survivors of domestic 
abuse and sexual violence, with an uplift to the core 
victim’s grant of £318,847 for Domestic abuse and 
£109,827 for sexual violence.  An open and transparent 
process was conducted for funding applications 
through completing of an online needs assessment 
which resulted in submissions from 18 organisations 
that were scrutinised by the Victims and Vulnerability 
team, with recommendations for funding submitted to 
the Ministry of Justice.

In addition, further funding was made available by 
an expression of interest, to increase Independent 
Domestic Violence Adviser (IDVA) and Independent 
Sexual Violence Adviser (ISVA) capacity across South 
Wales for a period of 2 years. A mapping exercise was 
carried out and the expression of interest submitted to 
the Ministry of Justice.  All aspects of our application 
were successful, resulting in a total of £846,000 being 
awarded to South Wales.

IDVA Provision 
The Commissioner has supported wider IDVA 
provision across South Wales, through joint-
commissioning with several organisations. For a 
second year we have continued commissioning in 
partnership with, Atal-Y-Fro, Cardiff Council, Swansea 
Council, Safer Merthyr Tydfil and New Pathways; this 
ensures provision across our communities, including 
within the courts in Merthyr Tydfil and a dedicated 
Male increase Independent Domestic & Sexual 
Violence (IDSVA) provision in Cardiff.

Through the Violence against Women, Domestic 
Abuse and Sexual Violence (Wales) Act 2015, local 
authorities have a duty to improve the prevention, 
protection and support for people affected by 
violence against women, domestic abuse and 
sexual violence. In response to the Act, the Welsh 
Government has set out in its national strategy an 
objective to provide victims “with access to holistic, 
appropriately resourced, high quality, needs led, 
strength based, gender responsive services across 
Wales.” It also states that “whilst it is important that 
this Strategy acknowledges and communicates the 
disproportionate experience of women and girls, 
this does not negate violence and abuse directed 
towards men and boys, or that which is perpetrated 
by women.

The IDVA’s offer specialist advocacy for victims 
accessing the weekly Specialist Domestic Violence 
Court (SDVC), liaising with Crown Prosecution Service 
(CPS), Witness Care, Witness Service, National 
Probation Service and Police colleagues. This role is 
represented at the SDVC Operational Group meetings 
which monitors CPS outcomes, Police performance 
data and requirements/developments under the Best 
Practice Framework.

S
O

U
T

H
 

W
A

L
E

S
 

P
O

L
I

C
E

 
A

N
D

 
C

R
I

M
E

 
C

O
M

M
I

S
S

I
O

N
E

R
 

 
|

 
 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

2
0

/
2

1Page 109



P R I O R I T Y  4

24

ISVA Provision 
Independent Sexual Violence Advisers are specialist 
support workers who can assist and support a client in the 
weeks and months after an assault. The role of the ISVA is 
to provide practical and emotional support to recent and 
historic victims of sexual crimes. The ISVA will provide 
the victim with impartial advice on all options available to 
them to enable the client to make informed choices. The 
client is supported throughout and beyond the Criminal 
Justice Process. If required, they can help throughout the 
court process from start to finish and we are working with 
our criminal justice partners to strengthen these support 
mechanisms. 

The ISVA keeps the client updated on developments 
and liaises with other agencies on the client’s behalf. 
They advocate for the client to ensure that the process 
is client focused and that they receive the best possible 
multi-agency response. To do this the ISVA liaises with 
all relevant agencies including the police, CPS, Mental 
health Services, GP’s, Housing or social services; it is 
dependent on the needs of the individual client.makes a 
significant contribution is being spent effectively.

The Commissioner funds New Pathways to provide ISVA 
Services on his behalf within the Vale of Glamorgan.

S
O

U
T

H
 

W
A

L
E

S
 

P
O

L
I

C
E

 
A

N
D

 
C

R
I

M
E

 
C

O
M

M
I

S
S

I
O

N
E

R
 

 
|

 
 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

2
0

/
2

1 Page 110



25

South Wales Victim Focus 
The Commissioner funds services for witnesses and victims 
of crime in South Wales with Victim Support (VS) delivering 
the local, dedicated service called South Wales Victim Focus 
which supports the Commissioner’s ambitious plans to 
continue to meet the needs of victims and witnesses of crime 
in communities across South Wales.  During 2020-21 there 
were a total of 17,888 referrals and of this number, 10,579 
were provided with direct support, 309 onward referrals 
were made to specialist support services and as a result 
of their interaction with South Wales Victim Focus, 2,437 
service users indicated that they were better able to recover 
and cope with aspects of everyday life. 

The service works alongside partner agencies in 
communities across South Wales and helps encourage closer 
partnership working and streamlined sharing of information 
on cases to provide a holistic service to victims in South 
Wales. Demand for the service continues to rise and this is 
due, in part, to the depth of engagement work conducted 
by the staff and volunteers of South Wales Victim Focus, 
across communities with partner agencies, the police and 
multi-disciplinary teams.

P R I O R I T Y  4

17,888 

referrals

10,579
provided with direct support

309
onward referrals were made to 

specialist support services

2,437
service users indicated they were 
better able to cope with aspects 

of everyday life

Page 111



S
O

U
T

H
 

W
A

L
E

S
 

P
O

L
I

C
E

 
A

N
D

 
C

R
I

M
E

 
C

O
M

M
I

S
S

I
O

N
E

R
 

 
|

 
 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

2
0

/
2

1

26

Child Sexual Abuse (CSA) Counselling 
Here in South Wales, New Pathways provides a two tiered 
holistic approach to counselling victims of Child Sexual 
Abuse:

Children’s Therapy - Children’s counsellors provide 
counselling for children and young people who have 
experienced childhood sexual abuse and child sexual 
exploitation. Different modalities of counselling are provided 
including art, music, drama and play therapy. They also 
provide support and advice for parents and carers who are 
indirectly affected by what has happened to their loved 
ones.

Adult Counselling - Counsellors provide specialist 
counselling for any person who has experienced any form of 
sexual violence. Specialist pre-trial therapy is provided for 
clients needing counselling, who are also involved with the 
criminal justice process. This counselling ensures that clients 
are able to have additional support during the criminal 
justice process, without causing difficulties evidentially.

Supporting Victims & Witnesses a Joint 
Strategy for South Wales 2021-2026 
Victims are firmly at the heart of the South Wales approach, 
protecting the vulnerable, supporting victims and helping 
to protect people from becoming victims in the first place.   
Victims and witnesses have remained at the core of the 
Police and Crime Plan since 2012, focused around the 
principles of early intervention and prompt, positive action, 
which requires close cooperation with other agencies and to 
make the local Criminal justice system efficient and effective, 
whilst preventing crime and reducing reoffending.

Remote Evidence Sites 
Due to the Covid-19 pandemic and associated recovery 
planning between criminal justice agencies, a review of 
current working practices within the remote link sites utilised 
by Her Majesty’s Courts and Tribunal Service (HMCTS) in 
South Wales was conducted, led by the South Wales Police 
and Crime Commissioner’s team. 

The responsibilities of the Criminal Justice Agencies, South 
Wales Police, South Wales Police Witness Care unit, Crown 
Prosecution Service, the Citizens Advice Witness Service and 
HMCTs were collectively agreed and a South Wales Remote 
Site Protocol, and Evidence from Home process were jointly 
developed and approved.

P R I O R I T Y  4

Page 112



S
O

U
T

H
 

W
A

L
E

S
 

P
O

L
I

C
E

 
A

N
D

 
C

R
I

M
E

 
C

O
M

M
I

S
S

I
O

N
E

R
 

 
|

 
 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

2
0

/
2

1

27

P R I O R I T Y  4

Victims’ referral pathways 
Partnership work is ongoing with South Wales Police and 
others to ensure the referral pathways for victims are as 
streamlined as possible. Efforts have been focused upon 
the creation of a communications network between the 
specialist services, to provide insight and suggestions to 
best support any victim through the criminal justice process.  
All organisations involved in this process are now working 
with a co-produced set of outcomes that can demonstrate 
progress whilst encouraging continuous improvement 
towards an overarching strategic alliance for victims.

Victim and Survivor Engagement 
A new, dedicated role will focus on undertaking a mapping 
exercise on victim and survivor engagement across South 
Wales, looking in particular at best practice as well as any 
gaps and/or challenges. The role will look to ensure that 
survivor and victim feedback is embedded into policy, 
practice and delivery to reduce any instances where victims 
may be contacted by a number of organisations, ensuring 
that this is done in a coordinated manner where the victim 
feels supported.

Modern Slavery 
Further discussions have taken place with the Modern 
Slavery Lead and subsequently with the Force Intelligence 
Bureau who have agreed to undertake a specific piece 
of work with the Commissioner’s Team around Modern 
Slavery. This piece of work will consist of a National Referral 
Mechanism review in South Wales, specifically from the 
perspective of the time between the positive grounds 
decision and a conclusive grounds decision (a 45 day 
window). 

We are currently facilitating a national conversation with 
other Commissioners in Wales, as well as Tarian and the 
Welsh Local Government Assocation (WLGA), in order 
to understand the operational direction of Modern 
Slavery across Wales. The aim of this will be to influence 
activity at a leadership level. There is consensus between 
Commissioners that in order to obtain a national perspective, 
they will seek to undertake a consultation exercise with 
force representatives to understand the needs, barriers and 
opportunities in relation to understanding and responding 
to Modern Slavery. The findings of this exercise will be 
presented at a leadership level, which will outline a set of 
recommendations and propose a collaborative way forward 
to address some of the identified concerns.

The team are also undertaking a scoping exercise, with 
the aim of carrying out a deeper analysis in to online 
harms during Covid-19, specifically in relation to online 
sexual exploitation and the multi-agency response to this. 
Understanding and responding to issues relating to child 
exploitation more broadly through a partnership perspective 
is at the forefront of the priorities within the Victims and 
Vulnerability team throughout 2021.

Page 113



S
O

U
T

H
 

W
A

L
E

S
 

P
O

L
I

C
E

 
A

N
D

 
C

R
I

M
E

 
C

O
M

M
I

S
S

I
O

N
E

R
 

 
|

 
 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

2
0

/
2

1

28

P R I O R I T Y  4

YOUTH OFFENDING AREA ALLOCATION DETAIL

Western Bay Early Intervention and Youth Justice Board £130,800 Swansea £63,100, Neath Port Talbot £35,800, Bridgend £31,900

Cwm Taf Youth Offending Service £99,300 RCT £64,400, Merthyr £34,900

Cardiff Youth Offending Service Management Board £78,700 -

Vale of Glamorgan Youth Offending Board £23,200 -

TOTAL 2020/21 £332,000

The Strategic lead for Criminal Justice monitors the 
Commissioner’s contribution to delivery of youth justice 
through representation at Youth Offending Team (YOT) 
Management Boards, scrutinising performance and 
ensures the budget to which the Commissioner makes 
a significant contribution is being spent effectively. 
The management board provides the key role in the 
leadership, strategic direction and governance of a youth 
offending team ensuring that positive outcomes are 
achieved for children and young people. As part of the 
management board the Commissioner Team holds the 
YOT to account to ensure that it achieves the primary aim 
of the youth justice system, as set out in the Crime and 
Disorder Act 1998; to prevent offending by children and 
young people.

RASSO Review (Rape and Serious Sexual 
Offences) 
The initial review completed by the Commissioner’s Team 
will now be revisited and planning will take place with the 
South Wales Police Public Protection Department (PPD) 
to identify further areas to review moving forward. In 
addition, Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and 
Fire & Rescue Services (HMICFRS) have now commissioned 
Opinion Research Services (ORS) to undertake interviews 
with rape victims as part of their thematic inspection, 
facilitated by New Pathways – therefore the situation on 
RASSO and work to review the South Wales landscape is 
active and ongoing.

The Victims and Vulnerability team is linked in to several 
pieces of work being facilitated through PPD colleagues 
and this is being monitored through the Multi-Agency Rape 
Strategic Group, within which the Victims and Vulnerability 
team hold a number of ongoing actions.

Restorative Justice 
Safer Wales Ltd has committed to being a restorative service 
and is in the second year of developing its practices both for 
service users and needs of staff working with trauma daily. 
Restorative activity is increasing across South Wales, which 
includes early intervention and prevention, as well as formal 
restorative justice response programmes.  Restorative justice 
and wider restorative approaches are being adopted across 
sectors as best practice embedded interventions and are 
being used to facilitate and support whole systems change 
that is trauma informed and strength based.

Youth Justice Service 
The Commissioner’s contribution of £332,000 to Youth 
Offending in 2020/21 has helped the Partnerships to deliver 
early intervention and preventions services, diversionary 
activities, substance misuse services and services for victims 
of youth crime. They received the following contributions 
to service:

Page 114



S
O

U
T

H
 

W
A

L
E

S
 

P
O

L
I

C
E

 
A

N
D

 
C

R
I

M
E

 
C

O
M

M
I

S
S

I
O

N
E

R
 

 
|

 
 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

2
0

/
2

1

29

P R I O R I T Y  4

StaySafe 
Funded by the Commissioner through Youth Offending 
contributions, StaySafe is a joint project with Cardiff 
Youth Offending Services and South Wales Police. 
It aims to reduce anti-social behaviour, safeguard 
children, reduce first time entrants to the criminal justice 
system, develop a vibrant and safe night time economy, 
assist people and communities to feel safe and reduce 
damaging alcohol and illegal drug consumption. The 
team work within the city centre (Saturdays between 
3pm-9pm) and at anti-social behaviour hotpots 
across the city, as identified by the Police. Despite 
Covid-19 restrictions having a severe impact upon 
service delivery, StaySafe has continued to operate 
where possible. For example during the period, 1st 
September 2020 to 31st March 2021, StaySafe ran 
16 operations. This included being part of Operation 
Bang on Halloween and operations being established 
in response to reports of anti-social behaviour and 
violent incidents. There will be a move toward more 
community based interventions during 2021/22 and 
developing closer links with the missing persons and 
ThinkSafe exploitation teams.

Step into Sport 
Step into Sport is a project that aims to improve confidence, 
motivation, and the physical and mental health of young 
people within or at risk of becoming involved in the 
justice system by using sport as a vehicle for promoting 
opportunities that will lead to long term behaviour change. 

It has long been recognised that sport can bring about 
lasting benefits to disadvantaged children and young 
people and the communities they live in. Well-designed, 
local, and accessible sports provisions are proven to build 
young people’s confidence, competence and connectivity 
to their local community. In addition to the vast array of 
health and well-being benefits associated with sports 
participation, which is also proven to positively address and 
prevent the risk of Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs), 
sport, when designed and delivered effectively, can support 
young people to build their employability skills through 
engagement with localised training. 

This collaborative project between the South Wales Police 
and Crime Commissioner, Cardiff Metropolitan University, 
Cardiff Youth Justice Service and South Wales Police Youth 
Trust will go live in May 2021. £20,000 in funding for this 
project has been made available by the South Wales Police 
Youth Trust and matched by Cardiff Metropolitan University. 
The project will be based in Cardiff with numerous clubs 
benefitting from the resources and experience, including:

• Caerau Ely RFC and Caerau Ely FC

• Cardiff City Table Tennis Club

• GLL Leisure

• Hangar Human Performance Centre

• Llanrumney Phoenix Boxing Club

• Tiger Bay ABC

Resources will also be contributed from 
partners in Sport Cardiff, the Youth Justice 
Service and the Cardiff Youth Service, all 
of whom will work together to empower 
young people to build confidence, 
motivation and realise their potential for a 
more positive future.

Page 115



S
O

U
T

H
 

W
A

L
E

S
 

P
O

L
I

C
E

 
A

N
D

 
C

R
I

M
E

 
C

O
M

M
I

S
S

I
O

N
E

R
 

 
|

 
 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

2
0

/
2

1

30

P R I O R I T Y  4

Enhanced Case Management 
The Commissioner’s Team has worked in partnership with 
the Youth Justice Board, Welsh Government, Public Health 
Wales, and the South Wales Youth Offending Teams (YOTs) 
and the Forensic Adolescent Consultation and Treatment 
Service, to trial a youth justice response to Adverse 
Childhood Experiences (ACEs). The project is built on the 
learning around ACEs and the initial test of Enhanced Case 
Management (ECM) through further implementation and 
evaluation of trauma-informed practice. This has involved 
bringing together the use of an ACE-lens to improve how 
we identify and respond to the needs of young people who 
are repeat offenders and the enhanced case management 
approach will be the response when a high prevalence of 
adverse childhood experiences, trauma and complexity is 
identified. This three-year programme of work commenced 
in 2017-18 and the evaluation, published in March 2021, 
concluded that:

• In the youth justice system, there is increasing 
recognition among professionals that approaches 
which focus on managing risk and enforcing punitive 
consequences often overlook the needs of the child 
and can be largely ineffective for achieving positive 
outcomes 

• However, some YOTs are reshaping how services are 
delivered to enable a ‘Child-First’ and trauma-informed 
approach to be adopted

The findings of this report have highlighted that in Wales, 
there has been a shift in youth justice, with an increase in 
ACE and trauma-informed awareness and practice. Training 
on ACE and trauma-informed approaches and the delivery 
of ECM have galvanised this shift, allowing some YOTs 
to move towards a more holistic approach that focuses 
on understanding what has happened to a child and the 
complex issues they experience, through which they are 
able to improve the support they provide to children, to 
develop their strengths and realise their potential. 

The findings demonstrate a number of benefits to the ECM 
approach, including a more comprehensive understanding 
of the child, effective collaboration across agencies, the 
delivery of meaningful and developmentally appropriate 
interventions and the provision of services that can be hard 
to secure for some children. Furthermore, ECM enabled 
YOT workers to take a more considered view of breach, 
and a more trauma-informed approach to various transition 
processes. Overall, both YOT workers and children reported 
marked progression in positive outcomes as a result of 
ECM. Children developed positive relationships with their 
YOT worker and professionals from other agencies, more 
confidence to reach out to services using their own volition, 
improved emotional-regulation, greater self-worth and a 
positive future orientation. However, the findings suggest 
there is still more to do to embed trauma-informed and 
‘Child-First’ approaches into the youth justice system as a 
whole.

Page 116



S
O

U
T

H
 

W
A

L
E

S
 

P
O

L
I

C
E

 
A

N
D

 
C

R
I

M
E

 
C

O
M

M
I

S
S

I
O

N
E

R
 

 
|

 
 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

2
0

/
2

1

31

P R I O R I T Y  4

Women’s Pathfinder and 18-25 Early 
Intervention Service 
The Women’s Pathfinder Programme has been committed 
to improving outcomes through early intervention and 
coordinating necessary interventions to support long lasting 
change and build resilience.  This has involved a multi-
agency approach to build on existing practice and provision 
to enable women and their children to have access to the 
services they need in their own communities. 

The Commissioner has committed funding for this scheme 
since 2015 and during the piloting phase (Cardiff and 
Cwm Taf) over 1,500 women accessed early intervention 
support to enable them to address their needs and 
offending behaviour. A formal evaluation of these pilots 
evidenced a 26% reduction in re-offending and found that 
the overall re-arrest rate in the pilot sites was around half 
that in the comparison sites (17.8% compared with 35%). 
The evaluation also identified significant cost savings on 
policing, in that for every £1 spent on the Diversion Scheme, 
a saving of £2.35 is made.

Alongside this, the 18-25 Diversion Service has also been 
funded by the Commissioner since 2015. This scheme 
further demonstrated the benefits of intervening early by 
diverting young adults away from the criminal justice system 
and into interventions and support that was based on an 
assessed individual need. This approach further developed 
the understanding of offending committed by young adults, 
with the aim of using this learning to prevent further re-
offending.

Consolidating delivery of both the Women’s Pathfinder and 
18-25 Diversion provides a more streamlined approach 
to custody based interventions, recognising the wider 
benefits that can be realised through providing tailored 
approach for women and young adults who come in contact 
with the Criminal Justice System. In recognition of these 
benefit, a Commissioning Partnership was formed between 
the South Wales Police and Crime Commissioner, Gwent 
Police and Crime Commissioner, Her Majesty’s Prison & 
Probation Service (HMPPS) in Wales and Welsh Government 
to commission both the Women’s Pathfinder Whole 
System Approach Service Delivery Model and 18-25 Early 
Intervention Service across South Wales and Gwent. 

The contribution from the South Wales Police and Crime 
Commissioner for 2021/22 for this service is £683,572, 
with a total of £1.4 million committed by the commissioning 
partnership annually until 2022. This investment will enable 

the 18-25 Early Intervention service to offer voluntary 
support for those not eligible for Diversion (or an out of 
court disposal) and the Women’s Pathfinder becoming a 
much broader service providing a ‘Whole System Approach 
Service’ that supports women at each stage of the justice 
system.

Future4, a consortium made up of G4S, Safer Wales, Include 
and Llamau deliver this service across both South Wales and 
Gwent. The first year of service delivery has been heavily 
influenced by the Covid-19 pandemic and Future4 have 
been responsive in adapting service delivery and utilising 
new approaches. This has ensured that women and young 
adults in crisis have continued to receive necessary support 
they require during a very difficult time. The service has 
also continued to identify opportunities for innovation, 
this includes the Women’s Pathfinder working jointly 
with the Safer Wales Inclusive Service to introduce a pilot 
offering support to young women aged 17 involved in the 
Youth Justice Service and who are considered vulnerable 
to or having experienced sexual or criminal exploitation. 
The 18-25 Service has also been developing a suite of 
workshops that focus on the needs of young adults and 
crimes committed. This includes workshops on Hate Crime, 
Emotions and Relationships, Alcohol Misuse, Knife Crime/
Offensive weapons and Wellbeing. 

An evaluation of the Women’s Pathfinder Whole System 
Approach and 18-25 Service will be undertaken by Cordis 
Bright. This evaluation will provide information about ‘what 
works, with who, when, why and how’ in the context of 
the Women’s Pathfinder WSA and 18-25 Early Intervention 
Service. The final report is due for publication by the end 
of this year and is expected to inform onward delivery. It 
is also anticipated that the evaluation will inform future 
funding decisions as well as the broader direction of female 
offending and youth justice/Y2A policy in Wales (for 
example, in relation to the implementation of the female 
offending & youth justice blueprints).

J O
A

N
N E  &  H E R  S O N

 T O
M

Page 117



S
O

U
T

H
 

W
A

L
E

S
 

P
O

L
I

C
E

 
A

N
D

 
C

R
I

M
E

 
C

O
M

M
I

S
S

I
O

N
E

R
 

 
|

 
 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

2
0

/
2

1

S E C T I O N  T I T L E

32

P R I O R I T Y  4

Out of Court Disposal Revolving Door Pilot 
The Out of Court Disposal Revolving Door (OoCD) pilot was 
originally commissioned following establishment of a sub-
group set up through the All Wales Criminal Justice Board 
to specifically look at solutions for easing the court backlog 
caused by Covid-19. It was recognised that an OoCD can 
provide rehabilitative opportunities without the need to 
present at court. Therefore, the current situation presented 
an opportunity to pilot alternative options for dealing with 
repeat low level offenders that could further reduce on-
going demand on the Criminal Justice System during (and 
beyond) the pandemic.

The aim of the OoCD Revolving Door pilot will be to develop 
a targeted approach to those who have committed a 
number of low level offences and potential risk of offending 
behaviour escalating. This approach will look to establish 
early intervention and prevention pathways that recognise 
multiple needs and look to reduce further offending. This is 
being seen as a ‘Discovery Pilot’ in that it will look to build 
on the good practice already developed through existing 
early intervention initiatives. The learning from this pilot can 
also be used to inform development of future services that 
will work with those who commit frequent low level crime. 

Many of those expected to be referred may have missed 
out on the chance to access early intervention initiatives to 
support them address their offending behaviour and now 
form a large part of the ‘revolving door’. Ultimately by taking 
a harm reduction approach and providing a community 
outreach response to crisis, the pilot will seek to support 
individuals in addressing the causes of their offending 
behaviour. 

The Pilot is a joint initiative involving South Wales Police, 
South Wales Police and Crime Commissioners Office, Gwent 
Police, Gwent Police and Crime Commissioner’s Office, 
HMPPS and Future4. The South Wales Police and Crime 
Commissioner has contributed £54,585 to this pilot and 
to boost provision of current diversionary services. The 
Revolving Door Pilot will have a phased launch from Spring 
2021 and will operate until the 30th of September 2022.

Joint Offender Management Review 
In 2018/19 South Wales Police and the Police and Crime 
Commissioner jointly commissioned a review into offender 
management currently being delivered across the Force. 
This review generated a number of recommendations in 
relation to leadership/governance, resources, workforce 
development, cohort management/identification, 
information sharing and data management/performance. 
These recommendations now form the framework for a 
change programme of work which seeks to deliver a joined 
up effective and efficient offender management process 
across South Wales. This programme of work is overseen by 
the newly established South Wales Offender Management 
Project Programme Board jointly chaired by the Deputy 
Police and Crime Commissioner and Assistant Chief 
Constable.

The programme of work will seek to review and restructure 
the way offender management is conducted in South Wales, 
in order to ensure that those posing the most threat risk 
and harm are managed within the correctly resourced and 
structured offender management forums. The programme 
will incorporate not only the review recommendations, but 
HMICFRS recommendations from a review conducted in 
2019/20 and the Integrated Offender Management refresh 
implantation activity.

Page 118



33

P R I O R I T Y  4

Our aspirations are to:

Develop a youth justice system which 

treats children with fairness and 

respect and helps them to build on their 

strengths and to make positive changes 

and choices in their lives.

Support children to live crime free, 

positive and healthy lives, improving 

well-being and making communities 

safer.

Reduce the number of children in the 

youth justice system through e�ective 

diversion and prevent o�ending by 

addressing the vulnerabilities that 

often lead to crime.

Reduce re-o�ending and create safe 

environments in which children are 

protected from harm and supported 

to thrive.

Deliver a bold ambitious approach with 

transformative, sustainable services 

that provide continuity of care 

throughout the system.

Work with key stakeholders to 

strengthen the integrated partnership 

approach to the delivery of youth 

justice services which prioritises ‘child 

first’ and improves outcomes for 

children.

Our guiding principles

The Youth Justice Blueprint for Wales 

sets out our vision for youth justice in 

Wales. It will:

Take a ‘children first’ approach to youth 

justice, ensure that it is child-centred 

rather than service focused, ensure that 

it meets the individual needs of children 

and responds to their best interests.

Take a trauma-informed approach 

throughout the various stages of the 

youth justice system, from prevention 

and early intervention to resettlement 

from custody, recognising and 

responding to ACEs and indicators of 

complex need.

Embed trauma-informed approaches into 

community and custodial practice to 

e�ect cultural and systemic change and 

deliver consistent approaches in 

meeting children’s needs.

Align devolved and non-devolved 

services through a shared vision, values 

and approach which underpins the 

design and delivery of services.

The Whole-system Approach will focus on:

Prevention: Targeted prevention activity in Wales should continue to be prioritised through dedicated funding. The intention is to prevent children from entering the 

criminal justice system, who may not yet have o�ended. We will explore options to:

• Align preventative services o�ered to children (including those targeted at reducing the number of looked after children, the prevention of school exclusions and 

homelessness) with a joint framework model and shared risk or intervention trigger factors to improve outcomes for children.

• Develop e�ective monitoring of prevention activity to demonstrate impact and to align reporting to Welsh Government, Youth Justice Board and Police and Crime       

Commissioners where possible.

Pre-Court diversion: Existing models and practice in pre-court diversion are a strength and should continue to be supported and funded because of their proven impact 

in reducing first time entrants. We will explore options to:

• Further develop diversionary practices and a more co-ordinated approach to establish consistent rights-based practice across Wales, including notification between 

the police and youth o�ending teams when community resolutions are issued.

Community: Children in the system can experience complex needs including a background of emotional trauma and ACEs. We will scope options to:

• Roll out a trauma-based approach in Wales, which is embedded as systematic practice, starting with the identification of and response to ACEs when children first 

come to the attention of police.

• Develop the Enhanced Case Management (ECM) approach nationally for complex and high-risk cases, a psychology led, multi-agency approach, enabling e�ective 

tailoring and sequencing of interventions, recognising the trauma and adverse events children have experienced.

• Align with the Violence Against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence (Wales) Act 2015, to benefit children who have become victims through experiencing or 

witnessing domestic abuse or sexual violence in their home environment and reduce the risk of perpetrating such o�ences.

• Support the youth justice sector with resources, training and qualifications to improve practitioner skills in recognising and responding to trauma.

Custody: There have been long-standing concerns about the distant placing of Welsh children away from their home area. We will explore options for:

• All Welsh-resident children being placed in secure accommodation in Wales and near to their home communities. This will include reciprocal arrangements with 

England so that cross-border arrangements are in place for individual cases on an exceptional basis.

• Trauma-informed secure provision, drawing on best practice in multi-agency working to develop a centre of excellence with delivery of mental health, health care 

education and training.

Resettlement and transitions: Resettlement is most e�ective when there is multi-disciplinary, collaborative working between agencies providing support in custody 

and the community. We will consider how:

• A ‘Constructive Resettlement’ approach can be adopted, so work with children is constructive, co-created, customised, consistent and co-ordinated.

• Resettlement practice can be broadened to encompass family-focused work to prepare the home environment for the child’s return; improving reintegration.

• Multi-agency responses to reintegration and resettlement can be further strengthened.

• Transition arrangements to adult criminal justice services other adult services such as mental health, substance misuse can be improved.

System oversight: E�ective delivery of youth justice services requires robust oversight and partnership arrangements. We will explore options for:

• A national trauma-informed approach for the delivery of youth justice services in Wales. This will require continued partnership arrangements between the UK 

Government and Welsh Government to enable the co-ordinated exercise of respective functions to deliver the Blueprint and embed new systems and arrangements.

• Strengthened partnership arrangements between the Welsh Government, Her Majesty’s Prison and Probation Service Wales, Youth Custody Service and the Youth 

Justice Board to enable the co-ordinated exercise of the respective functions to deliver the Blueprint and embed new systems and arrangements.

Youth 
Justice 
Blueprint 
for Wales

Preventing children from entering the criminal justice system, minimising their contact with it and maximising opportunities for diversion is essential in supporting them to lead crime free lives. 

The statutory aim of the youth justice system is to prevent o�ending by children. The Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 and the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 

sets out requirements to ensure local services are provided to prevent children from o�ending and to promote their future welfare. Adverse childhood experiences (ACEs) can have a significant 

e�ect on mental well-being throughout life leading to negative outcomes such as involvement in crime.

Those with four or more ACEs are 15 times more likely to commit violence and 20 times more likely to be imprisoned. Policy is therefore focused on preventing and minimising the impact of ACEs, 

of stopping inter-generational problems and developing resilience to improve life chances. The Youth Justice Blueprint also recognises the commitment to the delivery of children’s rights in 

Wales. The whole-system approach described below takes account of the relevant articles of the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child in the design of youth justice services for 

Wales. It sets out the ambition for a rights-based and trauma-informed system, which will support services to deliver positive outcomes for children in Wales.

What success looks like:

The youth justice system has experienced significant reductions in first time entrants, and custodial populations. This Blueprint builds on this success. It aims to improve criminal and social outcomes for children in 

contact with the youth justice system and to support them to develop resilience and to fulfil their potential. It aligns with the principles and objectives of the Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 by 

modifying services to improve outcomes for children, their families, victims and the wider community. Recognising and responding appropriately to the impact that trauma and ACEs have on children, will result in 

more e�ective responses, reduce the likelihood of perpetuating ACEs in successive generations and inter-generational criminal behaviour.

This whole-system approach is intended to ensure that children in, or at risk of entering the youth justice system will have access to services that act in their best interests, are non-discriminatory, encourage their 

active participation in decisions which a�ect them and ensure their access to rights and entitlements. The Blueprint sets out a commitment for realising how devolved and non-devolved services can work together 

to realise children’s rights and develop a youth justice system in Wales which is based on rights-based principles.

The implementation of the Youth Justice Blueprint will be overseen through a specialist programme under the oversight of the Wales Youth Justice Advisory Panel.

Our aspirations are to:
Support women to live crime free, positive and healthy lives, improving well-being and 
making communities safer.

Reduce the number of women in the system by intervening earlier to keep them safe 
and address the vulnerabilities that often lead to crime.
Deliver a bold ambitious approach with transformative, sustainable services that are 
distinct to Wales and locally-led, building on and learning from the successful 
Women’s Pathfinder Whole System Approach model.
Create safe environments in which children and women are protected/guarded from 
harm and supported to thrive.

Integrate services to o er targeted support for women, from start to finish, recognising 
the far-reaching, long-term impact resulting from the imprisonment of women when 
there are more e ective alternatives to tackle the causes of o ending behaviour 
drawing on relevant research and data.
Work with the Youth Justice Board and partners to share learning that can be adopted 
for girls under the age of 18 and work together to ensure continuity of interventions in 
respect of young women who transition into adult services.
Set the standard for future work and cooperation between the Welsh Government, 
Ministry of Justice and partners, applying the principles here to adopting a similar 
approach to adult males at risk of o ending.

The Whole-system Approach will focus on:
Early Intervention & Prevention In addition to working with partners to tackle root causes of crime:
• Diverting women, where appropriate, away from crime and into women-centred, community-based, sustainable
support services that meet their needs.
• Explore options for trauma-informed services which can best meet the needs of vulnerable women, and families,
a ected by Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs) and at risk of entering the system, learning from the Enhanced 
Case Management (ECM) approach.
Courts & sentencing Building confidence in alternatives to short-term custody and remand by:
• Working with courts & sentencers to build a clearer understanding of community services available to directly 
tackle causes of o ending.

• Training front-line professionals to recognise & respond to women and families experiencing trauma.Community-based solutions Supporting women, including those at risk of o ending, to engage with services in the 
community by:

• Exploring a range of options for secure, safe and reliable accommodation for women in Wales.• Developing women-focused services, including meaningful working relationships with a trusted key professional,
building strengths and recognising the trauma or adverse events women may have experienced, understanding and
addressing how this relates to their o ending behaviour.
• Embedding clear referral pathways and individualised, sequenced plans for vulnerable women in the community 
to provide interventions, by fully trained, skilled professionals in a timely manner.Custody and Resettlement Supporting women in custody and resettlement back into the community by:• Working with rehabilitative services to deliver e ective pre and post-release interventions in prisons where 

women from Wales are located.

• Establishing services to improve and maintain links with children and familiesResearch and Evaluation Further develop a Welsh evidence-base, with reference to existing national and 
international evidence of what works, to better understand the distinct needs and vulnerabilities of women who 
o end by:

• Evaluating the Women’s Pathfinder whole system approach to inform future design and delivery of services for 
women at risk of o ending;

• Working with the Early Action Together Policing and Partnership Programme to research impact of ACEs on 
women in Wales and how trauma-informed services can best meet the needs of vulnerable women and families.

Our guiding principles
A focus on Victims: together with seeing perpetrators brought to justice, Victims 
tell us they want to know this will never happen again. We are learning all the 
time about models of reducing reo ending. This evidence-based, innovative approach is guided by our desire to:
• Ensure fewer people are victims of crime
• Highlight that women who o end are often victims themselves – as outlined in 
the Violence Against Women, Domestic Abuse, Sexual Violence (Wales) Act 2015• Understand the ripple-e ect of crime in creating victims outside those directly 
involved

Welsh Government’s well-being objectives and cross-cutting priorities in the national strategy Prosperity for All, maximise the contribution of partners to the 
well-being goals.

A Public Health approach applying the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) 
Act 2015 Sustainable Development principle of improving Economic, Social, Cultural, Environmental well-being using the five ways of working:
Long-term:
breaking intergenerational cycles of crime, creating a fairer society with more 
equal outcomes for all

Prevention:
safeguarding women and children, tackling root causes of o ending behaviour
 
Collaboration:
working together to deliver transformative services
Integration:
understanding the links across policy areas and how this approach can improve 
the social, economic, environmental and cultural well-being of our communities
 
Involving people:
Ensuring the right approach to delivering e ective services by involving those 
a ected (victims, women, children and communities)
Women-focussed, gender based and trauma-informed, responding to the specific, 
individualised needs of this diverse population (rather than as one homogeneous 
group) to reduce reo ending.

Female O�ending 
Blueprint 
for Wales

The minority of o enders in England and Wales are women, yet many of these women are 
victims of crime themselves, often having experienced physical or emotional abuse. 
Baroness Corston’s Report, Review of Women with Particular Vulnerabilities in the 
Criminal Justice System (2007) identified that women can present as extremely vulnerable 
with a range of complex needs that have been found to be distinct from the needs of men 
who commit crime. Involvement in the Criminal Justice System can have far-reaching and 
long-lasting e ects on the women themselves, their families and the communities in 
which they live. 

To achieve this, Welsh Government, UK Government and policing in Wales are working together with justice partners to develop Blueprints for delivery of Female O ending and Youth Justice services. This Blueprint for Female O ending sets out the ambition to accelerate the transformation of services to create a fairer, more equal society with better outcomes and justice for all. It will create sustainable community-based solutions to keep women and communities safe and free from criminal behaviour.

Sometimes people find themselves in a bad situation, life can spiral out of control. It’s good to give people a second chance because just one mistake can change your life

I need to be a more confident parent so it doesn’t have a knock-on impact on the children as well, they need help too

...just to be treated like a human being and you know, just listened to and have someone there for us

What success looks like
Achieving our ambitions to reduce crime, make communities safer and ease demand on services, such as policing and health, will make a lasting contribution to 

building the Wales we want: prosperous and secure, healthy and active, ambitious and learning, united and connected.Our shared success means children will have a better start in life, reducing the impact of adverse childhood experiences such as domestic abuse or having a 

mother in custody.

Women and children will live in a safe and secure home and as a result will be less likely to commit crime. Women will have the skills they need to look after 

themselves and their children, enabling them to live rewarding, fulfilled and positive lives within their communities.Our joined-up approach will result in better emotional, physical health and wellbeing, building positive, supportive relationships within families and 

strengthening our communities.

The All Wales Criminal Justice Board will oversee delivery of the Blueprint implementation plan through specialist programme and advisory groups commissioned by the All Wales Women in Justice Group, driving delivery at local levels through Local Criminal Justice Boards

Youth Justice and Female 
Offending Blueprints 
In May 2019, the Ministry of Justice and Welsh 
Government jointly published the ‘Youth Justice and 
Female Offending Blueprints’ [inc graphic – Moli did 
this so should have] which outline a number of  key 
overarching workstreams and priorities for improving 
services for women and youths who come into contact 
with the Justice System in Wales.

The Youth Justice Blueprint aspires to:

• Develop a youth justice system which treats children 
with fairness and respect and helps them to build 
on their strengths and to make positive changes and 
choices in their lives. 

• Support children to live crime free, positive and healthy 
lives, improving well-being and making communities 
safer.

• Reduce the number of children in the youth justice 
system through effective diversion and prevent offending 
by addressing the vulnerabilities that often lead to crime. 
Reduce re-offending and create safe environments in 
which children are protected from harm and supported 
to thrive. 

• Deliver a bold ambitious approach with transformative, 
sustainable services that provide continuity of care 
throughout the system. 

• Work with key stakeholders to strengthen the integrated 
partnership approach to the delivery of youth justice 
services which prioritises ‘child first’ and improves 
outcomes for children.

The Commissioner Team will contribute to the overall 
delivery however, there has been agreement for the South 
Wales Police and Crime Commissioner to lead the Pre-Court 
Diversion workstream within the Youth Justice Blueprint. This 
workstream will aim to ensure that existing good practice 
is sustained and there is consistency in services delivered 
across Wales. This will also involve identifying opportunities 
to develop interventions for diversion and out of court 
disposals (e.g. a youth caution, youth conditional caution) to 
meet the needs of different children and effectively address 
offending behaviour across a range of offences.

Also, working alongside the Deputy Police and Crime 
Commissioner in her role as Senior Responsible Owner 
(SRO) for the Women in Justice Programme, the Criminal 
Justice Portfolio team supports the delivery of the Female 
Offending Blueprint. The team has particularly had a 
role in supporting the Early Intervention and Prevention 
Workstream, including feeding into development of an 

Holistic Assessment Framework that will provide a pan Wales 
set of principles to underpin and support delivery (and 
where appropriate, development of) existing assessments.

The Female Offending Blueprint aspires to:

• Support women to live crime free, positive and healthy 
lives, improving well-being and making communities 
safer.

• Reduce the number of women in the system by 
intervening earlier to keep them safe and address the 
vulnerabilities that often lead to crime. 

• Deliver a bold ambitious approach with transformative, 
sustainable services that are distinct to Wales and 
locally-led, building on and learning from the successful 
Women’s Pathfinder Whole System Approach model. 

• Create safe environments in which children and women 
are protected/guarded from harm and supported to 
thrive.

• Integrate services to offer targeted support for women, 
from start to finish, recognising the far-reaching, long-
term impact resulting from the imprisonment of women 
when there are more effective alternatives to tackle 
the causes of offending behaviour drawing on relevant 
research and data. 

• Work with the Youth Justice Board and partners to share 
learning that can be adopted for girls under the age of 18 
and work together to ensure continuity of interventions 
in respect of young women who transition into adult 
services. 

• Set the standard for future work and cooperation 
between the Welsh Government, Ministry of Justice and 
partners, applying the principles here to adopting a 
similar approach to adult males at risk of offending.

S
O

U
T

H
 

W
A

L
E

S
 

P
O

L
I

C
E

 
A

N
D

 
C

R
I

M
E

 
C

O
M

M
I

S
S

I
O

N
E

R
 

 
|

 
 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

2
0

/
2

1Page 119



S
O

U
T

H
 

W
A

L
E

S
 

P
O

L
I

C
E

 
A

N
D

 
C

R
I

M
E

 
C

O
M

M
I

S
S

I
O

N
E

R
 

 
|

 
 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

2
0

/
2

1

34

P R I O R I T Y  4

A Framework to support positive change 
for those at risk of offending in Wales 
This Framework has been developed jointly by Welsh 
Government and Her Majesty’s Prison and Probation Service 
on behalf of the All Wales Criminal Justice Board of which 
the Police and Crime Commissioners is a member. The 
Framework will enhance the strong partnership working 
that exists in Wales between Welsh Government, Her 
Majesty’s Prison and Probation, Police Forces, Police and 
Crime Commissioners, criminal justice agencies in Wales 
and Third Sector Voluntary agencies. All partners have a 
responsibility to provide a service which is responsive to 
the needs of individual offenders. By engaging with this 
Framework, partners will collectively be able to provide a 
more diverse, holistic and evidence-based service which 
avoids duplication and targets shared priorities.

The annual cost of re-offending in the UK is estimated as 
£7-10 Billion. The economic cost of crime helps to highlight 
the disruption offenders can cause to their communities. This 
and the need to safeguard communities from harm means 
an intensive level of multi-agency support and resource 
is required in order to effectively reduce these negative 
consequences of crime.

The Commissioner’s Team is committed to supporting the 
realisation of the framework and have actively contributed 
to its aim to provide support to any offenders who require 
it, not just in the priority areas, - at the right time, in the right 
place and the right way - to ensure positive outcomes are 
achieved in the long term not only for offenders but also 
those on the cusp of offending and their families. Priority 
areas of the framework are:

• Reduce the number of women in the criminal 
justice system

• Challenge domestic abuse perpetrators; hold them 
accountable for their actions and provide interventions 
and support to change their behaviour

• Improve provision for Ex-Armed Services 
Personnel (ex-ASP)

• Provide Support for Young Adults/Care Leavers

• Supporting Offenders’ Families following sentencing

• Black, Asian & Minority Ethnic Groups

Page 120



S
O

U
T

H
 

W
A

L
E

S
 

P
O

L
I

C
E

 
A

N
D

 
C

R
I

M
E

 
C

O
M

M
I

S
S

I
O

N
E

R
 

 
|

 
 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

2
0

/
2

1

35

Out of Court Disposal Scrutiny Panel 
The South Wales Police and Crime Commissioner’s 
Team has a well-established Out of Court Disposal 
(OoCD) Scrutiny Panel chaired by the Police and Crime 
Commissioner. Scrutiny panels are an important tool for 
ensuring that the police are held accountable for their 
use of OoCD, as well as providing assurance that difficult 
decisions to administer such disposals are justified. The 
findings of these panels have been an effective feedback 
mechanism to South Wales Police (for organisational 
learning and to individual officers for training or 
development needs) as well as identifying examples of 
good practice. The panels are made up of members from 
a number of partnerships, including the Police, Probation, 
members of the judiciary, Crown Prosecution Service, 
Victim Services and others. These partners provide 
constructive ‘critical friend’ challenge; amplifying the 
voices and concerns of the public.

The Commissioner’s Team has also been working with 
local Youth Offending Teams to establish Youth Out of 
Court Disposal (OoCD) Scrutiny Panels. Like the Adult 
Scrutiny Panel, Youth Panels will look to bring greater 
transparency, consistency and accountability in the use of 
OoCD for Youths (10-17 year olds) in South Wales. The aim 
of these panels will also be to increase the understanding, 
confidence and trust in this method of case disposal and 
will also ensure that victims are at the heart of South Wales’ 
decision making in relation to OoCD’s. A youth panel has 
now been established covering both Cardiff and the Vale 
of Glamorgan. Panels covering the Mid Glamorgan and 
Swanea Neath Port Talbot Basic Command Units (BCUs) are 
due to be established this year.

P R I O R I T Y  4

Page 121



S
O

U
T

H
 

W
A

L
E

S
 

P
O

L
I

C
E

 
A

N
D

 
C

R
I

M
E

 
C

O
M

M
I

S
S

I
O

N
E

R
 

 
|

 
 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

2
0

/
2

1

S E C T I O N  T I T L E

36

P R I O R I T Y  4

For those within the Criminal Justice System, 
there is a clear need to ensure that treatment for 
substance misuse is delivered to reduce the harm 
to the individual, but also to ensure the risks of 
further substance misuse related offending and the 
associated harm to victims and public is reduced.  
The Police and Crime Commissioner, and Her 
Majesty’s Prison and Probation Service (HMPPS) 
jointly commission a substance misuse treatment 
service, called Dyfodol, that aims to provide effective 
assessment, psychosocial interventions, and clinical 
treatment.

Through a consortium of providers, Dyfodol aims to 
rehabilitate and support reduction in harmful alcohol 
and illicit substance misuse behaviour, for those who 
encounter the Criminal Justice System in South Wales, 
from community to custody, from custody to prison 
and from prison back into the community.

Many clients supported by Dyfodol will not only be 
perpetrators of crime but also victims, and as such 
a holistic assessment of each person’s needs and 
vulnerabilities is undertaken by experienced key 
workers.  Dyfodol helps people improve their lives 
and reduce their risks of committing further drug and 
alcohol related offending by supporting and facilitating 
individuals to consider their health and well-being, 
be informed about their choice to use drugs and be 
aware of the associated impacts that poor decision 
making can have on their futures. 

Dyfodol also provides prescriptions to those who 
would otherwise be waiting long periods of time and 
by taking prompt action to keep people stable on 
medication and in treatment, the service works to 
keep individuals and the public safe from harm.

The following graphic illustrates some of the key 

results from 2020/21:

SUBSTANCE  
MISUSE

DYFODOL ACTIVITY HIGHLIGHTS

CUSTODY SUITE
13533 Contacts

8627 Active Engagements 
 2020/21

1466 Referrals to   
 specialist services

Additional 1031 Referrals to 
Dyfodol and 229 referrals to 
Future 4 (YA's)

PUBLIC SECTOR 
PRISONS
4750 Assessments

1817 taken on to   
 caseload

421 caseload March  
 2021

CLINICAL
556 on Opioid Substitute  
 Therapy at  
 March 2021

946 prison clinical   
 transfers Buvidal  
 introduced

COMMUNITY
2594 Referrals

1666 commenced on  
 caseload

252 notifications of new  
 statutory orders

902 on caseload  
 March 2021

KEY OUTCOMES
37% of men assessed are taken   
 on to Dyfodol caseload        
 in prison

855 prison leavers attended      
 a Dyfodol release   
 appointment

197 Statutory Order  
 Treatment completions

512 successful Community   
 treatment completions

87% of prison clinical transfers   
 attended Dyfodol   
 community    
 clinical services

Page 122



37

Police Custody Suites 
Dyfodol workers see each person who comes into 
police custody to assess substance misuse issues and 
vulnerabilities.  They work with the police to identify 
those most suitable for drug testing, in line with the 
Drug Act 2005 requirements. They link with forensic 
mental health teams and police public protection 
teams (for example) to manage the risk and needs of 
individuals, providing appropriate treatment to divert 
them from ongoing criminality. They try to engage 
with all who come into police custody, encouraging 
voluntary engagement in treatment, and providing 
referrals for individuals with low-level substance 
misuse to additional support services.

Courts 
Dyfodol staff work with Probation Officers to provide 
all relevant information about substance misuse 
issues to sentencers and to enable appropriate drug 
treatment to be provided.  Subsequently Dyfodol 
provides psycho-social interventions and opiate 
substitute therapy for those given a court order (Drug 
Rehabilitation Requirement) and provide support 
through their court order which is managed by the 
Probation Service.

Prisons 
In prison, Dyfodol delivers non-clinical substance 
misuse services in the four public sector prisons in 
Wales.  Dyfodol staff meet with prisoners to offer an 
opportunity to address substance misuse issues and 
receive harm reduction advice, including education 
and intervention groups for all those identified by 
prison staff as involved in illicit use of psychoactive 
substances.  If more significant engagement is 
needed, a Dyfodol caseworker is allocated to provide 
a full assessment and a care plan based on substance 
misuse, offending and other known risks.  It is a 
pathway to recovery including treatment in prison and 
preparation for transition back into the community.

Buvidal Prescribing 
Having worked closely with Area Planning Boards 
(the regional partnerships of all agencies involved 
in tackling and reducing the harms associated with 
substance misuse) and Welsh Government, the Police 
and Crime Commissioner has received a £1 million 
Substance Misuse Action Fund (SMAF) grant to offer 
an alternative opiate substitute therapy to those 
individuals who are best suited to the prolonged-
release Buprenorphine injection (Buvidal).  Buvidal can 
allow individuals more freedom, offer more protection 
from risk of accidental overdose and reduce the 
number of visits to pharmacies which was increasingly 
important considering the Covid-19 pandemic.

S
O

U
T

H
 

W
A

L
E

S
 

P
O

L
I

C
E

 
A

N
D

 
C

R
I

M
E

 
C

O
M

M
I

S
S

I
O

N
E

R
 

 
|

 
 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

2
0

/
2

1Page 123



S
O

U
T

H
 

W
A

L
E

S
 

P
O

L
I

C
E

 
A

N
D

 
C

R
I

M
E

 
C

O
M

M
I

S
S

I
O

N
E

R
 

 
|

 
 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

2
0

/
2

1

38

Western Bay Rapid Access 
Project (RAP) 
During 2020/21, with the support of the 
Area Planning Board in Swansea and 
Neath Port Talbot, the Western Bay Rapid 
Access Project (RAP) was implemented.  
This outreach project within the 
Swansea and Neath Port Talbot area 
aims to locate and encourage difficult to 
engage complex individuals into clinical 
treatment and psychosocial support and 
ultimately reduce drug related deaths 
and overdoses in the area.  

The project also aims to close a gap in 
rapid accessibility to treatment for sex 
workers, identified through the South 
Wales and Gwent Police forces’ “Women’s 
Pathfinder service” which focuses on 
improving outcomes relating to women 
coming into contact with the Criminal 
Justice System in Wales.

“The RAP project has had a life 

changing effect on some of the most 

complex, chaotic and vulnerable 

clients in our community. It has giving 

them the opportunity to gain rapid 

access to prescribed treatment to 

address their substance misuse 

issues. I have worked with many of 

these clients for a number of years 

and on many occasions tried to get 

them into treatment services with 

little success. However, through the 

RAPS project we now have a reactive 

service that can positively engage 

with these “hardest to reach” clients 

and within a number of days bring 

them into appropriate treatment 

services. Those who have been 

prescribed Buvidal via the project 

have report an immediate halt to their 

opiate dependency.”   

Substance Misuse Community 

Outreach Worker

P R I O R I T Y  4

Page 124



S
O

U
T

H
 

W
A

L
E

S
 

P
O

L
I

C
E

 
A

N
D

 
C

R
I

M
E

 
C

O
M

M
I

S
S

I
O

N
E

R
 

 
|

 
 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

2
0

/
2

1

39

RAPS Case study 
RAPS project case study included which 

demonstrates the substance misuse work underway 

in the community and highlights vulnerabilities 

across all of the priorities within the Police.

S is a female in her mid-twenties who has been known 
to and supported by, outreach sex work support 
services for over 6 years. 

One of twin girls, in her early teens S and her sister 
were placed in local authority care after allegations 
of sexual abuse within their family setting. No arrests 
were made so they were both returned to the family 
environment.  S and her twin were bullied in school as 
they were extremely close and so isolated themselves 
from others.  S was placed in a special needs class 
and left with very few qualifications as she struggled 
to concentrate. 

S has struggled with homelessness for years.  At 
the point of accessing RAPS she was sofa surfing 
with various males having left an abusive long term 
relationship after being assaulted and hospitalised.  
She had been in a pattern of sex working to fund her 
and her partner’s drug use.  Difficulties with emotional 
and physical abuse mixed with the impact of past 
trauma created a cycle that she had been unable to 
break.

Her health was poor, she was continuing in sex 
work, using no contraception, she had no up to 
date Sexually Transmitted Infection checks and was 
intravenously groin injecting. 

C
A

S
E

 S
T

U
D

Y

Page 125



S
O

U
T

H
 

W
A

L
E

S
 

P
O

L
I

C
E

 
A

N
D

 
C

R
I

M
E

 
C

O
M

M
I

S
S

I
O

N
E

R
 

 
|

 
 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

2
0

/
2

1

40

P R I O R I T Y  4

S felt unable to access substance misuse 
treatment as her lifestyle meant she could not 
reliably collect methadone on a daily basis.  She 
was manipulated and exploited for money and 
sex, she worked all night and slept all day so this 
was another barrier to daily collection. It took 
some persistence for the RAPS team to establish 
face to face contact, as S was very unstable and 
strict pandemic restrictions were in place.

During initial conversations the availability of 
Buvidal was explained which meant she would 
not be required to attend on a daily basis and 
could be treated in relative seclusion from other 
negative peers; she expressed enthusiasm for 
this.  Since her first treatment S hasn’t missed 
any of her clinical appointments or weekly 
engagements with the RAPS coordinator, 
resulting in S being stable on a safe and non-
criminal medication for a number of months, 
with reduced risks of overdose and infection.

S has been very open about her sex working 
activity and has only disclosed having returned 
to this on one occasion since having her first 
Buvidal injection. This was associated with 
her returning to her abusive partner and 
immediately going out to fund some drugs for 
the pair.  Her Buvidal dose meant that the drugs 
had little or no effect, she was able to recognise 
his abusive behaviour and S has increased her 
motivation not to return to that lifestyle. 

She has attended two sessions with the local 
Homeless and Vulnerable Outreach Mental 
Health Nurse to explore how to cope with past 
trauma and is awaiting a further assessment for 
personality disorder.

S has attended a number of medical assessment 
appointments including sexual health checks 
and has been issued with contraceptives.  This 
has given her a sense of positivity about her 
health, enhancing her self-worth and hope for 
her future.

At the point of accessing RAPS, S was being 
prevented from seeing her as her lifestyle 
was considered unhelpful to the sister 
who was pregnant and being monitored by 
Social Services. 

Whilst S is still unable to have any contact 
with her sister, RAPS is advocating for her 
with the Social Worker and keeping S up to 
date with her sister’s progress.

Regarding her treatment, S stated: 

• “I feel now I can have a fresh start 
and be anyone”

• “I want to go to college and have a 
family and I know it’ll happen one 
day”

• “I want to be a support worker 
to help others like you have 
helped me”

C
A

S
E

S
T

U
D

Y

Page 126



S
O

U
T

H
 

W
A

L
E

S
 

P
O

L
I

C
E

 
A

N
D

 
C

R
I

M
E

 
C

O
M

M
I

S
S

I
O

N
E

R
 

 
|

 
 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

2
0

/
2

1

41

Our overall approach has been focussed upon 
working better together with partners to help 
shape services, enable systems change, inform 
decision making and raise awareness and 
understanding.  Collaborating with partners from 
within the Area Planning Boards, to ensure we can 
meet the needs of the service users and the wider 
communities.

What do we intend to do next?

• Develop a joint mental health strategy for South 
Wales Police and South Wales Police and 
Crime Commissioner.  

• Work with the Mental Health Foundation 
to undertake Mental Wellbeing Impact 
Assessment Research for those who access 
our services.

• Look at joint commissioning across wider 
partners and strategic areas to strengthen and 
promote working relationships

• Look at the co-occurring elements of mental 
health and substance misuse and to use the 
data provided by the current contract to better 
inform our partners and delivery methods.

P R I O R I T Y  4

Page 127



42

South Wales Police is a key strategic force in the support 
of major events outside and inside its boundaries, making 
a significant contribution to policing major events. During 
normal periods it is responsible for policing a number of 
significant demands, which include two professional football 
teams, the Six Nations matches and Autumn Internationals. 
The Commissioner routinely contributes to supporting 
the response to these requirements, liaising with key 
stakeholders and partners to ensure adequate support for 
the additional policing requirement. 

South Wales Police has developed a reputation as a beacon 
force for its willingness to embrace technology to keep 
communities safe. Particular attention has been drawn to the 
use and deployment of Automated Facial Recognition (AFR) 
technology in South Wales, of which there are two distinct 
methods of use: 

AFR Identify - a ‘Slow-time’ application of the technology, 
comparing still images of unknown suspects and persons of 
interest against a custody database

AFR Locate - a ‘Live-time’ deployment of the technology, 
which compares live camera feeds of faces against a 
predetermined watchlist in order to ‘locate’ persons of 
interest. This generates possible matches that are reviewed 
by the operator(s).

We will make our wider contribution to policing through the strategic  
policing requirement, including successfully policing major events

Priority 5

In August 11, 2020, the Court of Appeal of England & Wales 
overturned the High Court’s dismissal of a challenge (in 
2019) to South Wales Police’s use of AFR Locate, finding that 
its use was unlawful and violated human rights.Speaking of 
the decision, Police and Crime Commissioner Alun Michael 
said:

“My priority is to ensure that South Wales 

Police makes best use of technology to keep 

the public safe while protecting civil liberties 

and working within the law. The use of facial 

recognition remains the subject of constant 

discussion and careful scrutiny.

“Rather than resisting interest and debate we have invited 
people to see what is being done and we have co-operated 
fully with the judicial review and Court of Appeal process 
which have served to provide an additional and formal 
level of scrutiny over and above what had already been 
undertaken by myself and my team, by our Joint Ethics 
Committee and by the outside agencies and the three 
statutory Commissioners who have all taken an interest in 
these deployments.  It is absolutely crucial for all ethical and 
social concerns to be taken fully into account, and I carry out 
that key part of my role as Police and Crime Commissioner 
with diligence and vigour.

“I believe that the court process has made 
it clear that the use of facial recognition 
technology by South Wales Police is legitimate 

and has set out what we need to do to ensure 
we meet our legal obligations. This is in 
addition to the thorough system of scrutiny 
and challenge that I have already put in place.  
The public can be reassured that we are doing 
everything possible to get the balance right 
between protecting people’s rights and keeping 
the public safe.

Page 128



P R I O R I T Y  5

“Preventing crime and supporting safe, confident, resilient 
communities is the first responsibility of the police and it is 
essential to use innovation and embrace technology like 
facial recognition so we can make the best use of police 
officers in local communities across South Wales.

“The Court of Appeal judgement has been extremely helpful 
in shaping the way the use of facial recognition technology is 
governed in the future and I hope it will fuel continued public 
debate. I want to make sure that the debate is well informed 
with an intelligent balance between keeping people safe 
and protecting their civil liberties. I’m determined that we 
will stick to that balance and continue with our open and 
transparent approach.”

Used proportionately, the benefits of the technology in 
reducing crime and disorder, whilst bringing offenders to 
justice are clear and examples of its contribution to policing 
are increasing through the continued availability of use of the 
AFR Identify technology. In one such example, after a violent 
assault in Cardiff city centre, South Wales Police detectives 
were able to use the AFR Identify technology retrospectively 
on CCTV footage from the scene of the attack and as a result 
identified one of the suspects, with officers then able to 
track down his accomplice, bringing both men to justice 
for their actions. In another recent example, a sex attacker 
was identified through the use of facial recognition on CCTV 
footage captured during a bus journey, where he stalked 
his victim before attacking her moments after she got off the 
bus to begin her walk home. This individual has now been 
sentenced to life imprisonment, preventing him from further 
acts of extreme violence, whilst his victim works to recover 
from the impacts on her life as a direct result of the attack.

For more information relating to South Wales Police 
use of Facial Recognition, including deployments, 
please visit:

http://afr.south-wales.police.uk/

The Police & Crime Commissioner continues to lobby for 
Capital City funding.   South Wales Police has been denied 
over £106m in formula funding which has been frozen for 
nearly two decades despite changes to the population 
and policing environment. The Capital City of Wales has 
an additional annual policing cost of £4m which is also not 
recognised in the existing funding formula.

43

Page 129



S
O

U
T

H
 

W
A

L
E

S
 

P
O

L
I

C
E

 
A

N
D

 
C

R
I

M
E

 
C

O
M

M
I

S
S

I
O

N
E

R
 

 
|

 
 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

2
0

/
2

1

44

In 2020/21 there was once again a ‘flat cash’ grant to 
policing, with no allowance made for inflation or other cost 
pressures, which therefore equated to a further cut in real 
terms. Combined with the impacts of inflation and changing 
demand, this meant that we faced a continued budget 
gap. As such the UK Government passed the burden of 
addressing this gap to the local tax payer, with increases in 
the police precept required to make up the balance; despite 
this, the precept in South Wales for 2020/21 ranked third of 
the four Welsh police forces. Despite the financial challenge 
we remain efficient and wherever possible, savings have 
been delivered through more effective use of fleet, property, 
supplies and services, rather than from reductions in police 
officer and PCSO numbers.

South Wales Police has one of the largest estates within the 
blue light sector across the UK and the Commissioner has 
overseen significant work to review the whole estate and 
identify opportunities and shortfalls relating to the delivery 
of services. Due to an increase in recruitment and new 
officers, it was identified that the facilities where students 
are taught and assessed were inadequate. In light of this, 
a decision was made to invest in a purpose-built facility 
on the main Headquarters site to house all the teaching 
requirements within one building. The new building will 
provide a permanent base for Learning & Development 
Services, Human Resources and the Commissioner. This has 
led to several buildings in poor condition being demolished 
and will result in further opportunities for the rationalisation 
of the estate when the building opens early in 2022. The 
development will ensure that South Wales Police is brought 
into the 21st century of teaching methods and facilities and 
will greatly enhance the levels of training given to students, 
which will yield further benefits for the communities of 
South Wales.

We will spend your money wisely and support our people  
to provide the best possible policing in your community

Priority 6

Alongside new approaches, we have continued to 
contribute funding to crucial services for those affected by 
domestic abuse and sexual violence. This has included the 
much needed provision of Independent Domestic Abuse 
Advocates (IDVAs) and Independent Sexual Violence 
Advocates (ISVAs). The advocates have provided invaluable 
help and support to victims, irrespective of gender, involved 
in the criminal justice process by ensuring that their needs 
are put first, that they know what to expect and that they are 
provided with support and reassurance in court. 

The Commissioner also funds a number of diversionary 
schemes project, which seeks to reduce offending and 
reoffending by diverting individuals away from the criminal 
justice system and into supportive interventions through 
early intervention. Through prompt, positive action, 18- 25 
and Women’s diversion schemes are able to work with 
individuals to address vulnerabilities, underlying needs and 
divert away from crime and into healthy, positive lives.

Page 130



S
O

U
T

H
 

W
A

L
E

S
 

P
O

L
I

C
E

 
A

N
D

 
C

R
I

M
E

 
C

O
M

M
I

S
S

I
O

N
E

R
 

 
|

 
 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

2
0

/
2

1

45

Promoting Race Equality and 
Addressing Racial Disparity

During 2020/21 the Commissioner provided an enhanced 
focus on addressing racial disproportionality in policing 
and criminal justice, following international and national 
events highlighting the need for change.  In conjunction 
with the Chief Constable, a Joint Race Equality Plan has been 
developed following a series of engagement events with 
people from Black, Asian & Minority Ethnic backgrounds and 
with partner organisations promoting race equality.  The Plan 
contains a number of priorities that South Wales Police will 
work towards in order to improve race equality and reduce 
disproportionality.  The Commissioner is committed to 
holding the force to account on this crucial issue and will do 
so throughout his term.

In 2020, the Deputy Police & Crime Commissioner was also 
appointed the joint Wales lead on race equality in policing, 
alongside the Chief Constable of Gwent Police.  Her work 
has ensured that race equality is now sitting at the heart of 
policing priorities in Wales, as well as in the wider Criminal 
Justice system in Wales.  All criminal justice partners have 
committed to the development of a shared race equality 
pledge and action plan.

Ethnic Minorities within the Criminal 
Justice System 
For the Cardiff Race Equality Task Force, the Police and 
Commissioner’s Team undertook a high level analysis of 
disproportionality, outcomes and workforce representation 
across a broad range of Criminal Justice areas. This required 
coordination of data from a wide range of criminal justice 
partners including South Wales Police, Youth Justice 
Service and HMPPS. This highlighted a number of areas 
of concern in relation to disproportionality and will inform 
recommendations for the Cardiff Race Equality Task Force 
and form the basis for wider review across Wales. 

There has also been work to collate data around racial 
disparities for the use of Out of Court Disposals for youths 
and young adults. The findings from this analysis will be 
used to develop a set of recommendations to work towards 
ensuring there is equal opportunity for those from an ethnic 
minority background to access diversionary services.  

In partnership with HM Prison and Probation Service 
£18,000 in funding has been awarded to Safer Wales to 
pilot a tailored, early intervention provision for women from 
an ethnic minority background who are involved with or at 
risk of becoming involved with the criminal justice system. 
This proposal involves a partnership between Safer Wales, 
The Henna Foundation and other Black, Asian & Minority 
Ethnic community organisations. The funding will enable a 
part-time specialist worker, working alongside Safer Wales 
and the Whole System Approach (WSA) Service to engage, 
support and safeguard women from an ethnic minority 
background who become involved in the Criminal Justice 
System.

The core of all of this work is collaborating with local partners 
across adult and youth justice services to inform and shape 
evidence based initiatives that are aimed at intervening 
earlier (diverting away from crime), reducing re-offending 
and improving overall outcomes for victims.

P R I O R I T Y  6

Page 131



S
O

U
T

H
 

W
A

L
E

S
 

P
O

L
I

C
E

 
A

N
D

 
C

R
I

M
E

 
C

O
M

M
I

S
S

I
O

N
E

R
 

 
|

 
 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

2
0

/
2

1

46

P R I O R I T Y  6

Work taken forward through this portfolio also aims to 
build upon the success and learning of what has been 
commissioned/ implemented to date with a view to 
replicating or expanding programmes/ projects that achieve 
positive outcomes. This is done alongside continuing to 
identify opportunities to trial and test future innovation.

What do we intend to do next:

• Replicate Youth Scrutiny Panels that have been 
established for Cardiff and the Vale across the other two 
BCUs in South Wales. The aim of these panels is to bring 
greater transparency, consistency and accountability in 
the use of Youth (10-17 year olds) out of court disposals

• As part of the Adult and Youth OoCD Scrutiny Panels, 
undertake work to better understand performance 
measures in order to hold the force to account on their 
delivery of OoCDs. This will also support us in drawing 
upon the learning to develop practice around OoCD

• Continue to support the force in their roll out of two-
tiered OoCD model in identifying opportunities to 
develop evidence based interventions to be delivered as 
part of an OoCD. This includes early interventions for low 
level domestic abuse perpetrators (e.g. CARA), weapon 
possession, and hate crime

• Continue to lead delivery of the Pre-Court Diversion 
workstream as part of the Youth Justice Blueprint

• Align work of the Youth Justice and Female Offending 
Blueprints to ensure that the needs of girls and young 
women at risk of offending are appropriately considered 
in prevention and early intervention service plans. This 
will include monitoring findings and learning from the 
Young Female Transition Pilot being delivered as a joint 
initiative between the Women’s Pathfinder and Safer 
Wales Inclusive Service 

• Working with South Wales Police and other relevant 
partners to take forward recommendations of the Joint 
Offender Management Review 

• Develop a delivery plan for the South Wales Criminal 
Justice and IOM Board. The Strategic Lead for Criminal 
Justice will take the lead in providing management and 
oversight of this delivery plan 

• Monitor levels of representation of those from an ethnic 
minority background within our commissioned services 
with a view to understanding disproportionality either 
through over or under representation 

• Utilise criminal justice forums to work with partners to 
set cross sector priorities in better understanding and 
responding to the needs of our Black, Asian & Minority 
Ethnic communities

• Support the evaluation of the Women’s Pathfinder 
Whole System Approach and 18-25 Early Intervention 
Service and develop a set of recommendations for future 
commissioning based on the findings which are due to 
be published Autumn 2021  

• Progress work with Llamau and HMPPs around 
evidencing a whole system approach to working with 18 
-25 year old young people leaving prison that reduces 
offending and enhances wider life outcomes 

• Continue to support discussions with HMPPS and 
Commissioners across Wales in developing cooperative 
commissioning approaches to the development and 
implementation of offending related services

Statutory Responsibilities  
& Corporate Governance

Our governance arrangements are designed to ensure 
appropriate accountability and to assist effective leadership. 
The Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 
created two “corporations sole” within each police force: 
the Commissioner and the Chief Constable. They each have 
separate roles set out in statute. The Commissioner must 
set a budget each year, including the Council Tax precept, 
and appoints the Chief Constable. The Commissioner 
has specific responsibilities for community safety and 
crime reduction, as well as a wider responsibility for the 
enhancement of the delivery of criminal justice locally. The 
Chief Constable is responsible for the control, direction and 
delivery of operational policing. 

The Commissioner’s Strategic Board is the main way in which 
the Commissioner is able to oversee force performance. It 
is chaired by the Commissioner and attended by the Chief 
Constable and his senior officers. 

The Commissioner also takes decisions that relate to his 
particular areas of statutory responsibility. The significant 
decisions can be found here.

Page 132



47

South Wales Police was inspected in tranche two 
and HMICFRS found:

The extent to which the force is effective at 
reducing crime and keeping people safe is good.

The extent to which the force operates efficiently 
and sustainably is good.

The extent to which the force treats the public and 
its workforce legitimately is good.

Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary 
and Fire & Rescue Services (HMICFRS) 
Reports and Responses 
The Commissioner is required to respond to reports 
produced by HMICFRS when they include recommendations 
for Chief Constables. The responses are sent to the Home 
Secretary and HMICFRS to outline the Commissioner’s view 
on the recommendations and how they may be overseen. 
During 2020/21 the Commissioner responded to 4 reports. 
The reports and responses are available here.

Core to the HMICFRS Inspection programme is the PEEL 
assessment, which is an annual review of the policing of 
forces in England & Wales where Effectiveness, Efficiency 
and Legitimacy are all assessed. They are judged as 
outstanding, good, requires improvement or inadequate on 
these categories (or pillars) based on inspection findings, 
analysis and Her Majesty’s Inspectors’ (HMIs) professional 
judgment across the year. Each pillar has questions that 
focus on core areas of the work of the police with judgments 
are also applied to these questions. A summary of the latest 
PEEL assessment for South Wales Police, at the time of 
drafting the 2020/21 Annual Report, is outlined below and 
more detail can be found here.

P R I O R I T Y  6

Accountability & Scrutiny 
The Commissioner’s ‘Scrutiny & Accountability Board’ 
enables detailed oversight and scrutiny of policing and the 
delivery of his Police & Crime Plan. The Board is alternately 
chaired by the Deputy Commissioner and the Chief 
Executive, and feeds up to the Commissioner’s Strategic 
Board. 

During 2020/21, the Board conducted scrutiny sessions 
on:

• Racial Disproportionality in South Wales Police

• South Wales Police Community Engagement

• Black, Asian & Minority Ethnic Representation in 
South Wales Police

• Automated Facial Recognition

The sessions enabled the Commissioner and his team to 
scrutinise data, progress, and working practices in relation 
to the above, and to provide recommendations for change 
or improvement where needed. Some key themes that 
arose within our recommendations included: training and 
awareness needs for officers, new enhanced approaches 
for increasing the numbers of ethnic minorities in the force, 
the need for a specific plan to address racial disparity across 
the force, the need for improved ethnicity recording to 
ensure more accurate pictures of disproportionality could 
be captured, and the need for outcomes from community 
engagement to be more widely shared within the force so 
that public views can be better understood.

S
O

U
T

H
 

W
A

L
E

S
 

P
O

L
I

C
E

 
A

N
D

 
C

R
I

M
E

 
C

O
M

M
I

S
S

I
O

N
E

R
 

 
|

 
 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

2
0

/
2

1Page 133



S
O

U
T

H
 

W
A

L
E

S
 

P
O

L
I

C
E

 
A

N
D

 
C

R
I

M
E

 
C

O
M

M
I

S
S

I
O

N
E

R
 

 
|

 
 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

2
0

/
2

1

48
Policing Accountability & Legitimacy 
Group (PALG) 
The Commissioner’s Police Accountability & Legitimacy 
Group meets every quarter. The group consists of partner 
organisations and independent members who feed in their 
views on South Wales Police practice and performance to 
assist with the Commissioner’s oversight and scrutiny role. 
During 2020/21 the group discussed and fed in views on a 
range of topics, including:

• The police and partner response to Covid-19

• Automated Facial Recognition

• Force Equality Objectives

• Racial Disproportionality

• The Victims Strategy and treatment of crime victims

• Police Complaints Processes

• Community Tensions and community cohesion

During 2020 we recruited 6 new independent community 
members to the group, following an open advert process.  
The new members are able to bring independent input 
and advice, positively adding to the existing membership 
of partner organisations. More detail on the Police 
Accountability & Legitimacy Group can be found here.

A Workforce that Reflects our Communities 
Throughout the year, the Commissioner has continued to 
oversee and assist in the delivery of developing a more 
representative workforce in South Wales Police. There are 
priorities in the Police & Crime Plan to increase the numbers 
of Black, Asian & Minority Ethnic people across the force 
and to improve the representation of female officers across 
the ranks. This work began in 2015 when the Commissioner 
conducted reviews into how South Wales Police could 
improve representation. 

Since then the Commissioner and his team have invested in 
joint action plans to make improvements, resulting in some 
improvement. In 2015, just 2.1% of our officers were from a 
minority ethnic background and this had risen to over 2.8% 
at the end of this financial year. In 2015, a total of 28% of our 
officers were female. By the end of this financial year, this had 
risen to 33.5%. 

During the year we have worked diligently with the force 
to do even more to increase the force’s representation.  
This included a February 2021 scrutiny deep dive on the 
representation of Black, Asian & Minority Ethnic officers and 
staff, which led to recommendations from the Commissioner 
and his team.  New initiatives are in development as a result, 
and these will be progressed in 2021/22.

Page 134



S
O

U
T

H
 

W
A

L
E

S
 

P
O

L
I

C
E

 
A

N
D

 
C

R
I

M
E

 
C

O
M

M
I

S
S

I
O

N
E

R
 

 
|

 
 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

2
0

/
2

1

49

P R I O R I T Y  6

Independent Custody Visiting and Animal 
Welfare Schemes 
The Police and Crime Commissioner has a statutory 
responsibility to run a volunteer Independent Custody 
Visiting Scheme. This means that a group of volunteers 
make unannounced visits to people in custody across the 
force area, to provide a check on detainee welfare and the 
conditions in which they are held. 

In March 2020, visits across South Wales were paused 
as a result of the outbreak of Coronavirus. After careful 
consideration, and following government guidelines, 
physical visits remained on hold during the spring and 
summer of 2020. A contingency plan was devised in order 
to continue to provide oversight. As the volunteers were not 
able to physically attend the custody suites, a ‘remote visit’ 
plan was established, which enabled the volunteers to speak 
with detainees on the telephone. Unannounced calls were 
made once a week to all 4 custody suites across South Wales 
and custody record checks were undertaken by the Scheme 
Manager using police systems. 

The checks led to some observations and allowed the 
Scheme Manager to take forward recommendations to 
the Commissioner’s Scrutiny and Accountability Board 
for consideration by the force. These recommendations 
included ensuring all females were offered sanitary provision 
and all religious and cultural needs were met during 
detention. As restrictions started to ease, some volunteers 
resumed physical visits during the start of 2021. 

During 2020/21, the volunteers also made 9 visits to the 
Dog & Mounted section at the Waterton site in Bridgend to 
check on the welfare of the police dogs and horses. Due to 
Covid-19, the volunteers were unable to carry out the usual 
number of visits, which usually average around 40 per year.  
The volunteers found no issues with the way in which the 
police dogs and horses were treated during the year.

Police & Crime Panel 
The Police & Crime Panel is responsible for overseeing the 
Police & Crime Commissioner and scrutinising his decisions. 
Agendas and minutes of Panel meetings can be found here.

Joint Audit Committee 
The Commissioner and Chief Constable have appointed an 
independent Joint Audit Committee that provides assurance 
to enhance public trust and confidence in governance. 

The Committee provides:

• Independent assurance on the adequacy of the 
risk management framework and the associated            
control environment

• Independent scrutiny of financial performance

• Oversight in relation to the financial                        
reporting framework

Further details on the Joint Audit Committee can be 
found here.

Internal Audit 
A specialist company, TIAA, provides internal audit services. 
Internal audit performs a range of reviews to an agreed 
audit plan and in compliance with Public Sector Internal 
Audit Standards. The Internal Audit Plan is scrutinised by the 
Joint Audit Committee before it is agreed. The Joint Audit 
Committee receive and review each internal audit report.

External Audit 
The Wales Audit Office (WAO) are the appointed external 
auditors to the Commissioner and Chief Constable. Each 
year, the Wales Audit Office comment on the financial 
aspects of corporate governance, including the legality of 
financial transactions, financial standing systems, systems 
of internal financial control and the standards of financial 
conduct, fraud and corruption. The Wales Audit Office also 
has a statutory duty to assess arrangements for securing 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use 
of resources.

Page 135



Quality, Standards  
and Compliance

During the last year, the Quality, Standards and Compliance 
team has seen the volume of correspondence from 
the public double. The South Wales Police and Crime 
Commissioner received over one thousand items of 
correspondence comprising a combination of complaints, 
requests for information and comments on policing. 
Correspondence has covered a wide range of issues, 
including concerns arising from the global Covid-19 
pandemic, anti-social behaviour and expressions of 
dissatisfaction with the service provided by the police. 

The Commissioner’s Quality, Standards and Compliance 
team strives to respond to all correspondence in a 
professional and timely manner. Through our engagement 
with the Chief Constable’s office, we have prompted local 
action to be taken by police officers to address specific 
concerns. Our interventions have ensured that issues are 
more likely to be resolved satisfactorily rather than becoming 
the subject of a formal complaint. Where appropriate, 
complaints have been referred to the Professional Standards 
Department for investigation. 

Legislative changes relating to police complaints and 
conduct came into force on the 1st February 2020. 

As a result, the Commissioner has a statutory duty to hold 
the Chief Constable to account for an efficient and effective 
local complaints handling process. The Commissioner’s 
Quality Standards and Compliance team cannot conduct 
investigations into complaints, but we have mechanisms in 
place to scrutinise the local complaints system, including 
obtaining performance reports and dip sampling cases. 

Members of our team sit on a number of joint committees 
and working groups, including the Internal Ethics 
Committee, Independent Ethics Committee, Freedom of 
Information group, Strategic Lessons Learnt forum and the 
Vetting Appeal Panel. Engagement of this kind forms part of 
the oversight and scrutiny undertaken by the team.   

In February 2020, we assumed responsibility for handling 
reviews (appeals) of low-level complaints made by 
complainants who have gone through the process of making 
a complaint via the Professional Standards Department and 
are not happy with the outcome. Between February 2020 
and March 2021, the Quality, Standards and Compliance 

team handled 187 applications for review.  The team 
completed 153 substantive reviews and 34 reviews were 
found to be invalid. The number of reviews undertaken is in 
line with an increase in the number of complaints received 
by South Wales Police during this period and far exceeds 
the number of reviews  predicted when the legislation was 
introduced.    

We also have responsibility for receiving reports from the 
Independent Office for Police Conduct and the Professional 
Standards Department when a complaint or conduct matter 
takes over 12 months to investigate, and can hold both 
parties to account for timeliness in respect of these.

The Commissioner is responsible for investigating 
complaints against the Chief Constable. More information 
can be found here.

The Police and Crime Panel is responsible for investigating 
complaints against the Commissioner. More information can 
be found here.

During 2020/21, the Quality Standards and Compliance 
team responded to 18 requests for information pursuant 
to the Freedom of Information (FOI) Act. A disclosure log 
detailing FOI requests and our responses is published on our 
website along with a Publication Scheme that explains the 
information that is readily available to the public.

S
O

U
T

H
 

W
A

L
E

S
 

P
O

L
I

C
E

 
A

N
D

 
C

R
I

M
E

 
C

O
M

M
I

S
S

I
O

N
E

R
 

 
|

 
 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

2
0

/
2

1

50

P R I O R I T Y  6

Page 136



S
O

U
T

H
 

W
A

L
E

S
 

P
O

L
I

C
E

 
A

N
D

 
C

R
I

M
E

 
C

O
M

M
I

S
S

I
O

N
E

R
 

 
|

 
 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

2
0

/
2

1

51

P R I O R I T Y  6

Staff have undertaken mandatory training to promote 
awareness and good practice in relation to the General 
Data Protection Regulation and the Data Protection Act 
2018. Information about the types of data held by the 
Commissioner’s office and how to make a subject access 
request is available on our website.

We keep the content of our website under review, making 
improvements and ensuring that we fulfil our statutory 
responsibilities to publish certain information. In February 
2021 (for the third year running), we were awarded the 
CoPaCC 'Open and Transparent' Quality Mark 2021 for the 
information made available to the public on our website. 
The award demonstrates our commitment to publishing 
information about the work of the Police and Crime 
Commissioner that is clear and accessible to members  
of the public.

Finance &  
Transparency

Before the start of each financial year, the Commissioner 
produces a Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) that 
sets out his spending plans and precept proposal for the 
forthcoming financial year. This document includes detailed 
information on the economic background, Home Office 
decisions in respect of police grants, revenue and capital 
expenditure plans, workforce estimates and the Treasury 
Management Strategy.

At the end of each financial year, the Statement of Accounts 
is produced which details financial performance during the 
year and the financial position as at 31st March. The Wales 
Audit Office audits the Statement of Accounts.

Further detail on the finances, including the MTFS and 
Statement of Accounts, can be found on the Police and 
Crime Commissioners website.

Transparency 
Police & Crime Commissioners are obliged to publish certain 
information to allow the public to hold them to account. The 
Commissioner complies with these requirements and the 
information can be found here.

Page 137



www.southwalescommissioner.org.uk

To find out more about your
Commissioner follow us via:

@commissionersw

Or contact us via:

 01656 869 366

 commissioner@south-wales.police.uk

South Wales Police and Crime Commissioner,

Police Headquarters, Cowbridge Road, Bridgend CF31 3SU

We welcome correspondence in English and Welsh

Page 138



  

 

 

  

1 

 

 

REPORT OF THE POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER 

TITLE:  Police and Crime Commissioner for South Wales’ Annual Scruitny 

Report 

DATE:  14th September 2021 

PURPOSE: For Noting 
 

1. RECOMMENDATION 

That the Police and Crime Panel considers and notes the attached reports for 

the financial year 2019/20 summarising formal scrutiny and enagement as 

required by the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011. 

 

2. INTRODUCTION & BACKGROUND 

The Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 states that the Police & 

Crime Commissioner for South Wales has a statutory duty and electoral 

mandate to hold South Wales Police to account on behalf of the public.  He 

works to ensure the effective and efficient operation of the force by working 

together with the Chief Constable, aiming to provide the best possible police 

service to South Wales.  

The Commissioner uses a range of ways to ensure that formal scrutiny of the 

force takes place throughout the year.  As well as the weekly contact he has 

with Chief Officers in the force, the Commissioner chairs a Strategic Board on 

a quarterly basis.  This is where he formally holds the Chief Constable to 

account in relation to crime reduction, force performance, and the delivery of 

priorities in the Police & Crime Plan.  Further detail on these arrangements are 

laid out in the jointly agreed Manual of Governance and Annual Governance 

Statement.  

The Commissioner also has a duty to make arrangements for obtaining the 

views of people within each neighbourhood about crime and disorder in that 

neighbourhood (section 34). The attached reports highlight activity in 2020-21 

in relation to scrutiny (holding to account) and engagement. 

3. ISSUES FOR CONSIDERATION 

This scrutiny annual summary outlines the activity that was conducted via the 

scrutiny programme during the financial year 2020/21. Annex A 

The engagement report summarises the core engagement activity that the 

Commissioner and his team have undertaken during the 2020-21 financial year 

and is aligned with the priority areas set out in our Engagement Strategy.  

4. NEXT STEPS 

The Police and Crime Panel are asked to note and comment, the report will 

then be published on the Police and Crime Commissioners website. 

  

Page 139

Agenda Item 7



  

 

 

  

2 

 

 

5. FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS 

There are financial implications to the delivery of the work of the team which 

are articulated within the Medium Term Financial Plan. 

6. PERSONNEL CONSIDERATIONS 

The plans take account of the pressure on the budget and drive the efficient 

and effective use of the budget in a planned and timely manner.  

7. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

Producing the reports particularly in the light of: 

(i) any report or recommendations made by the police and crime panel; and 

(ii) any changes in the strategic policing requirement  

(iii) statutory responsibilities of the Commissioner under the Police Reform and 

Social Responsibilities Act 2011. 

 

8. EQUALITIES  AND HUMAN RIGHTS CONSIDERATIONS 

This proposal has been considered against the general duty to promote 

equality, as stipulated under the Strategic Equality Plan and has been 

assessed not to discriminate against any particular group.  

 

In preparing this report, consideration has been given to the requirements of 

the Articles contained in the European Convention on Human Rights and the 

Human Rights Act 1998. 

 

9. RISK 

A timely decision will minimise the risk to the compliance with the Police 

Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011. 

10. PUBLIC INTEREST 

This reports will be placed on the website of both the Commissioner and the 

Police and Crime Panel. 

11. CONTACT OFFICER 

Lee Jones, Chief Executive to the Police and Crime Commissioner for South 

Wales. 

12. ANNEXES 

The Annexe to this report is a copy of the Annual report for noting.  

 

 

Page 140



 

 

 

  

  

South Wales Police & Crime Commissioner  

  

Annual Summary of  

Scrutiny and Oversight 

Activity  

   

  

  

  

April 2020 – April 2021  
 

  

  

  

  

  

 

Page 141



 

1 
 

 

 

Introduction  

The Police & Crime Commissioner for South Wales has a statutory duty and 

electoral mandate to hold South Wales Police to account on behalf of the public.  He 

works to ensure the effective and efficient operation of the force by working together 

with the Chief Constable, aiming to provide the best possible police service to South 

Wales.  

The Commissioner uses a range of ways to ensure that formal scrutiny of the force 

takes place throughout the year.  As well as the weekly contact he has with Chief 

Officers in the force, the Commissioner chairs a Strategic Board on a quarterly basis.  

This is where he formally holds the Chief Constable to account in relation to crime 

reduction, force performance, and the delivery of priorities in the Police & Crime 

Plan.  Further detail on these arrangements are laid out in the jointly agreed Manual 

of Governance and Annual Governance Statement.  

In addition to this Board, the Commissioner has established a scrutiny programme, 

which enables detailed ongoing oversight of policing issues and the ability to act as a 

critical friend. The programme is delivered through a range of groups, meetings and 

activities, with the purpose of ensuring that critical and constructive challenge can be 

provided and that positive improvements can be driven where needed.  

During the year’s pandemic, there were inevitable challenges places upon planned 

scrutiny activities. However, the Commissioner and team responded by ensuring that 

scrutiny activity could continue online, and that the scheduled scrutiny programme 

could be adjusted to incorporate oversight of the police response to the pandemic.  

There were also a number of high-profile events that impacted on policing during the 

year, both nationally and in South Wales.  This led to considerable additional focus 

on community cohesion and equality and inclusion issues within the Commissioner’s 

oversight role. 

This annual summary outlines the activity that was conducted via the scrutiny 

programme during the financial year 2020-2021.  

  

Scrutiny & Accountability Board  

 

This Board meets every 6 weeks and is alternately chaired by the Deputy Police &  

Crime Commissioner and the Chief Executive.  Every other meeting contains a ‘deep 

dive’ topic for scrutiny, which enables detailed analysis of a specific policing topic.   

The Commissioner’s team ensures that partner agencies, victims of crime, and the 

wider public, can feed in as much as possible.  The deep dive topics discussed 

during 2020-21 are outlined below.  

Page 142



 

2 
 

 

 

Racial Disproportionality (August 2020)  

What was Considered  

Force data for a range of policing issues was collected and analysed by ethnicity.  In 

addition, the Commissioner’s team sought the views of Black & Minority Ethnic 

young people and partner agencies working with ethnic minorities.  The team also 

randomly viewed recent stop search and use of force footage, scrutinised stop 

search records and considered national data and research that highlighted racial 

disproportionality in policing and public perceptions of policing powers.  

Issues Identified  

 

The key issues that arose during the deep dive were:  

• That there continued to be racial disproportionality across a range of force 

practices, which was evidenced by available data. 

• That there were large gaps in available ethnicity data, which appeared to be 

rising.  This lack of ethnicity recording made it difficult to regularly review and 

understand the extent of racial disproportionality. 

• That stop search and ‘use of force’ disproportionality rates were increasing, in 

particular the use of taser on Black and Mixed race people. 

• That victim satisfaction rates were lower amongst Black and Minority Ethnic 

people, as were crime outcome rates for Black people. 

• That a large number of young ethnic minority people felt there was racial 

discrimination and stereotyping in how stop searches were conducted.  

• That many young ethnic minority people felt confused by the stop search 

situation, not always understanding the legal jargon that was used or the 

reasons for the search. 

• That the majority of young ethnic minority people spoken to agreed that stop 

search was a useful and valid tool in tackling serious crime, but there was a 

fear that it may be used more with an increase in knife crime. There were 

concerns that this could increase racial stereotyping. 

• That improvements needed to be made in the bodyworn video recordings of 

stop search. Not all encounters were being filmed in their entirety. 

• That the majority of stop search records and bodyworn video footage tended 

to show that searches were legitimately conducted with reasonable grounds. 

Some encounters could appear too process-driven, which could impact on 

interactions. 

• That South Wales Police continued to be under representative of its Black, 

Asian and Minority Ethnic population in the area, and that this was noted by 

ethnic minority communities who felt that an increased visible diversity would 

increase trust in the police. 

Page 143



 

3 
 

 

 

• That a number of ongoing disproportionality issues were clearly of concern 

and that there was a willingness and sense of urgency to address these 

through a new Joint Race Equality Plan.  

Commissioner’s Team Recommendations  

A number of recommendations were made to the force following the deep dive, 

including:  

 

• That ethnicity data quality issues and gaps in recording on force systems 

should be addressed. 

• That consideration should be given to how to increase the proportions of 

Black, Asian & Minority Ethnic people in victim satisfaction surveys and other 

relevant consultation surveys to capture lived experience and feedback as 

much as possible. 

• That the way in which language and communication was being addressed in 

stop search training should be reviewed to ensure appropriate and 

proportionate interactions. 

• That work should be conducted to review the use of receipts and the seeking 

of feedback following stop search encounters. 

• That bodyworn video stop search compliance should be continually 

monitored, ensuring that the whole encounter is recorded. 

 

Community Engagement (November 2020)  

What was Considered  

Force strategies and methods for engaging with communities across the force were 

considered.  The Commissioner’s Team considered the reach of this engagement, 

including its accessibility, as well as the make-up and diversity of those engaged 

with.  The team considered how the force was working to understand its 

communities, and also considered the impact of force engagement and how public 

feedback had led to change of practice or policy.  

Issues Identified  

The key issues that arose during the deep dive were:  

• That there were numerous tools in place to monitor the demographics of the 

South Wales population and these were used to best target policing 

communication as needed. 

• That the Covid-19 pandemic had led to the development of new ways of 

engaging, many of which had seen positive numbers engaging with the police. 

• That an engagement activity portal had been developed in the force to enable 

officers to input individual community engagement activity and outcomes.  

This was a useful tool but take-up had been slow and was not mandated. 

Page 144



 

4 
 

 

 

• That community tensions were being monitored and regularly reviewed across 

the force and emerging community issues and threats were being considered 

on a forcewide basis. 

• That the Crime Survey of England and Wales showed a decline in public 

confidence in policing in the force area.  Plans were in place to consult on 

public perceptions and confidence in the coming year. 

• That work was being led by the Commissioner’s team in partnership with the 

force to enhance engagement with young people via a ‘Young Voices’  

initiative.  This was enabling young people to feed in their views on policing in 

a comfortable environment and with their peers. 

 

Commissioner’s Team Recommendations  

A number of recommendations were made to the force following the deep dive, 

including:  

  

• That there was a need to establish how trends and issues picked up from 

community engagement were collected and regularly reviewed on a force-

wide level to maximise learning. 

• That better mechanisms should be established to measure the effectiveness 

and outcomes of community engagement activity across the force. 

• That positive case outcomes and positive initiatives should be targeted to 

communities to encourage confidence and reporting.  

• That the recorded decline in public confidence should be further explored and 

proposals developed to address this. 

  

Black & Minority Ethnic Representation in South Wales Police (February 2021)  

What was Considered  

For this deep dive, the Commissioner’s team considered employment and 

recruitment data and strategies, as well as the views of ethnic minority staff working 

for South Wales Police.  In addition, focus groups were held with officers and staff 

acting as representative workforce Development Champions, and with a random 

selection of officers and staff internally. These were to find out the depth of internal 

awareness and understanding of the need for positive action to address the under-

representation of ethnic minorities in the force and to find out where improvements 

could be made.  

Issues Identified  

The key issues that arose during the deep dive were:  

 

Page 145



 

5 
 

 

 

• That ethnic minority officers that had been recruited through the 

representative workforce programme spoke positively about their experiences 

of the programme and felt they had received good support. 

• That many felt the current programme promoted police officer roles to the 

public much more than police staff roles and that this could be preventing 

Black & Minority Ethnic communities from understanding wider employment 

opportunities available. 

• That the internal Development Champion scheme, that enabled volunteer 

members of the force to support ethnic minorities to apply for roles in the 

force, was having a positive impact.  However, the scheme could benefit from 

some refocus in order to maximise efficiencies and effectiveness. 

• That a review was needed into the existing internal and external 

Communications campaigns associated with the recruitment of Black, Asian & 

Minority ethnic people.  Investment was needed in order to ensure this was 

seen as a priority and that accurate and useful information was being 

provided.  This included the need for South Wales Police to ‘sell’ itself better 

to ethnic minority communities. 

• That now that the numbers of officers and staff from ethnic minorities was 

improving, there was a need for a more visible commitment to their retention 

and progression. 

• That it was unclear how regularly or effectively the representative workforce 

programme was being evaluated and reviewed, in which case there could be 

missed opportunities to introduce changes and improvements. 

• That the team currently working to improve the representation of ethnic 

minorities in the force was extremely committed.  However, it was unlikely that 

a continual reliance on the team alone was going to lead to sustainable 

outcomes.  Some of the work needed to be more aligned to a broader Human 

Resources model. 

• That there was a need for language and reporting in relation to recruitment of 

ethnic minorities to be more specific.  Use of the term ‘BAME’ was regarded 

as unhelpful as it did not break down representation and under-representation 

enough, and this could provide a skewed picture. 

 

Commissioner’s Team Recommendations  

A number of recommendations were made to the force following the deep dive, 

including:  

• That the force and Commissioner’s team should come together to refresh the 

Black, Asian & Minority Ethnic Recruitment & Progression Strategy in line with 

all the scrutiny findings. 

 

Page 146



 

6 
 

 

 

• That ongoing monitoring and scrutiny of this area should be prioritised, 

alongside monitoring of the new Joint Race Equality Plan. 

 Additional Scrutiny by the Board  

In addition to deep dive topics, the Scrutiny & Accountability Board conducted 

scrutiny of other policing issues during 2020/21.  This included:  

Automated Facial Recognition (AFR) Technology  

The Board received updates on the deployment of AFR across the force, including 

the ongoing work to equality impact assess AFR in order to establish where any bias 

may exist in the technology.  The Board was kept up to date on plans to test the 

technology and the Commissioner’s team emphasised the need to engage with 

communities during this work.   

Treatment of Detainees in Custody 

The Board considered the findings of the Commissioner’s team’s monitoring of 

custody services during the Covid-19 lockdown.  In addition to the findings of the 

Independent Custody Visiting Scheme volunteers, the Board considered the findings 

of the Scheme Manager who had made unannounced telephone calls to custody 

and randomly checked on electronic custody records throughout the period. Whilst 

the overall treatment of detainees was found to be excellent, some 

recommendations were made in terms of religious needs and sanitary provision, with 

the need for data recording improvements in these areas. 

Internal Understanding of Race Equality Issues 

The Board was kept up to date on progress relating to the ‘Let’s Talk About Race’ 

sessions being held with officers and staff across the force.  This provided insight 

into internal understanding of issues such as racial disparity, racism and white 

privilege.  The findings were discussed in order to contribute to the development of 

the Joint Race Equality Plan priorities and commitments. 

The Handling of Community Tensions across South Wales 

The Board discussed how the force was working with communities to deal with  

tensions arising from specific incidents during the year.  This included the 

Commissioner’s team emphasising the need for early and honest communication 

with communities, and the importance of listening to community feedback. 

 

Police Accountability & Legitimacy Group (PALG)  

PALG is chaired by the Commissioner’s Chief Executive.  The group meets quarterly 

and consists of external partner organisations and independent community members  

Page 147



 

7 
 

 

 

who assist the Commissioner’s team in providing a critical friend perspective of force 

performance and practice.   

During 2020, a total of 6 new independent community members were recruited to the 

group, following an open advert process.  The new members were able to bring 

independent input and advice, positively adding to the existing membership of 

partner organisations. 

 

During 2020-21 the group considered a number of issues, including:  

 

The Police & Partner Response to Covid-19 

The group discussed the way in which South Wales Police was responding to 

incidents and managing victims during Covid-19 restrictions.  Members also 

considered how commissioned services were operating and were able to question 

the nature of service delivery in order to be assured that victim needs continued to 

be met.  

Automated Facial Recognition (AFR) 

The group considered the ongoing work to ensure that AFR was being tested for 

bias and members were updated on the legal decisions around AFR use.  

South Wales Police Equality Objectives 

The equality objectives set out in the Joint Equality Plan were presented to the group 

so that they could receive updates on progress and question any issues arising. 

Racial Disproportionality 

During the year the group identified and queried a range of areas where racial 

disproportionality existed and were able to question how these were being 

addressed.  Examples included the disproportionate rates of Fixed Penalty Notices 

being provided to Black & Minority Ethnic people for Covid-19 breaches, and 

continued disproportionality for stop search. 

The Victims’ Strategy and Treatment of Crime Victims 

Proposals within the draft Victims Strategy for South Wales were shared with the 

group.  Members were able to provide independent comments in order to shape 

the proposals further. 

Police Complaints Processes 

The group considered the complaints demands on the force and the trend towards 

increased and repeat complaints.  Members considered the force’s proposals on 

managing vexatious complainants and were in agreement with them. 

Page 148



 

8 
 

 

 

Community Tensions and Community Cohesion  

During the year, the group was updated on community feeling and tensions 

arising from particular incidents that had led to a lack of trust and confidence in 

policing in some communities.  The group questioned the force on how this was 

being handled and were able to put forward their views on what could be carried 

out to ease tensions. 

 

Joint Independent Ethics Committee  

This committee is jointly run by the Commissioner and Chief Constable.  It contains 

external independent members and has an independent chair. The committee meets 

quarterly and discusses ethical dilemmas that the force is presented with, with the 

aim of offering independent opinion. During 2020-21 the issues considered included:  

Traffic Speed Enforcement 

The committee discussed supporting the position on enforcing traffic speed 

restrictions for environmental purposes.  This was a different policing stance on 

speed enforcement, which ordinarily enforced for reasons relating to casualties 

arising from speeding.  There were sensitivities relating to different national and 

political stances, and a need to consider public perceptions to a change in policing 

policy.  Following debate, the committee felt that whilst environmental reasons for 

reducing speed were important in terms of public health, there was a need for 

education and partnership working on the matter to be prioritised over police 

enforcement.  

Use of CBD Products  

Discussions took place around the availability of cannabidiol (CBD) products online 

and in health shops for medicinal purposes.  It was recognised that use of these 

products by police personnel could be considered negatively by some members of 

the public. However, it was clear that the products were legal, and that they would 

not influence behaviour or show up in testing.  The committee agreed that police 

personnel should be able to personally choose to use such products in line with the 

rest of the public and that force communication on this would be required. 

 

Bodyworn Video Use in Rape Interviews 

The committee debated the sensitivities around bodyworn video use in rape 

interviews.  National and force policy stipulated that this could not be used at initial 

interviews with victims.  The ethical dilemma was posed as to whether an officer 

would wish to video in cases where they had gained victim consent and held a view 

that it would assist in evidence gathering for prosecution – hence going against 

policy.  The committee debated both sides of the issue and could not come to an 

Page 149



 

9 
 

 

 

immediate agreement on an outcome. The issue was later debated further internally 

at the committee’s request and was brought back to the committee. The committee 

eventually advised against bodyworn video in this context. 

 

Joint Audit Committee  

This committee operates jointly between the Commissioner and force.  It consists of 

independent members, with an independent chair.  The committee provides an 

oversight and monitoring function, particularly in relation to financial and audit 

matters.  During 2020-21 the issues considered included:  

  
• The presentation of accounts  

• Annual Governance Statement  

• Audit reports received in relation to South Wales Police and the 

Commissioner  

• Reports and recommendations from Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of 

Constabulary, Fire & Rescue Services (HMICFRS) 

• Force risks, uncertainties and issues logs.  

  

Other Oversight and Scrutiny  

In addition to the scrutiny work via Boards and groups outlined in this report, 

additional oversight and monitoring work took place within the Commissioner’s team 

during the year.  This included attendance at ‘Out of Court Disposal Scrutiny Panels’, 

whereby a selection of criminal cases that had been settled out of court were 

considered for their fairness and appropriateness.    

Also, public complaints made to South Wales Police were randomly assessed by the 

team, to ensure that the force appropriately and fairly considered the cases and used 

appropriate methods to investigate them.  Police officer Body worn video footage 

was randomly reviewed by the team in order that stop search and use of force 

powers could be independently assessed for appropriateness and fairness.  In 

addition, stop search and use of force forms completed by officers were assessed for 

accuracy and fairness. 

 

Finally, as part of the Covid-19 contingency plans for Independent Custody Visiting, 

the team conducted a number of random custody record checks during the year to 

ensure compliance with custody processes and the fair treatment of detainees.  

Conclusions  

The oversight and scrutiny work that has taken place during 2020-21 has led to a 

number of recommendations, which South Wales Police is committed to working 

towards where possible.  Ongoing monitoring and review of progress will continue 

Page 150



 

10 
 

 

 

within the Commissioner’s scrutiny programme for 2021-22.  A forward work 

programme and review of lessons learnt from last year is underway. 

The Commissioner and his team are committed to ensuring that scrutiny of South 

Wales Police is a fair and positive activity, which looks to identify good practice 

where possible, and to proportionately challenge the force where appropriate and 

where improvements on behalf of the public can be made.  

Thanks are extended to the crime victims, members of the public, partner agencies 

and independent advisers who have substantially contributed to the scrutiny and 

oversight work during the year.  

  

  

Page 151



 

11 
 

 

    

To find out more about your Commissioner  

follow us via:   

  

 

/commissionersw  

  

www.southwalescommissioner.org.uk   

  

                             Or contact us via:   

                                          

commissioner@southwales.police.uk  

  

01656 869 366    

  

                                    Cowbridge Police Station,   

                                            West Gate,   

                                            Cowbridge,   

                                            CF71 7AR  

 

 

We welcome correspondence in Welsh and English 

 

 

This document is also available in Welsh 

Page 152

http://www.southwalescommissioner.org.uk/
http://www.southwalescommissioner.org.uk/


 

 
 

 
 
 

REPORT TO  
THE SOUTH WALES POLICE AND CRIME PANEL 

 

14th September 2021 
 

Co-option of two Independent Members on to the South Wales Police 
and Crime Panel 

 

 

Purpose of the Report 
 

The purpose of this paper is to set out the process that has been followed in order 
to co-opt two independent members onto the South Wales Police and Crime 
Panel.  
 

 
1.0 Introduction / Background 

 
1.1 Panel Arrangements state that the Panel shall co-opt two independent co-

opted members onto the Panel and the term of office shall be until the 31st 
October of the same year as the next ordinary Police and Crime 
Commissioner Election. In this case 31st October 2021. 
 

1.2 In this respect the terms of office of the current co-opted independent 
members Mr. Mel Jehu and Mr. Ian Fox comes to an end on 31st October 
2021. The positions were therefore advertised. This did not restrict current 
co-opted members from reapplying or being re-appointed to the position/s. 

 
1.3 The appointment of the compulsory non-political independent members as 

required by Schedule 6 of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 
2011 provides an opportunity to readjust the experience, knowledge and 
skills available across the membership of a police and crime panel. By 
carefully selecting individuals that complement the Councillors nominated to 
the panel, independent co-optees can be used to fill experience, knowledge 
and skills gaps to help make the panel more effective. 

 
1.4 A recruitment exercise was undertaken with the closing date for receipt of 

applications being the 20th August 2021. A copy of the application pack is 
attached. Four applications were received. 

 
1.5 The applications were considered by the shortlisting and interview panel 

comprised of the Chair Councillor Richard Young, Councillor Benjamin Gray 
and Councillor Christine Richards. All 4 applicants were of a high calibre and 
as such all four were invited for an interview. Interviews were held on 
Monday 6th September 2021. 

Page 153

Agenda Item 8



 

1.6 As per the Panel Arrangements, following the interviews the shortlisting and 
interview panel must make recommendations to the Panel with regard to the 
proposed appointment. In making those recommendations the shortlisting 
and interview panel shall consider the balance of the Panel in accordance 
with the Equalities Act 2010 and the skills required to enhance the Panel. 
The Panel must appoint the co-opted members. 

 
1.7 The shortlisting and interview panel recommends to the Panel that Mr Mel 

Jehu be re-appointed as an independent co-opted member until 31st 
October 2025 and Mrs Sarah James be appointed as a co-opted 
independent member until the same date. 

 
2.0 Recommendation(s). 

 
 2.1 Mr Mel Jehu and Mrs Sarah James be appointed as independent co-opted 

members on the South Wales Police and Crime Panel until 31st October 
2025. 

 
 
 

Simon Jones 
Senior Solicitor,  
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

 
 

Page 154



 

 
 
 
 
 

SOUTH WALES POLICE AND CRIME PANEL 
 

APPLICATION PACK FOR AN INDEPENDENT CO-OPTED MEMBER 
 

BACKGROUND TO POST 
 

Police and Crime Panels are part of the police governance arrangements 
brought about by the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011. The 
Act abolished the Police Authorities and put in its place in each police area 
the following: 
 

 An elected Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC). Police and Crime 
Commissioners (PCCs) are elected representatives who oversee how 
crime is tackled in a police force area. Their aim is to cut crime and to 
ensure the police force is effective. 

 

 A Police and Crime Panel (PCP). A PCP is a scrutiny body. It exists 
to scrutinise the Police and Crime Commissioner, to promote openness 
in the transaction of police business and also to support the PCC in the 
effective exercise of their functions. A PCP will scrutinise the actions 
and decisions of the PCC, not the performance of the police force. 

The Police and Crime Commissioner 

The South Wales Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) will be publicly 
accountable for the strategic direction, delivery and performance of the police 
service in the South Wales Police force area. They will: 
 

 Appoint and, if necessary, dismiss the Chief Constable, who will be 
accountable to the PCC  

 Set policing priorities and produce an annual plan;  

 Set the annual police budget and council tax precept;  

 Publish an annual report and accounts;  

 Consult with and involve the public 
 

For more information about Police and Crime Commissioners please go to: 
 
http://www.southwalescommissioner.org.uk  
(South Wales Police & Crime Commissioner’s website) 
 

 

The Police and Crime Panel 

Police and Crime Panels (PCP) support and scrutinise, and maintain a regular 
check and balance on the performance and activities of the Commissioner.  A 
PCP will have the power to request reports and call the PCC to attend its 
meetings. 

Page 155

http://www.southwalescommissioner.org.uk/


 

 
PCP activities will include: 
 

 Scrutinising the PCC’s proposed council tax precept for policing, with 
the power to veto if the Panel considers necessary. Scrutinising the 
PCC’s proposed appointment of a Chief Constable, with the power to 
veto if the Panel considers necessary. 

 Reviewing the police and crime plan and annual report; 
 
The Panel does not have the same role as the previous Police Authority. It 
scrutinises the actions and decisions of the PCC, not the performance of the 
police force. 

The South Wales Police and Crime Panel - who is on the Panel? 

The South Wales Police and Crime Panel is composed of Councillors from all 
local authorities in the South Wales police area, plus 2 independent co-opted 
members.  
 

The Local Authorities are: 
 

Bridgend County Borough Council    (1) Member 
Cardiff Council;       (2) Members 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council    (1) Member 
Neath Port Talbot County Borough Council   (1) Member 
Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council   (2) Members 
City and County of Swansea     (2) Members 
Vale of Glamorgan Council      (1) Member 
 
Police and Crime Panels are geographically and politically proportionate to 
the area as a whole, as far as is practicable.  
 

The South Wales Police and Crime Panel – how long has the Panel 
be in place? 

 

The South Wales Police and Crime Panel (as with other Police and Crime 
Panels) became fully operational in November 2012.  
 
The South Wales Police and Crime Panel is administratively supported and 
serviced by Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council, as the “host local 
authority”. 

Eligibility criteria for independent co-opted panel members 

 

The following cannot be considered for a position on the Panel:  
 

 Anyone under 18 years old. 
 

 The Police and Crime Commissioner or a member of their staff. 
 

 MPs.  
 

Page 156



 

 Members of the National Assembly for Wales or the Scottish 
Parliament.  

 

 Members of the European Parliament. 
 

 Police officers1  
 

 A member of the civilian staff of the South Wales Police force 
 

 Persons who do not live in the police force area.  
 

 Civil servants engaged in political activity.  
 
Please also note:  
 
Independent non-councillor co-optees (either those required and any optional 
independent co-optees added later) must not be local authority councillors.  
 

Person specification for independent co-opted panel members 

 
The assessors will consider applicants against the following criteria when 
shortlisting / interviewing:  

 
Abilities/skills  

As well as being of good character, candidates will need to possess most, if 
not all, of the following competencies:  
 

The ability to think 
strategically 

To have breadth of vision, to rise above 
detail, and to see problems and issues 
from an area-wide, forward-looking 
perspective and to make appropriate 
linkages 

The ability to make good 
judgements: 

To take a balanced, open-minded and 
objective approach, for example, in 
evaluating the priorities of the Police and 
Crime Commissioner, assessing 
candidates for top-level appointments or 
considering complaints against the Police 
and Crime Commissioner. 

The ability to be open to 
change  

To be able to challenge accepted views 
constructively without becoming 
confrontational, and to recognise and 
respond positively to the need for change 

The ability to scrutinise and 
challenge 

To be able to rigorously scrutinise and 
challenge constructively without becoming 

                                                 
1 Police officers are not covered by the restrictions on membership of the panel in Section 22 in Schedule 6. Also 

police officers do not fall within Section 22 (a) as members of staff of the PCC as this category covers people 
appointed under Section 6 of Schedule 1. However, under section 1(2)(a) of Schedule 1 to the Police Regulations 
2003 (S.I. 2003/527) a member of a police force may not “take any active part in politics”. The Home Office would 
regard co-option to a panel, for the purpose of scrutinising an elected PCC, as taking an active part in politics, and 
accordingly as being prohibited for police officers.  
 

Page 157



 

confrontational, using appropriate data, 
evidence and resources 

The ability to be analytical To interpret and question complex written 
material, including financial and statistical  
information and other data such as 
performance measures and identify the 
salient points 

The ability to be supportive To be able to build and maintain a 
supportive and co-operative working 
relationship  the PCC and the other 
members of the panel in delivering their 
duties 

The ability to communicate 
effectively 

To be able to communicate effectively both 
verbally and in writing – and to interact 
positively with other members of the panel, 
the PCC and the public 

  
Personal skills and qualities 

Team working The ability to play an effective role in 
meetings through listening, persuading 
and showing respect for the views of 
others 

Self-confidence The skill to challenge accepted views 
constructively without becoming 
confrontational 

Enthusiasm and drive The ability to be proactive in seeking out 
learning and developmental opportunities 
to enhance knowledge and understanding 
(for example, on financial matters and 
statutory requirements). 

Respect for others The capacity to treat all people fairly and 
with respect, to value diversity and 
respond sensitively to difference 

Integrity The necessity to embrace high standards 
of conduct and ethics and be committed to 
upholding human rights and equality of 
opportunity for all 

Decisiveness The ability to show resilience even in 
challenging circumstances, remaining calm 
and confident and able to make difficult 
decisions 

 

It is also important that candidates are able to commit to good practice 
in equalities and diversity:  
 
Has knowledge and demonstrates understanding of equality and diversity 
issues (across the areas covered in the Equality Act 2010 i.e. gender, race, 
disability, age, sexual orientation, religion/belief, transgender, pregnancy and 
maternity and marriage/civil partnership). 

Page 158



 

 

 Equipped to consider and assess the impact of the Police 
Commissioner's policies, decisions and budgets on equalities groups 
and diverse communities. 

 

 Able to contribute to policy-making and scrutiny activity that takes 
account of equalities issues and is in line with the requirements of the 
Equality Act 2010. 

 

 Equipped to engage with and understand the perspectives and 
experiences of people from diverse communities, particularly those 
disproportionately affected by crime and policing. 

 
It would be desirable for candidates to have an interest in or experience of 

 

 Policing issues and current affairs, in respect of the ways in which they 
affect people locally.   
 

 Challenging and combating institutional discrimination.  
 

 Engaging with and representing local people and / or specialists within 
their field of expertise. 
 

 Working with other people on issues of mutual interest over a period of 
time (for example voluntary work or campaigning). 
  

 Situations requiring collaboration and compromise to achieve positive 
shared outcomes.  

 

Other requirements and considerations  
 

Candidates must be able to attend weekday daytime meetings (Monday to 
Friday any time between 9am to 5pm) at the Host Local Authority (Merthyr 
Tydfil County Borough Council) approximately 4 to 6 times a year, as well as 
attend any appropriate training sessions.  
 
Candidates should have the time, energy and commitment to prepare for and 
attend regular meetings.  
 
Candidates should have a willingness to learn and to proactively inform 
themselves about issues under discussion.  
 
Note: Candidates must be eligible for the role (see eligibility criteria 
separately listed in this job information pack).  
 
Any of the following may provide the skills and experience Panel 
members will need: 
 

 Voluntary or paid work and experience with victim support groups. 
 

Page 159



 

 Involvement in and experience of restorative justice. 
 

 Work with the police and resultant awareness of policing issues from 
both a strategic and delivery perspective. 
 

 Community involvement with for example neighbourhood watch 
parish and town council involvement. 
 

 Work with the criminal justice system. 
 

 Youth work and youth justice work. 
 

 Work as a magistrate. 
 

 Managing a business. 
 

 Community leadership or activism in the area of community safety. 
 

 Experience with the voluntary and community sector generally. 
 

 Fire and rescue services. 
  

 Experience in the education sector. 
 

 Experience of drug and alcohol issues. 
 

 Experience of domestic violence and abuse work. 
 

 Relevant current academic experience in policing and crime and anti 
social behaviour issues. 
 

 Work with the probation service and links to the Probation 
Association, or other relevant knowledge or experience in this area. 
 

 Personal experience of the criminal justice system, ex offenders. 
  

 Experience of challenge and scrutiny from other fields, including 
participation in local authority scrutiny. 

 

Roles and responsibilities of independent co-optees on the panel 

 
Independent co-optees are full voting members of the Panel. They will be 
treated equally with the elected members (Councillors) and have the same 
responsibilities and duties. Co-optees will have access to the same level of 
support and information as elected members on the panel.  
 
The core role of both elected members and independent co-optees on the 
panel is to:  

Page 160



 

 

 Support and to scrutinise the work of the Police and Crime 
Commissioner to ensure that they are discharging their functions 
effectively  

 ensure that there is an effective independent challenge to the Police 
and Crime Commissioner and that this challenge is constructive to 
support the Commissioner in carrying out their role  

 act as a non-party-political voice for those who live and/or work in the 
South Wales Police force area 

 contribute any specialist knowledge, skills, experience and expertise 
they may have to the work of the panel.   

 
A co-opted member of the police and crime panel is expected to:  
 

 attend all formal meetings of the panel (approximately 4 to 6 per year)  

 attend any necessary  training and development sessions 

 establish good relations with other Panel members, officers supporting 
or attending the Panel  

 attend additional meetings for example sub committees, working 
groups or evidence gathering sessions, as required 

 prepare for each meeting by reading the agenda, papers and 
additional information to familiarise yourself with the issues to be 
covered during the meeting.  

 prior to the meeting consider the questions you may wish to put to the 
police and crime commissioner and other expert witnesses  

 listen carefully at the meetings, ask questions in a way which is non-
judgmental, and help the panel to make practical suggestions for 
improvements in services  

 observe confidentiality 

 assist in the preparation of reports and the formulation of 
recommendations; this may involve volunteering to participate in a task 
group to conduct a scrutiny review. 

 abide by the panel arrangements and rules of procedure which set out 
how the police and crime panel will operate in the South Wales Police 
force area. 

 keep abreast of the key issues in relation to the responsibilities of the 
police and crime commissioner and the priorities within the police and 
crime plan.  

 contribute to achieving an open, accountable and transparent decision-
making process in relation to policing and community safety issues in 
the South Wales  Police force area. 

 
 
Note:  
 
All panel members are also be expected to adhere to the ‘seven principles of 
public life’ which are listed below:  
 

Page 161



 

Nolan principles
* 
 

 
Selflessness: Holders of public office should act solely in terms of the public interest. 

 
Integrity: Holders of public office must avoid placing themselves under any obligation to 
people or organisations that might try inappropriately to influence them in their work. 
They should not act or take decisions to gain financial or other material benefits for 
themselves, their family, or their friends. They must declare and resolve any interests and 
relationships. 
 
Objectivity: Holders of public office must act and take decisions impartially, fairly and 
on merit, using the best evidence and without discrimination or bias. 

 
Accountability: Holders of public office are accountable to the public for their 
decisions and actions and must submit themselves to the scrutiny necessary to ensure 
this. 
  
Openness: Holders of public office should act and take decisions in an open and 
transparent manner. Information should not be withheld from the public unless there are 
clear and lawful reasons for so doing. 

 
Honesty: Holders of public office should be truthful 

 
Leadership: Holders of public office should exhibit these principles in their own 
behaviour. They should actively promote and robustly support the principles and be 
willing to challenge poor behaviour wherever it occurs. 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 162



 

 
 
 

 
CONFIDENTIAL 

 
 
 

APPLICATION FORM 
 
 

INDEPENDENT CO-OPTED MEMBER  
 

 
 
 
 
 

Please write in black ink. Do not include a CV or other information. 
 

Please return this completed application form to the:- 
  

South Wales Police and Crime Panel,  
c/o Legal Department,  

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council,  
Civic Centre,  

Merthyr Tydfil,  
CF47 8AN 

 
By 5pm on Friday 20th August 2021 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
GUIDANCE NOTES FOR THE COMPLETION OF THE APPLICATION 
FORM 
 

Page 163



 

The guidance notes below aim to help you complete the application form. The 
Selection Panel is not looking for pages of response, but relevant information 
about you and your interest in this position.  You may use additional sheets if 
necessary. These must be securely attached to your submission. 
 
 

Section 1  
 

All parts of this section are self-explanatory. You are reminded that applicants 
for the independent co-opted member roles must not be: 
 

 An Elected Member of a local authority within the South Wales Police 
force area.   

 

 Anyone under 18 years old. 
 

 The South Wales Police and Crime Commissioner or a member of their 
staff. 

 

 MPs.  
 

 Members of the National Assembly for Wales or the Scottish 
Parliament.  

 

 Members of the European Parliament. 
 

 Police officers  
 

 A member of the civilian staff of the South Wales Police force 
 

 Persons who do not live in the police force area.  
 

 Civil servants engaged in political activity.  
 
 

Section 2 
 

In completing Section 2, please provide details of your current and previous 
employment to provide the Selection Panel with information of your 
background.  Details of any involvement in local community activities should 
also be included, stating the length of time you have been involved with these.  
 

Section 3 
 

This is a very important section as it outlines the key competencies required.  
In completing each of the questions, it is important to include examples to 
demonstrate how you meet the competencies.  These can relate to 
experience gained through work, involvement in the community, voluntary 
work, or with family and friends. 
 

Section 4 
In completing Section 4, you should ensure that the following issues are 
addressed and where possible you should use examples to demonstrate your 
commitment. 
 

 Explain why you want to become a Co-opted Member of the South Wales 
Police and Crime Panel. 

 What differences you could make if appointed as a Co-opted Member. 
 

Page 164



 

Section 5 
 

The information contained within this section will ensure that any reasonable 
adjustments you may require as a result of any disability are made during the 
appointment process or in your role as a co-opted member of the South 
Wales Police and Crime Panel. 
 
Section 6 – 7 
 

These sections are self-explanatory. 
 
 
Equality monitoring questions 
  
Attached is also a form asking equality monitoring questions. The information 
in the form will not form part of the recruitment process and will be separated 
from your application form upon receipt. The information provided will be used 
for monitoring purposes and to help us to develop any policies and practice. 
The information provided will be treated confidentially and be subject to the 
provisions under current equality and data protection legislation. By answering 
the questions you will help us to make sure that our recruitment is fair and 
accessible to everyone.  

Page 165



 

SECTION 1 
 

PERSONAL DETAILS 
 

Title (Mr, Mrs, Dr, etc):  

 

Name in Full:   

 

Please give any other names by 
which you have been known: 

 

 

Permanent / Main Home Address: 

 
 
 
 
 

 

How long have you lived at this address? 

 

If less than five years at the above address, please provide details of your previous 
address(es): 

 

 

Daytime Telephone no.  

  

Evening Telephone no.  

  

Mobile no.  

  

Email address:  

  

Date of Birth:  

  

Place of Birth:  

Page 166



 

SECTION 2 
 

PERSONAL HISTORY 
 

Current Occupation  
(if any) and start date: 

 

 
Please provide details of part-time and full-time employment as well as 
any voluntary work, career breaks or work you do, or have done, in the 
local community. 
 

Name of 
employer/appointing 

body* 

Dates 
position held 

(from/to) 

Positions held and nature of 
responsibility 

   
 
 
 
 
 
 

   
 
 
 
 
 
 

   
 
 
 
 
 
 

   
 
 
 
 
 
 

Continue on a separate sheet if necessary. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 167



 

 

Please provide details of any involvement in voluntary or local 
community activities not mentioned previously. 

 

 

Please provide details of your academic, professional and/or vocational 
qualifications. 

Qualification Date obtained 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

Page 168



 

SECTION 3 

KEY COMPETENCIES 

 
Please provide examples to demonstrate how you meet the following 
competencies, which will be considered by the Panel when reviewing 
your application. (Candidates will need to possess most, if not all, of the 
following competencies). 
 

1. The ability to think strategically To have breadth of vision – to rise above 
detail, and to see problems and issues from a wider, forward-looking 
perspective – and to make appropriate linkages.  

 
 
 
 
 

2. The ability to make good judgements To take a balanced, open-minded 
and objective approach – for example, in evaluating the priorities of the police 
and crime commissioner, assessing candidates for top level appointments or 
considering complaints against the police and crime commissioner.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3. The ability to be open to change To be able to challenge accepted views 
constructively without becoming confrontational, and to recognise and 
respond positively to the need for change.  
  

 
 
 
 

Page 169



 

4. The ability to scrutinise and challenge To be able to rigorously 
scrutinise and challenge constructively, using appropriate data, evidence 
and resources.  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

5. The ability to be analytical To interpret and question complex written 
material – including financial and statistical information and other data such as 
performance measures – and identify the salient points.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

6. The ability to be supportive. To be able to build and maintain a 
supportive and co-operative working relationship  the PCC and the other 
members of the panel in delivering their duties 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 170



 

7. The ability to communicate effectively To be able to communicate 
effectively both verbally and in writing – and to interact positively with other 
members of the Panel, the police and crime commissioner, and the public.  
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
Please provide examples to demonstrate the extent to which you 
possess the following personal skills and qualities, which will be 
considered by the Panel when reviewing your application: 
 

1. Team working The ability to play an effective role in meetings through 
listening, persuading and showing respect for the views of others.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2. Self-confidence The skill to challenge accepted views constructively 
without becoming confrontational.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 171



 

3. Enthusiasm and drive The ability to be proactive in seeking out learning 
and developmental opportunities to enhance knowledge and understanding 
(for example, on financial matters and statutory requirements).  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4. Respect for others The capacity to treat all people fairly and with respect, 
to value diversity and respond sensitively to difference.  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

5. Integrity The necessity to embrace high standards of conduct and ethics 
and be committed to upholding human rights and equality of 
opportunity for all.  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 172



 

6. Decisiveness The ability to show resilience even in challenging 
circumstances, remaining calm and confident and able to make difficult 
decisions.  

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 

 

SECTION 4 

 
WHY DO YOU WANT TO BE A CO-OPTED MEMBER OF THE SOUTH 

WALES POLICE AND CRIME PANEL? 
 

Please state why you are interested in becoming a Co-opted Member of 
South Wales Police and Crime Panel. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 173



 

SECTION 5 

DISABILITY 
 

If you consider yourself to be disabled and/or feel you would benefit from 
reasonable adjustments being made to help you in the interview process or in 
your role, please outline these below.  For example, materials provided in 
large print, hearing loop system at meetings, etc. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

SECTION 6 

REFERENCES 
 
Please provide details of two people, not related to you, who have agreed to 
be contacted by us about your application.  It would be helpful your referees 
were familiar with either your work and/or voluntary/community activities. 
 
REFEREE 1 
 

Name:  Telephone no:  

Address:  Position:  

Time Known:  

Email:  

 
REFEREE 2 
 

Name:  Telephone no:  

Address:  Position:  

Time Known:  

Email:  

Page 174



 

SECTION 7 

Is there anything in your private or working life, or in your past, or to your 
knowledge in that of any member of your family or close friends, which, if it 
became generally known, might bring you or the South Wales Police and 
Crime Panel into disrepute, or call into question your integrity, authority or 
standing as an Independent Person? If yes, please give details.  
 
Please tick either Yes or No below 

 

YES   
 

NO   

If yes, please give details (this may not affect the success of your application).  

 

…………………………………………………………………………………………………………. 

 

…………………………………………………………………………………………………………. 

 

………………………………………………………………………………………………………… 

 

………………………………………………………………………………………………………… 

 

 

 
PLEASE SIGN AND DATE THIS FORM 

 
I declare that the information I have provided is true and complete. 
 

Signed  
 
 

Date  

 
Please note that the successful candidates will be subject to a 
Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) check. (Previously a Criminal Records 

Bureau (CRB) check. 

 

 
 
 

WHAT TO DO NOW 
 

Please return this completed application form to the:- 
  

South Wales Police and Crime Panel,  
c/o Legal Department,  

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council,  
Civic Centre,  
Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil,  

CF47 8AN 

 

Page 175



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This page is deliberately blank 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 176



 

Equality Monitoring Questions 
 

Name…………………………………………………………………………………... 
  

The information in this section will not form part of the recruitment process and will be 
separated from your application form upon receipt. The information provided will be 
used for monitoring purposes and to help us to develop our policies and practice. The 
information provided will be treated confidentially and be subject to the provisions 
under current equality and data protection legislation. By answering the questions 
you will help us to make sure that our recruitment is fair and accessible to everyone.  

 

Gender    What is your gender?  Male           Female 

Age     Which age category are you in? 

 18-19  20-29  30-39  40-49 

 50-64  65-74  75-84  85 + 

Disability.  Do you consider yourself to be a disabled person or to have a long-term, 
limiting condition?         Yes           No 

Ethnicity. What is your ethnic group? Please choose one section from A – E, and 
then tick one box to best describe your ethnic group or background. 

A     White  

 English/Welsh/Scottish/Northern    
Irish/British  

 Irish  

 Gypsy or Irish Traveller  

 Any other White background (please 
write in) 

 

B     Mixed/multiple ethnic groups  

 White and Black Caribbean  

 White and Black African  

 White and Asian  

 Any other Mixed/multiple 
ethnic background (please 
write in) 

C     Asian  

 Pakistani  

 Bangladeshi  

 Indian  

 Chinese  

 Any other Asian background, (please 
write in) 

D  Black / African/ Caribbean / 
Black British  

 African  

 Caribbean  

 Any other 
Black/African/Caribbean 
background (please write in) 

 

E Other ethnic group  

 Arab  

 Any other ethnic group (please write 
in) 

 

 

Page 177



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of previous meeting of South Wales Police and Crime Panel - Tuesday 1 June 2021
	Minutes

	4 Commissioner Forward Look and Update
	Appendix A

	5 Finance Update
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Appendix C

	6 Annual Report
	Appendix A

	7 Scrutiny Annual Report
	Appendix A

	8 Co-option of Independent Members
	Appendix A


